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Finnair Group Key figures

FINNAIR GROUP KEY FIGURES

2008 2007 2006
Turnover EUR mill 2,263 2,181 1,990
Operating profit (adjusred), EBIT EUR mill 7 97 "
Operating profit (adjusted), EBIT " % of wurnover % 03 44 96
Operating profit, EBIT EUR mill -52 142 -11
Result before taxes EUR mull -56 139 -15
Unit revenues on flight operations ¢/RTK 701 72 6 74 0
Unit costs on fight operations c/ATK 43 5 43 5 46 0
Earning per share EUR -0 33 104 -0 14
Equity per share EUR 6 04 770 614
Gross investment EUR rmill 233 326 252
Interest-bearing nert debt EUR mill -90 -222 43
Equity ratio % 381 471 372
Gearing % -116 -22°5 71
Adjusted gearing % 63 2 351 112 8
Return on capital employed (ROCE} % -25 142 01
Average rnumber of employees 9,595 9,480 9,598

Y Excluding capiral gainis, non recurring items and change in fait value of derivatves




Finnair Group Key Figures

FINNAIR GROUP FLEET 31 DECEMBER 2008

Seats Number Owned Leased  Average age
Airbus A319 105-123 1 7 4 72
Asrbus A320 111-159 12 6 6 64
Airbus A321 136-196 6 4 2 79
Arrbus A340 269 5 5 Q 36
Boeing MD-1 282 6 1 5 14 2
Boeing B757 227 7 0 7 96
Embraer 170 76 10 6 4 27
Embraer 190 100 8 4 4 14
Total 65 33 32 64
FINNAIR TRAFFIC PERFORMANCE 2004-2008

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Flight hours 232,389 228,487 211,813 202,070 196,795
Flight kilometres 1,000 155,300 147,064 133,890 125,410 121,027
Avarlable sear klometres el 29501 26,878 23,846 23,038 21,507
Revenue passenger kilometres mull 21,896 20,304 17,923 16,735 15,604
Passenger load factor % 752 755 752 726 712
Avalable tonne kilometres mull 4,485 4,074 3,602 3,400 3,162
Revenue tonne kilomerres mull 2,545 2,365 2,100 1,940 1,791
Overall load facror % 567 580 583 570 56 €
Passengers 1,000 8,270 8,653 8,792 8,517 8,149
Cargo and mail 1,000 kg 102,144 98,684 93,807 90,242 86,245
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Board of Directors’ Report for the Financial
year 1 January—31 December 2008

Market and General Review
In 2008 Ninnair’s proficabihity cleathy fill
from the previous year, despite streng vol-
ume growth The operanonal resulc re-
masned weak The key reasons were record
prices for fuel during the year and a sharp
decline tn average yield per passenger kilo-
metre at the end of the year

Atrempts to mncrease prices during the
spring had a strongly adverse effect on the
passenger load factors of Finnair’s scheduled
flights A reduction of business travel and a
shuft to cheaper price classes rapidly under-
nuned che average wviddd fiom flighe nchets
It was not possible to adjust the cost struc-
ture to a corresponding degree The generally
strong second and third quarters suffered
from these factors Dechning profizabibicy
development conunued in the final quar-
ter and sent the operanional resulc clearly
mnto the red

1n 2008 air rransport followed the gener-
al economic trend, if 1n a shightly more pro-
nounced way The early part of the year was
atime of strong growth, but development of
demand weakened both quanutatively and
structurally towards the end of the year

A study for the full year revealed that
revenue passenger kilometres of Europe-
an aithines (AEA} grew by little more than
one per cent from the previous year Capac-
ity growth was around three per cent The
change from earlv-year growth figures o lace-
vear declhines i3 raffic volumc and capaciry
was very marked

Last year Finnan traffic grew clearly more
strongly than the European average dueto the
company’s investment in Asia. Finnair’s passen-
ger load factor remained, at the previousyear’s
level, however, despite capaairy addinions

In 2008 Finnair carried more than 1 3
mullion passengersin Asian traffic Asian traf-
fic grow th was more than 16 per ceni fiom
the previous year Scheduled passengertraffic
overall grew by more than six per cenr, and
leisuie fhighes by more than 12 per cent In
terms of rraffic volumes Finnair remains a
growth company

Scheduled passenger traffic capraigy has
already been cut from onginal plans by nearly
ten per cent The 2009 passenger kilometre
capacity will be at least three per cent below
the 2008 level Ifthe presenttrend indemand
continues, capaciey cuts will conunue

Inlusure wraffic, 2008 was a peak yearin
the business cycle Due to good demand, Le1-
sure Flights’ capacity was increased by 10 per
cent For winter season 2008/09,a wide-bod-
1ed atrcraft plus crew was leased from Spamn
for direct non-stop flights to Phuket, Thai-
land As Aurinkomatkat-Suntours managed
to sell its own production almost completely
at brochure prices without last-minute re-
ductions, the business area’s result rose 1o
the best 1n 1s history, despite o1l prices nis-
mg to record levels Aurtnkomatkar’s own
package tour producnon, sales and marker-
ing began in Russia

The price of fuel, which remained at a
record high unul the autumn, 1ncreased
Finnatr’s fuel costs by nearly 26 per cent,
despite an effective hedging policy Lower jet
fuel prices, which have fallen fraom their peak,
will reduce fuel costs with delayed effect

Arr cargo traffic on Finnarr’s Asian flighrs
grew along with increased capacity unuil Sep-
tember of last year, at which time che world-
wide dechne in cargo demand that had begun
1n the spriny was also reflected in Finnarr'’s
cargo demand in the final quarter The arr
cargo marker fell by around 20 per cent in

Revenue tonne kilometers

MILL TNKM

3000

Number of passengers

B DOMESTIC
B 'NTERNATIONAL

MILL PASSENGERS
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the latcer part of the year

The 50 mullion euro efficiency pro-
gramme miniated m Finnar Group in May
last year has proceeded according to plan
As part of the programme, statutory em-
ployer-employee negotiations under the Act
on Co-Determinarion within Undertakings
were completed during the second half of
the year The outcome of the negoniations
was that around 120 people were made re-
dundant from Finnair Group and more than
3,000 employees will be laid off during this
year, mainly for 2-3 weeks Weakening prof-
wability and capacity cuts require the mmitia-
uon of a new programme of corresponding
magnitude as soon as possible

Finnair's fleet modermisattonas proceed-
ingaccording to plan Lastyear the company
acqurred two new long-haul rraffic Airbus
A340 arrcraft Thus year, the Finnatr fleer will
recewve five new Airbus A330 wide-bodied ae-
craft, which will replace the Boetng MD-11
arrcraft over the next year or so At the be-
ginmng of next year, Finnair will have one of
the most modern fleets in the world

To finance the fleet investment pro-
gramme, a 248 million euro share 1ssue di-

rected arexisting shareholders was arranged
1n December 2007 In additton, Finnair has
secured credit facilities totalhing 300 mil-
lion euros

Fmancial Result, 1 January—
31 December 2008
The companison figures for 2007 mclude the
finanaial and performance figures of FlyNor-
dic, sobdin Julvy 2007 1nterms of the Arst six
months of the year

Turnover 1n 2008 rose 3 8 per cent to
2,262 6 million euros {2,180 5 million) Com-
parable turnover growth, excluding FlyNor-
dic,was 5 7 per cent The Group’s operation-
al result, 1 e EBIT excluding non-recurring
items, capital gains and changes in the fair
value of dervatives fell by around 90 milhon
eurags to 6 6 million euros (36 6 million) Ad-
Justed operating profic margin was 03 per
cent (4 4) The result before taxes was a loss
of 56 4 mullion euros (138 9 milhon profit)
Changes in the fair value of denvatives had
a 574 million euro weakemng effect on the
result reported for financial year 2008 Net
cash flow from operatnons fell lascvear from
301 8 mullion to 120 2 mulhion euros Earn-

ings per share for the full year were -0 33
euros (1 04}

In 2008, Finnair carried a total of 8 3 mul-
lion passengers tn scheduled passenger and
leisure traffic Passenger wraffic capacicy grew
8 3 per cent and revenue passenger kilometres
by 7 8 per cent, in Asian traffic alone demand
grewby 16 5 per cent The passenger load fac-
tor fur traffic overall declimed from the previ-
ousyearby 0 3 percentage points to 75 2 per
cent Theamount of cargo carned grew from
the previous year by 3 5 per cent

In Group passenger traffic, total unit rev-
enues per passenger kilometre fell by 4 6 per
cent Yield per passenger rose by 7 7 per cent
Unit reventes per tonne kilomertre for cargo
traffic rose by 3 4 per cent Weighted umit
revenues per tonne kilometre for passenger
and cargo traffic fell by 3 5 per cent

Eurc-denominated operating expenses,
excluding non-recurring items, capital gains
and changes in the fair value of dertvatives
rose last year by 9 3 per cent Uit costs per
avatlable tonne kilomertre for flight opera-
tions remained at last year's level Fuel costs
rose last year by 25 7 per cent Unirt costs,
excluding fuel costs, fell by 4 8 per cent In

Turnover

EUR MILL

T 500

EBIT*

* EXCLUDING CAPITAL GAINS CHANGES
IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES ANG
NON RECURRING ITEMS

EUR MILL % OF TURNOVER

EBITDAR*

“ EXCLUDING CAPITAL GAINS CHANGES
iN FAIR VAL UE GF DERIVATES AND
NON RECURRING ITEMS

B 007
W 008

EUR MILL




the comparison, fuel costs also take into ac-
count realised hedging gains and losses out-
stde the scope of hedge accounting, which
have been recogmsed in the income state-
ment item ‘Other expenses’

Fleer marenial and service expenses rose
last year by 25 3 per cent The main reasons
for the growth 1n costs are increased mater-
al, tool, engine and component acquisttions
resuluing for the expansion of Finnan's fleet
Costs have also been increased by theending
of the guarantee pertods of some aircraft and
a general rise in marerial and subcontract-
ing prices as well as by service provisions and
wnite-downs of inventories

A 15 2 per cent nise in package tour pro-
duction expenses was mainly due to the in-
tegration 1nto Aurinkomatkat-Suntours
of the St Petersburg Calypso travel agency
and the Estoruan Hor1zon tour operator, ac-
quired 1n 2007 Volume growth has also in-
creased costs

Personnel expenses as a whole remained
almost at the previous year's level Salary
costs have increased, however, by an aver-
age of around five per cenc per employee On
the other hand, personnel expenses have not
been increased this year to the same degree

by profit and 1ncenuve bonuses, which in
2007 amounted to around 30 million eu-
ros, and last year by more than 11 million
euros based mainly on quality and punctu-
ality indicarors

Investment, Financing and
Risk Management
Investrnents in 2008 were 232 8 mulhion euros
(326 3 million) The investments included
two Arrbus A340 wide-bodied atrcrafr and
owo Embraer 190 aircraft Including advance
payments the cash-flow impact of fleet and
auwxliary investments was around 160 mul-
hon ewos last vear The cash-flow impact of
the new aircraft acquisinion programmeand
auxihiary investments in 2009 will be around
400 million euros and 1n 2010 more chan 300
million euros The final imescment sumwill
depend on how many of the aircraft are ac-
quired on operational leasing agreements
Finnairis negotiating operational leasing
agreements with various parties in respect of
arrcraftsale and leaseback arrangements for
arrcraft to be delivered during 2009
Balance sheet cash and cash equivalents
totalled 392 1 million euros (540 1 million)
at the end of the year The company’s cash

Financial Report

position has been kept serong because of the
investments that lieahead Inaddinon to the
share issue held at the end of 2007, the com-
panv s Ananaial posinon has been reinforced
through credir arrangements

Agreed, but to date unused credit facili-
ties, total around 300 million euros, includ-
ing a 60 million dollar eredit facility obrained
i October from the Nordic Investment Bank
(NIB) Inaddition to this, Finnair hasa 250
million euros credit facility from che Eu-
ropean Invesrment Bank and a more than
400 mullion euro option on the loan-back
of employment pension fund reserves from
llmarinen Murual Pension Insurance Com-
pany, which both require bank guarantees
Flevibihiny 1n financing will also be achieved
through a 100 mullion euro commercial pa-
per programme

Gearing at year end was —11 6 per cent
(-22 5),1e the company was debt-free Gear-
ing adjusted for leasing liabilities was 63 2
per cent (35 1} The equity ratio was 38 1%
(471)

According to the financial nsk manage-
ment policy approved by Finnair’s Board of
Directors, the company has hedged 75 per
cent of scheduled traffic’s jet fudd purchases

Operating profit, EBIT

ma % OF TURNOVER

EUR MILL %

150 —— 75

-100 50
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Financial mcome and expences

== % OF TURNOVER

EUR MILL %
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Result before taxes
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during the next six months and thereafter
for the following 24 months with a decreas-
ing level of hedging Finnair Leisure Flights
price hedges fuel consumpuon according
w 1ts agreed craffic programme wichin the
framework of the hedging policy Deriva-
nves linked to jet fuel and gasoil prices are
mainly used as the fuel price hedging 1n-
struments

Under IFRS rules, a change during a -
nanctal quarter 1n the fair value of deriva-
nives that mature 1n fucure 1s recognsed in
the Finnair income statement item “Other
expenses” The said change in the fair value
of derivatives1s not realised nor does it have
an effect on cash flow, 3t 15 a valuation loss
in accordance with IFRS reporting pracrice
In October-December, the change in the fair
value of derivatives was -43 8 million euros,
whereas 1n January-December 1t was -57 4
mullion euros

The operauional result for January-De-
cember includes realised gains on derivatives
of 62 8 million euros, which appear mainly
in the fuel item of the income statement
and partly in the item “Other expenses” The
figute includes borh foreign exchange and
fuel derivatives

Shareholders’ equity includes, as a vari-
able item, the hedging reserve, whose value
15 drrectly affected by ol price and foreign ex-
change rate changes The impact of the irem
on the closing date was -110 5 million euros,
which includes foreign exchange and fuel de-
rivanives as well as, to lesser degree, other fi-
nancial iterns less deferred taxes In June 2008
the corresponding impact was around 110
mithon euros, which indicates the strong im-
pact of fuel price volanhty on the valuanion of
hedging items in shareholders’ equity

Aweakening of the US dollar againsc the
euro had a positve impact on Finnair’s op-
eranional result for the whole of 2008 com-
pared ro the previous year Taking foreign
exchange hedging into account, the impact
15 37 million euros At the end of December,
the degree of hedging fora dollar basket over
the following 12 moncths was 75 per cent

Board of Directors and

Senior Management

At the Annual General Meeting held on 27
March 2008, the following former members
were elected as members of Finnarr Plc’s
Board of Directors for a term lasting unul
the end of the next Annual General Meeting

Chnistoffer Taxell {Chairman), Sigurdur Hel-
gason, Satu Huber, Markku Hyvarinen, Kan
Jordan, Ursula Ranin and Vel: Sundback In
addition, a new member, Pekka Timonen,
was elected

‘The Annual General Meeting elected as
the company’s regular auditors Jyr Herkkan-
en, Authonsed Public Accountant, and Price-
waterhouseCoopers Oy, Auchorised Public
Accountants, in which APA Eero Suomela will
serve as the auditor with main responsibility
Tuomas Honkamaki APA and Timo Takalo
APA were elected depury auditors

Hennk Arle, Finnair’s EVP Scheduled Pas-
senger Traffic and Deputy CEQ retired on 31
December 2008 In the same context, changes
were made in the Finnair Group organisanion
and management responsibilities

The Finnair Group’s Chief Financial Of-
ficer Lasse 1leinonen was appomnted Execu-
uve Vice President and Finnair's Deputy CEQ
as of 13 January 2009 Heinonen conunues
as the Group’s CFO In addition to Econom-
1cs and Finance units, in the new manage-
ment structure, the business units of Aviation
Services report to EVP Hemonen Northport
Oy (ground handhing), Finnair Catering Oy,
Finnair Technical Services and Finnair Fa-

Capital expendsture (gross)

B FLIGHT EQUIPMENT
IE DUNLDINGS
[, OTHER CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

EUR MiLL

400

Interest bearing liabilities and

liquid funds

M INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
W LIOUI0 FUNDS

EURMILL

Cash ﬂow from: operating
actwvities

EUR MILL

400




cilittes Management Oy (property manage-
ment) Heinonen s also in charge of Finnaur
Cargo Oy and Finnair Cargo Teromnal Op-
eratrons Oy and Finnair Arreraft Finance Oy
(fleer management)

Asof 1 January 2009, Finnair’s President
& CEQ Jukka Hienonen will lead the Sched-
uld Passenger Taaffic orgamsanon togech-
er with the business area’s revised manage-
ment group SVP Flight Operations Division
Veikko Sievanen will serve as the Accountable
Manager referred to in the Airhne Operator’s
Ceruficate (AQOC) Atche same tme, Stevanen
was also appointed member of the Group’s
executive board SVP Technical Services Kim-
mo Sotni will serve as Accountable Manager
for techmcal areas of responsibility Opera-
nional risk management, which was previous-
ly under the authority of Henrik Arle, will be
now be under the President & CEO

SVP Community Relations and Commu-
mcations Christer Haglund was appointed to
the executive board as of 1 March 2008

Finnair’s Corporate Governance (s out-
lined 1in more detail in the Financial Report
section of the annual report

Personnel
During 2008, the average number of staff
employed by the Finnair Group rotalled
9,595, which was 1 2 per cent more than
a year before Scheduled Passenger Trafhe
had 4,254 employees and Lusuie Trafhic 464
employees The total number of personnel
in technical, catering and ground handling
services was 3,650 and 1n travel services 1,078
A total of 149 people were employed in oth-
er funcuions

Atthe end of the year, Finnair Group had
around 770 employees outside of Finland, of
which 270 worked 1n sales and customer serv-
ice duries for Finnarr’s passenger and cargo
traffic There ate a total of 500 cmplovees
working for travel agenctes and tour opera-
tors based 1n the Baluc stares and Russia,
and as guides at Aurinkomatkar-Suntours’
holtday destinartons Foreign personnel are
mncluded in the total number of Group em-
ployees

Full-time staff account for 94 per cent of
employees Around half of parz-ume staffare
employees on parnal child-care leave Some
93 per cent of sraff are employed on a per-
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manent basis Seasonal staff are included
amony those on fixed-term concracts The
average age of employees was 42 years, with
most being between 30 and 50 years of age
More than 20 per cent were over 50 years old
and one 1n ren under 30

Employees® average number of years in
service 15 14 One third of Finnarr’s person-
nel have been in the service of the Group for
more than 20 years Nearly half of these have
been employed for more than 30 years

The Finnair Group's personnel consists
equally of men and women Of the twelve
members of the Finnatr Group’s executive
board, two are women Two of the eight mem-
bers of Finnatr Plc’s Board of Directors are
women

Finnaur has collecuve employment agree-
ments vahid unul spring 2010 wath six labour
umons During spring 2009, negotiations
will be held with the Finnish Aviation Un-
1on and Finnair's Techrnical Services person-
nel on a wage solunion for che final year of
the agreement

The pilots’ collective employment agree-
ment expired at the end of November and

Eqguty ratio

Gearing

04 05 06 a7 08

Adyusted gearing
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negouanons on a new agreement have been
under way since the aurumn The Finnish
Airhine Pilots’ Association (SLL) , which rep-
resents Finnair’s pilots, imtiared industral
actron on 24 January 2009 by announcing an
overnime ban According to the announce-
ment, industrial acoion will continue in the
form of one-day strikes beginning 25 Feb-
ruary The most sigmificant points of cun-
tention between cthe employer and employ-
ees relate to pension benefits business man-
agement decision-making and working ume
arrangements

In June 2008 statucory employer-employ-
ee negonanons were tmuated under the act
on Co-Determinanion within Undercakings
(YT negouanons) The goal of the negoua-
tons was to achieve 25 million euros of sav-
ings 1n personnel expenses, correspending
to around five per cent of tatal personnel
costs Finnair Cargo Oy and Finnair Cargo
Terminal Operations Oy jomed the process
in November The YT process was concluded
in January this year, covering all personnel
groups besides the pilots, in respect of whom
YT negotiations are still incomplete

When the YT negorniations began, the
need for personnel reducnions was estimat-
ed at 500 jobs Around 120 of these will be
implemented as redundancres The other sav-
ings will mainly come from 2-3 week lay-
offs affecting more than 3,000 people In
addicion, the number of personnel will fali
through the cnding of around 400 fixed-term
employment contracts at the turn of the year
or during the spring

Including social secunity expenses, around
11 2 million euros in incentve bonuses based
on mainly quality indicators are expected to
be paid to personnel for 2008 One factorin-
fluencing themncenuve was a significanc im-
provement in punctuality The critena based
on the Group resule for the personnel profit
bonus and the share bonus scheme for key
mdividuals were noz fulfilled for 2008, and
no incentive payments will be paid

Fleet changes

Finnair Group's fleet 1s managed by Finnasr
Arrcraft Finance Oy, which belongs to the
Scheduled Passenger Traffic business area

At the end of December, the Finnair Group

had a rotal of 65 aircraft in flight operanions
The average age of the Finnair’s entire fleet
15 6 4 vears and in Luropean raffic around
five years

The European and domustic fleet grew
last year by two 100-seat Embraer 190 air-
crafr The fleet has a totat of 18 Embraer air-
craft and 29 Airbus A320 arrcraft Two Airbus
A340 aircraft joined Finnair’s wide-bodied
fleet last year One Boeing MD-11 aircrafi was
withdrawn from che fleet in October Finnair
has a total of 11 long-haul aircraft

Therenewal of the wide-bodied fleet will
continue with the acquisition of five new Aiwr-
bus A330-300long-haul aircraftin 2009 and
a furtherthree as mimimum in 2010 The Air-
bus aireraft will replace the s Boeing MD-11
aircraft to be withdrawn from Finnasr s fleet
by end of March 2010 The one remaining
Finnair owned MD-11 will be sold chrough
a purchase agreement with Aeroflol Cargu
The other five MID-11 aircraft are leased and
their agreements expire within a year

The flcet modernisation will harmonise
Finnair's scheduled traffic fleet A reduction
of aircraft cypes will mean a more efficienc

Return on capital employed

Return on equity

Cash flow/share

EUR
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cost snuctute due co more simplified crew
utlisation and mainzenance activities

In the first quar ter of 2009, two new 100-
seat Embraer 190 atreraft will join Finnaur’s
fleet On the other hand, three smaller, Em-
braer 170, aircraft will be wichdrawn from
service 1n 2009 due to weakened demand,
two 1n January and one towards the end of
the first half of the year

The lease agreements of the Boeing 757
awrcraft used by Finnair Lessure Flights ex-
ptrein 2010 The agreements can be contin-
ued two rimes with the current terms for two
yearsara ime Before the extension decision
the company evaluares, what 1s the most ef-
fciunt way ro operate leisute taffic

Environment
Finnair takes the environment mnco consid-
eranion 1n all of s actions and decisions
Finnair’s environmental and social responsi-
bihity 1ssues are outhned in more detail in che
annual report and on the Finnair website
Last year the EU approved amodel for che
implementation of emissions trading in atr
transport startng i 2012 The emissions
trading calculation prinaiples take into ac-
count the performance undertaken for the

fuel consumed Finnairwill strive as part of
the community of European airlines to ar-
gue successfully that the system should be
worldwide and nort distorr compenition tn
the industry

Finnair has been systematically medern-
isingits fleet since 1999 The European and
domesoc traffic’s Airbus A320 and Embraer
arrcraft represent the latest technology The
modern fleet 1s eco-efficient both in terms of
carbon dioxide and noise enussions

Kan Thamaki M Sc (Econ ) was appoint-
ed as Finnair’s VP Susrainable Development
as of 1 February 2008 Ihamaki’s task 1s ro
promote che reahsation of Finnair’s emviron-
mental goals in the Group’s business opera-
uons, such thar Finnair 1s among the lead-
ing antlines tn environmental activities The
VP Sustainable Development’s tasks also in-
clude coordinanng sustainable development
strategy and emussions trading projects as
well asintegrating environmental 1ssues into
Finnair’s compeutive strategy Effective in-
terest groups relations and communicauons
are vital for the handling of social and envi-
ronmental responsibility

Financiai Repertc

Performance of business areas

The primary segment reporting of the Finnair
Group's financial statements 1s bascd on bust-
ness areas The reporting business areas are
Scheduled Passenger Traffic, Leisure Traffic
Awviation Services and Travel Services

Scheduled Passenger Traffic

This business area 15 responsible for sched-
uled passenger traffic and cargo sales, ser-
ice conceprs flight operauons and acuwity
connected wich che procurement and financ-
g of aitcraft Scheduled Passenger Traffic
leases co Leisure Traffic the crews and air-
craft it requuires The business area conststs of
the following units and companies Finnair
Scheduled Passenger Traffic Finnair Cargo
Oy, Finnair Cargo Termunal Operarions Oy
and Finnar Awrcrafi Finance Oy

In 2008 the business area’s turnover
rose by 3 0 per cent to 1,735 7 mullion eu-
ros (1,685 3 million) The operating result
was a loss of 30 1 million euros (76 2 nul-
lion profit)

Scheduled craffic passenger volume in
2008 was around seven: rmllion Scheduled
t1affic’s revenue passenger hilometies grew
by 6 § per cent, while capacity grew by 79

Unit revenues and costs
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per cent, leading to a weakerng of passen-
ger load factor by one percentage point to
72 per cent

In 2008, urut revenues for scheduled pas-
senger traffic fell by 5 1 per cent In the -
nal quarter, unit revenues fell by 11 7 per
cent A shifting of demand to cheaper price
classes contributed 1o the decline 1n unit
revenues

Cargo revenues account for a good ten
per cent of all Scheduled Passenger Trafhc s
revenues Unit revenues for cargo tn sched-
uled craffic rose by 2 4 percentin 2008 The
total amount of cargo carried 1n scheduled
traffic grew by seven per cent The amount
of cargo carried 1n Asian traffic rose by 14
per cent from the previous year

The profitability of Finnair’s cargo op-
erations was good tn 2008 The key reason
for the improved performance was the price
level, which remained good, as well as an im-
provement 1n operational effictency In the
final quarter however, cargo demand weak-
ened rapidly and the situanon s also expect-
ed to continue in the current year due to the
global economuc situation

Ininternational scheduled passenger traf-
fic Finnair has increased its market share
compared with its main competntors Indo-
mesuc traffic Finnair's market share has
fallen, mainly due to the discontunuacon
of short routes This has, however, improved
the passenger load factor and profitabilicy

During 2008, the arnival punctuality of
scheduled passenger fhights improved shght-
ly the previous year to 80 8 per cent {80 4%)
Finnair’s flight punctualicy was weak in 2
sector comparison at the beginmung of lase
year Through many measures, punctuality
has again been raised to an excellent level to
match the best European airlines

The operations of the Estontan subsid-
tary Aero were discontinued at the begin-
ming of 2008 and all seven ATR 72 turbo-
prop aircraft were sold Ar the same tme,
this marked the end of Finnair’s propeller
traffic, which had contnued uninrerrupred
since 1924

Leisure Traffic

This business area consists of Finnair Leisure
Flights plus the Aurinkomatkat-Suntours
package tour company and its subsidiaries,
the Estonian tour operator Horizon Travel

and the St Petersburg Calypso travel agency,
as well as the Finnish takeOFF brand, which
focuses on youth travel Aurinkomatkac-Sun-
toursis Finland’s leading tour operaror, with
a marker share of 37 per cent Finnair Lei-
sure Flights enjoys strong market leadership
in leisure travel Mights and all of Finland’s
largest tour operators are its customers For
thewr package tour production, tour opera-
tors buy the fhight series thev neud o hoh-
day destunations for the summer and win-
ter seasons

Leisure travel enjoyed a peak year in 2008
From Finland 989,000 package tours were
made using flights abroad, which was 3 3 per
cent more than the previous year Morethan
23 per cent of these journeys were made to
the Canary Islands Thailand’s share more-
over, has risen to ten per cent Due to the
finanaal erisis demand for package rours
clearly weakened mn the Estonian and Rus-
stan markets in the aurumn

Due (o good demand, Leisure Traffics
wurnover 1n 2008 rose by 11 0 per cent to
454 6 mullion euros The operational resulr,
1e adjusred EBIT, improved by 10 3 per cent
to an all-ume best of 26 7 million euros (24 2
million), which corresponds to 5 9 per cent
of turnover The result was burdened by the
start-up costs of Aurinkomatkat’s package
wour preduccon in Russia as well as the price
of jet fuel, which rose to a record high

In 2008 Finnair Leisure Flights carried
over 1 3 million passengers, around ten per
cent more than 1n the previous year In ad-
dition to 1ts own Boeing 757 fleet Leisure
Fhights leased from Air Europe a 299-seat Aur-
bus A330 wide-bodied aircrafc with crew for
flights to Phuketin Thasland for che winter
season 2008/09 In the winter season, there
were 14 rerurn fhghts per week o Asia, of
which six were with leased capaaity Available
passenger kilometres grew by 9 7 per cent As
the propotrion of winrer season long-haul
tralfic grew, performance calculated 1n rev-
enue passenger kilometres rose by 12 4 per
cent from the previous year Leisure Flights’
passenger load factor therefore improved by
2 1 percentage points to 88 1 per cent

Interner advance sales to consumers of
addituonal services, seat place of a passen-
ger’s choice and meals, as well as in-flight
sales grew according to sec targets

Finnan hasagreed fixed priceswith rour

1

operators for charger fhyghts and provided for
the fuel nsk with price hedging in accordance
with the Group’s financral policy

Aurninkomartkar-Suntours has a record
year in 2008 Good demand and poor sum-
mer weather in Finland was evidencin turn-
over growth, as there was no need to resort
to last-minute price reductions to mam-
tain sales Sales of winter 2008/09 holidays
also went well Aurinkomatkat’s passenger
number grew by 3 7 per cent from the pre-
vious year to 345,000 The utihisation rate
and the result rose to record levels Estoma-
based Horizon increased its passenger num-
bers by over 17 per cent as other tour opera-
tors cut back ctheir offerings, but its resule
was loss-making due to the bankruptcy of
the airline Furura.

At the beginning of the year, Au-
rninkomatkar-Suntours purchased the St
Petersburg travel agency Calypso The com-
pany has been used as a platform and dis-
tribunien channel for the start-up of Au-
rinkomatkat’s own package production
1 Russia In the first summer-winter pro-
ducton season, Aurinkomarkat produced
more than 10,000 package tours involving
fhights abroad, with the utlisation rate at
the end of the year rising to 84 per cent
Aurmkomatkat’s partneris Rossiya Airlines
Aurtnkomatkar’s customer sausfacuion in
Russiais on a good level

Awation Services
This bustness area comprises atrcraft mamn-
tenance services, ground handling and the
Group's catering operatsons In addition, the
Group's property holdings, the precurement
of offce scrvices, and the managemencand
maintenance of properties related to the
Group's operational activines also belong
to the Avianion Services business area. Avi-
anon Senvices’ business consists mainly of
intra-Group service proviston Of the busi-
ness area’s turnover 24 per cent consists of
business outside of the Group

In 2008 Aviation Services’ turnover rose
2 7 per cent to 445 8 mullion euros The op-
erauonal result grew 34 per cent from the
previous year s level and was a profitof 13 8
rmullion euros (10 3 mullion)

The Catering business ts the most prof-
itable of the Avianion Services Operations
are divided into meal production and related
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logistics as well travel rerail funcnions, which
mcludeinfhghtsales plus pie-order services
and airport shops in Helsinki, Tampere and
Turku Both business areas increased their
turnover and improved their resule In Cater-
g operations, producnon efficiency was en-
hanced, while Finnair Catering received new
premuses at the beginning of lasc year

Finnair Technical Services’ operanional
result was a lossin 2008 A nearly three mil-
hon euro item n credit losses resulting from
the bankruprcy of the Gemim Atr Cargo cus-
tomer relationship as well as some inventory
write-downs was recognised 1n the result

It1s important for Finnair Techrucal Serv-
ices’ long-term funcnional capacity and prof-
itability thar the unir also has customers
from outside the Group At the beginming
of 2008, Finnar Technical Services signed a
maintenance agreement with Aeroflotunni
2016 The value of the agreement 1s esimared
to be around 200 million euros

The ground handling company North-
port Oy 1s still loss-making The quality of
ground handhng operations has significancly
improved, however, from the previous year

Travel Services
The business area consists of the Group's
travel agencies Martkatoumisto Area, Fin-
land Travel Bureau and 1ts subsidiary Es-
travel, which operates 1n the Baltic states,
as well as Amadeus Finland Oy, which inte-
grates rravel agency systems and sells travel
reservarion systems

Finland Travel Bureau (FTB) and Area
are Finland's leading travel agencies, and Es-
travel, which celebrated che 20th anniversary
of 1ts founding in August, 1s one of the lead-
ing travel agencies in the Baltic states The
companies were highly rated 1n a customer
sausfaction survey of business travellers in
the Nordic countries

Whth FTB having discontinued 1ts own
Etumatkar airy break production, which had
come to the end of tes life cycle, the business
area’s turnover declined in 2008 by 5 3 per
cent to 77 9 mullion euros {82 3 omllion} In
the autumn, the economic downturn was evi-
denrtasasigmificant contraction of business
travel, which was reflected in the travel agen-
cies’ sales and results The operating result
fell to 2 1 mulhion euros (2 9 million)

The travel agencies’ distribution s mov-

ing to the internet Onhine travel agencies
have won market share, but Area 1s Finland’s
biggest tradinonal travel agency on the inter-
net Nearly a quarter of the company’s sales
comesvia the tnternet Auromarion sbeing
used to improve the effictency of providing
corporate travel services

Estravel, whichis parr of the FTB Group,
1s still doing well in the Baltic states Forthe
first nme in these markets, travel was av a
lower level last year and margins narrowed
In Estoma the company’s marker share 1s
40 per cent

Travel Services’ Amadeus Finland, a pro-
vider of travel reservarion and informanion
systems to travel agencies, brought to the
market many new services relatung to com-
pantes’ and travel agencies’ travel manage-
ment A hotel booking service was added to
the Amadeus reservation system Growthin
the volume of Finns’ ar travel increased the
company’s turnover

Awr Traffic Services and Products
In recent years, the Finnatr route network
has been developed to serve traffic between
Europe and Asia passing through Helsink:
At the same ume, Finns have been offered
efficientand diverse connections to destina-
tons all over cthe world

Franatr has a roral of 60 diect fighes per
week to 10 Asian destnations In June Finnair
began dircet fhights 1o Seoul, the capital off
South Koiea The Seoul route s flown four
tmes per week during the wanter Finnair’s
other Asian destinatons are Bangkok, Delhs,
Mumbar, Hong Kong, Nagoya, Osaka, Bei-
jing, Shanghai and Tokyo The Guangzhou
route was discontinued at the end of Octo-
ber The Guangzhou area 1s now served by a
daily connectton with Hong Kong

Flights covering 45 European and 13 do-
mestic destinations connect mnto Finnair’s
Asia network At the same nme, a wide se-
lection of direct connections s offered from
Finland to the rest of Europe

In the early autumn, Finnair began sched-
uled flights fiom Helsinki to Yekatet inburg,
located in the Urals The route1s flown three
umes per week with Airbus A319 arrcrafrand
represents Finnart’s third scheduled desuna-
non in Russia afrer Moscow and St Perers-
burg Finnair flies the route 1n cooperation
with Ural Airlines The three-hour flight nime

Financial Report

and onward connections with shorr rransit
umes at both ends of the route make the
service very competitive tn Russia, the Nordic
countries and elsewhere in Europe

Leisure Fhghts’ fleet consists of seven Boe-
mg 757 areraft Due to increased demand,
Leisure Flights has leased for the current
winter season one Airbus A330 wide-bod-
ted atrcrafT, which flies non-scop to Phuker
mn Thailand In the summer season, Leisure
Fhghts flies 1in addioon to charter flight crafs
fic, cerrain so-called holidav routes includ-
ing Boston and Toronto

In October Finnair and oneworld allance
partner Brinsh Airways began code-sharing
flights berween Bangkok, Thadand and Svd-
ney, Australia. In December, the frequency
of fighcs to Brussels was increased From
January, Finnair fhes 25 nmes per week to
the Belgian capital A new service that de-
parts Helsinki in the evening and rerurns
from Brussels in the mormng s parncularly
convertient for business travellers between
the cinies

Finnan wilk begin direct fhighes o Is-
tanbul, Turkey 1n March 2009 Fhghrs will
scarton a two fhights pet week schedule and
the flighe frequency will double at the end
of March The Istanbul route will provide
good connections via Helsink: from Turkey
to Scandinavia, the Baluc states and Finnair’s
Asian network - and back again

Based on an audit carrted outin Decem-
ber, Skytrax rated Finnair a four-star airline
on a scale of one (o five Finnair had previ-
ously been rated a three-starairline Skytrax
1s an inrernational research company which
evaluares the world’s commeraial atrlines and
thesr services 1n great detal

At the beginning of June 2008, the elec-
tromc ticker (e-ticker) was adopred world-
wide for all flights Finnair has been among
the leading compantes 1n introducing the
e-ticket Using e-rickets 1s more economical
than using paper tickets

Finnair's growing internacional demand
has created an increasing need to serve cus-
tomers 1n local languages 1n different mar-
ketplaces At the end of December, Finnair
opened websites also in the Spanish, ltal-
1an, French, Russian and Chinese languages
Finnair range of languages covers around
3 3 bilhon people Finnair now offers an in-
ternet booking service 1n a rotal of 11 lan-
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guages In addinion to the new languages,
websites are offered 1n Finrush, Swedish, Eng-
Lish, Japanese, Korean and German Around
one fifth of Finnasr tickets are currently sold
via the internet and this proportion 1s ex-
pected to grow

Short-term visks and
uncertanty factors
The ughteming of the financtal markecs has
raised the cost of planned financing hugh-
er than was anuicipated The availabilicy of
funding has deteriorared, but a lack of suf-
ficient funding1s not constdered to be ansk
during 2009

The risk1n the acquisition of new aircraft
1s thar demand wall fall mote quickly than
capacity can be meaningfully reduced The
lease agreements of Finnair Leisure Flights’
seven Boeing 757 awrcraft wll expire 1n 2010,
at which umic the flect can be oprumsed ae-
cording to demand forecasts

Fuel costs constitute approximately one
fifth of the Group s rotal costs and despate
the recent fall in o1l prices, are one of the
most sipnificant uncertainty factors where
costs are concerned Foreign exchange rate
changes also represent a risk Finnair pro-
vides against fuel price and foreign exchange
rare volatlity by entering into option and
furure contracts The rising cost of hedging
arrangements also poses a nisk

Finnair’s more than 70 per cent hedging
level over the next six months will slow the
transfer of the benefir of the fall n o prices
in the company’s fuel costs Finnair’s relative
competitive position in terms of costs1s also
influcnced by compenitors fuel price hedging
policies The company’s main competitors
adhere to the same principles as Finnair in
thewr hedging policres

A deepeming of the worldwide recession
mught reduce demand sharply as well as av-
erage yields in passenger and cargo raffic
Due to the short bocking horizon, 1t1s dif-
ficult to predict demand fas into the future
A change of one percentage point in the load
factor of scheduled passenger traffic serv-
1ces affects the Group's operanng profic by
around 15 mullion euros A change of one per-
centage pone in the average yield of sched-
uled passenger traffic services also affects
the Group's operating profit by around 13
mullion euros

The development of gross domestic prod-
uct will affect the development of air trans-
port passenger and cargo demand A weak-
eming of domestic consumer confidence
might also have an adverse impacr on de-
mand for non-business travel in both leisure
and scheduled wraffic services

When exarmming quarterly earnings de-
velopment, 1t 1s worch noning thar Easter,
when fewer higher-priced business crips are
made, falls this year in the second quarter,
when lastyearicwas in che first quarter The
Chinese New Year, moreover, might have a
weakeming impact on Finnair’s demand 1n
the Chinese-language passenger market

Negonations on the pilots’ collective em-
ployment agreement, which ended on 30
November 2008, are under way and present
a nisk of industnal acton The halong of
Finnair’s rraffic would result in esrimared
losses of around three mullion euros per day
In addition, the uncertainty caused by traf-
fic disrupuions would also be reflected neg-
atively in demand on the days surrounding
the strike

Outlook
Year 200915 expected to be a difficult one for
financial development of the anline indus-
try Development will shape industry struc-
tures via bankruprcies and mergers Finnair
will closely follow the restructuring of the
industry

Finnair’s holds on to 1ts Asia strategy The
long-term goal of scheduled traffic)s to grow
1n services between Europe and Asia, uulhis-
ing Helsinki as a geographically and logis-
ucally ideal transic location Route nerwork
expansion will take place through additions
to Finnair’s own capacity and through in-
creased cooperation

Finnair has secured credit facilines toral.
ling around 300 mllion euros as well as a
250 million credst facility requiring a bank
guarantee from the European Investment
Bank, plus a more than 400 mullion euro
option on the loan-back of employment
pension fund reserves The financial crisis
will be reflected 1in the Ainancing of Finnaie’s
fleet modernisanon primarily via the cost of
borrowed capital and the price level of lease
agreements

Finnair’s fuel costs are expected to be low-
er during the current year than last year The
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hedging policy pracnsed by Finnair dampens
fud price fluctuanons At the present price
level, fuel costs are expected to be over 22 per
¢cent of Finnair’s turnover in 2009

The world economy recession 1s expect-
ed to weaken Finnair’s demand and aver-
age yrelds m passenger and cargo craffic in
all markerplaces Gross domestic productin
Europe has begun to fall In the Asian na-
uonal econormies, growth figures have fallen
sigmificandly short of earher forecasts

In Leisure Traffic, strong demand for win-
ter long-haul trips wall be evidentin the firse
quarter Due to decreasing consumer con-
fidence, demand for leisure trips this com-
ing summer s expected to be clearly weaker
than the previous year Over capacity in the
market forces down price level

Finnair 1s preparing for capacity cuts
throughout 1ts route network as well as for
an adjustment of costs during the current
year In 2009 the capacity of Asian trafficand
scheduled traffic as a whole will fall, on the
basis of decisions made to date, by around
three per cent

In May last year was iniaated a 50 muthen
euro productivity improvement programme,
in which the poruon artribured to savings
personnel costs was around one half This
programme was implemented in full in 2009
The Group, however, 1s imnating a new pro-
gramme of sirmlar magnirude and areas of
cost-cutting and efficiency improvement are
being acuvely explored

The first quarter 1s expected to reman
clearly loss-making The operational resule
for the full year will substanuially depend
on the demand situarion and cost develop-
ment The outlook for the full year 1s ex-
tremely challenging

Shares and sharebolders

Shares and Share Capital

On 31 December 2008 the company’s regis-
tered share capital was 75,442,904 30 euros
and number of shares 1ssued was 128,136,115
Each share has one vote at the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting

Share Quotations
Finnair Plc shares are quoted on the NAS-
DAQ OMX Helsink: Stock Exchange
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Dwidend Policy and the Payment of
Dwidend

The aim of Finnair’s dimidend policy 1s to pay
on average at least one-third of the earnings
per share as dividend during an economc cy-
cle, taking 1nto account the company’s earn-
ings trend and outlook, financing posinon
and capiral needs for any given pertod

Incentive Schemes for Key Personnel

On 22 March 2007, Finnair Plc’s Board of
Directors approved a share bonus scheme
2007-2009 directed at key individuals of cthe
Group Details of the scheme ate presented
in Note 26 of this annual report The scheme
does nort affect the rotal number of shares
The amount of share bonuses 1s determuned
on the basis of the Finnair Group’s financial
development

Board of Directors’ Authorsations
At the beginning of the finanaial year, Finnair
held 151,203 of 1ts own shares, which 1t had
purchased in previous years Between 1 Jan-
uary and 17 March 2008, Finnair acquired
598,097 of its own shares, on the basisof an
authonsanon of the Annual General Meet-
ing held on 22 March 2007

On 27 March 2008 the Annual General
Meenng granted the Board of Directors new
aurhorisations for a period of up to one year
to purchase the company’s own sharesup to
amaximum of 5,000,000 shares and dispose
of the company’s own shares up to a maxi-
mum of 5,500,000 shares The authorisanon
applics to shares amountng to less than five
per cent of the company’s share capital Un-
der the authonsation, in 2008 Finnairtrans-
ferred a total 0f 364,912 of its own shares to
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Dundend per year

*2008 PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF

DIRECTORS 70 THE AGM

[ % Or EARNINGS

EUR MILL

50
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Share-Related Key Figures 2008 2007 2006
Earnings/share EUR -0 33 104 -014
Equity/share EUR 6 04 770 614
Dmdend/share EUR 00 025 010
Dividend-to-earnings ratio % 00 315 -64 4
P/E ratio -14 82 779 -88 05
P/CEPS 50 25 125
Effective dvidend yield % 00 31 08
Number of shares and share prices 2008 2007 2006
Average number of shares adjusted for share 1ssue pes 127,969,796 98,032,358 96,690,131
Average number of shares adjusted for share 1ssue

(with diluted effecrt) pcs 127,969,796 98,032,358 96,650,131
The number of shares adjusted for share 1ssue

at the end of financal year pcs 127,969,796 98,032,358 97,782,880
The number of shares adjusted for share issue

at the end of financial year (with diluted effect) pcs 127,969,796 98,032,358 97,782,880
Number of shares, end of the financial year pcs 128,136,115 128,136,115 88,756,358
Trading price highest EUR 8 49 14 35 1500
Trading price lowest EUR 35 7 51 1001
Market value of share capital Dec 31 EUR mill 627 1,037 1,102
No of shares traded pcs 64,783,468 37,672,530 29,965,410
No of shares traded as % of average no of shares % 5055 29 40 33 76
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Finnair Plc largest shareholders as at 31 December, 2008

Number

of shares % Changes, pcs
1 State of Finland, Office of Counsil of State 71,515,426 558 0
2 Skagen Global Verdipapirfonds (1-11-111-Vekst) 6,263,143 54 6,963,143
3 limannen Mutual Pension Insurance Co 3,725,564 29 824,000
4 Suomi Muwal Life Insurance Company 3,597,224 28 1,000,000
5 Qdin Forvaltning AS 2,790,418 22 0
6 Mandatum Life Insurance Company 2,400,000 19 0
7 Tapiola Insurance Company Group 2,276,444 18 0
8 State Pension Fund 2,100,000 16 1,100,000
] Local Government Pensions {nstitution 1,606,575 13 1,209,499
10 OP Funds 1,383,734 11 -2,286,073
11 Nordea Funds 1,131,619 09 -33,645
12 Akua Funds 665,400 05 147,197
13 Etera Mutual Pension Insurance Company 601,747 0Ss 89,628
14 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 600,000 05 0
15 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 568,538 04 370,000
16 City of Turku 387,434 03 387,434
17 Finnair Plc {own shares) 387,429 03 235,526
18 Gyllenberg Funds 357,404 03 28,994
19 City of Turku, Claim Fund 295,907 02 13,326
20 Finnawr Plc Staff Fund 230,982 02 151,344
21 Norvesna Plc 227,387 02 60,776
22 Pohjola Insurance Company 216,668 02 0
23 Alandia Insurance Company 189,299 01 66,799
24 Finnair Pension Fund 136,842 01 0
25 Koumaa Saving Bank Fund 121,700 01 121,700
26 Arvo Finland Value Fund 120,000 01 120,000
27 Ingman Finance Oy Ab 120,000 01 120,000
28 Aro Olawvi Sakar 110,000 01 110,000
2% Neste O1l Pension Fund 105,826 01 0
30 Fennia Mutual Pension insurance Company 100,000 01 -7035,495
3 Kamprad Ingvar 100,000 01 100,000
32 ESR EQ Fund 100,000 01 -25,000
Nominee registered 14,999,663 M7 -9,852,222 1

Others 7,903,742 62

Total number of shares 128,136,115 1000

»On 31 March 2008 FL Group sold 16,252 921 shares of Finnair Plc and FL Group direct and indirect holding decreased to 0
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Shareholders by type at 31 December 2008

Number Shares, Number of Shareholders,
of shares % shareholders %
Public bodies 83,870,525 66 25 0
Registered in the name of norminee 14,995,663 12 9 0
Financial nsutunons 10,467,526 8 3e 0
Qutside Finland 9,943,092 8 49 1
Households 6,422,209 5 9,236 94
Private companies 1,846,499 1 360 4
Assoctations 566,376 0 58 1
Not converted into the book entry system 20,225 0 0 0
Total 128,136,115 100 9,776 100
Breakdown of shares at 31 December 2008
Number of Shares, Number Shares,
Number of shares shareholders % of shares %
1-200 5,230 53 461,067 0
201-1,000 3,068 N 1,517,391 1
1,001-10,000 1,312 13 3,495,696 3
10,007-100,000 125 1 2,709,363 2
100,001-1,000,000 2 0 5,442,563 4
1,000,001- 1 ¢] 99,490,147 78
Registered in the name of nominee 9 0 14,999,663 12
Not converted into the book entry system - - 20,225 0
Total 9,776 100 128,136,115 100
Acquisinon and delivery of own shares
Number Acquisition Average
Period of shares value, EUR price, EUR
2004 422,800 2,275,666 49 538
2005 -37,800 -209,838 54 555
2005 150,000 1,516,680 00 101
2006 -383,097 -2,056,847 88 537
2007 0 000 0
1}an 2008 151,903 1,525,660 07 10.04
1 Jan-31 Mar 2008 598,097 4,735,765 56 792
9 May 2008 -327,693 2,902,766 31 8 86
5 Nov 2008 -37,219 -294,042 90 790
4 Dec 2008 2,347 0 00 000
31 Dec 2008 387,429 3,064,616.42 7.91
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indsviduals within the sphere of the 2007-
2009 share bonus scheme as share bonuses
payable on the basis of the 2007 result In
2008, a roral of 2,341 shares were returned
to the company by those belonging to the
share scheme At the end of 2008, Finnar
held 387,429 of 1ts own shares, namely 0 30
per cent of the total number of shares out-
standing on the last day of the year

The Board of Directors has no other au-
thorisations, such as authorisanons for share
1ssues or for the issuing of convertible bonds
or share options

Government Ownership

Attheend of the inanoal year on 31 Decem-
ber 2008, the Finnish Government owned
55 8% of the company’s shares and votes
On 20 June 1994, the Finnish Parliament,
whale giving 1ts consent to reduce the Gov-
ernment’s holding to less than two-thirds,
decided that the Government must own
more than half of Finnarr Pic’s shares

Share Ownership by Management

On 31 December 2008, members of the com-
pany’s Board of Directors and the President
& CLO owned 78,480 shares, representing
0 06 % of all shares and vores

Share Prices and Trading
On the last day of the finanaial year, the
Finnair Plc share was quoted ar 4 89 euros
on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Ex-
change The market value of the company’s
shares was 626 6 million euros (1,036 6) The
highest trading price during the financial
year was 8 49 euros (14 35) and the lowest
3 50 euros (7 51) the average price 6 10 eu-
ros (10 01)

A total of 64 8 (37 7) million shares, with
a total value of 395 2 (377 2) mullion euros
were traded on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki
Stock Exchange during 2008

Board of Directors Proposal

on the Dividend

The distributable equity of Finnair Plc
amounts to 458 7 million euros The Board
of Directors proposes to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeung thar no dividend be distribue-
ed for 2008

Finnair PLC
Board of Directors
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Finnair share trade development
and trade 2004-2008
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Finnarwr Plc Share Index and
NASDAQ OMX Helsinkt indices
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Share price development
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Financial Indicators 2006-2008

2008 2007 2006
Tumover EUR mii 2,263 2181 1,590
- change % 38 96 63
Operating profit from operauons ELJR mutt 7 97 n
- in relapon to turnover % 03 44 06
QOperaung profit/loss EUR mill -52 142 n
-0 relapon 1o wrnover % 23 65 035
Profit before extraordinary items EUR mill 56 139 15
- In relation to turnover % 25 64 -07
Profit before taxes EUR mull 56 139 15
- n relauon to turrover % 25 64 07
Consolidated balance sheet
Non-current assets EUR mill 1,398 1,245 1,308
Short-term recervables EUR mill 658 864 544
Non-current assets hetd for sale EUR mill 19 35 8
Assets total EUR mill 2,076 2,144 1,660
Shareholders equity and minority interests EUR mill 773 987 601
Liabiliues, total ELIR mull 1,303 1,157 1,059
Shareholders' equity and habilitres, total ELIR mill 2,076 2,144 1,660
Gross capital expenditure EUR mill 233 326 252
Gross capital expenditure in relation 1o turnover % 103 150 127
Return on equity (ROE) % -48 129 20
Return on capital employed (ROCE) % 25 142 01
Average capital employed EUR mill 1,190 1,122 938
Increase in share capitat EUR mull 0 0 0
Dividend for the financial year™ EUR mill 0 32 9
Earnings/share EUR 033 104 014
Earnings/share adjusted for option rights {with diluted effect) EUR 033 104 014
Result / share (number of shares at the end of financial year) EUR 033 079 015
Equity/share EUR 604 770 614
Didend/share" EUR 000 02s 010
Dividend/earmings % 00 NS 644
Effective dwdend yield % 00 31 08
P/CEPS 52 25 25
Cash flow/share EUR ce 32 10
P/E rano 14 82 779 8895
Equity ratio % 381 471 372
Net debt-to-equity {Geanng) % -6 225 71
Adjusted Geanng % 63 2 351 112 8
Interest bearing debt EUR mill 302 318 337
Ligud funds EUR mill 392 540 294
Net interest bearing debt EUR mill 90 222 43
- 1n relation 1o turnover % 40 192 22
Net financing income {+) / expenses (-) EUR mill -5 -3 -4
in relation to turnover % 02 01 02
Net interest expenses EUR mill 2 5 -3
- In relation to turnover % o1 D2 02
Operational cash flow EUR mill 120 3g2 96
Operauonal cash flow in relauon to wrnover % 53 138 48
Average number of shares adjusted for the share issue numberof 127,969,796 68 032,358 96,690,131
Average number of shares ac the end of the financial year (with diluted effecr) number of 127,969,796 98,032,358 96,690,131
Number of shares adjusted for the share issue at the end of the financial year numberof 127,969,796 98,032,358 97,782,880
Number of shares at the end of the inancial year (with diluted effect) nurmnberof 127,969,796 58,032,358 57,782,880
Number of shares at the end of the financial year numberof 128,136,115 128,136,115 88,756,358
Personnel on average 9,595 9,480 9,598

The number of personnel are averages and adjusted for part-time employees
1 The dividend 1s a proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meenng
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EBITDAR

Operaung profit from operanions

Return on equity 1n per cent (ROE)
Capital employed

Return on capital employed
in per cent (ROCE)

Earnings per share, (euro)

Equity per share, (euro)

Dividend per earmings in per cent

Lffective dividend y1eld in per cent

P/CEPS

Cash flow per share, {¢euro)

Price per earnings

Equury ratio, %

Gearing, %

Adjusted gearing, %

Calculation of Key Indicators

Operaung profit + depreciation + aircrait lease rentals

Operaang profic excludeng capital gains, fair value changes of
derivatives and non recurring items

Resul
esur x 100

Equity + munority interests (average of beginmng and end of finaneaal year)

Balance sheet total - non interest bearing habihites

Result before taxes + interest and other financial expenses 100
x

Caputal employed (average of begimning and end of Ainancial year)

Result for financial year

Adjusted average number of shares during the financial year

Equiry

Number of shares at the end of the financaial year, adjusted for the share 1ssue

Dividend per share

100
Earnings per share %

Dividend per share

x 100
Adjusted share price at the end of the financial year

Share price at the end of the financial year

Cash flow fiom operanons per share

Cash flow from operanions

Adjusted average number of shares during che financial year

Sharc price at the end of the finanecial yar

Earmings per share

Equlty + mmorlty interests

x 100
Balance sheet total - advances received

Interest bearing liabilicies - liquid funds
% 100

Equity + munonty interests

Interest bearing debt +7 x annual aircraft leasing payments-hiquid funds « 100

Equity + munority interests
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Consolidated Income Statement

Financial Report

1Jan-31 1 Jan-31
EUR mill Dec 2008 Dec 2007 Note
Turnover 2,262 6 2,180.5 3
Work used for own purposes and capitalized 16 30 6
Other operating mcome 271 528 7
Matenals and services -1,054 8 -896 9 8
Employee benefit expense -541 0 -5415 9
Depreciation and imparment -110 2 -112 6 10
Orther operaung expenses -637 4 -543 8 11
Operating profit/loss -52.1 141§
Financial income 221 172 122,
Financial expenses -26 7 -19 9 13 ¢
Share of result in associates 03 01 18 |
Profit/loss before taxes -56.4 138.9 \
Income taxes 14 6 -36 8 14
Profit/loss for financal year -41.8 1021 :
Earnings per share to shareholders of the parent company -42 0 101 6
Minority interest 02 05
Earnings per share calculated from profit attributable
to shareholders of the parent company
Earnings per share (diluted and undiluted) -033 104 15

The Notes to the Nnanaial Statements on pages 27-78 are an essenuial parc of the finanaal statemenrs
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-~ Consolidated Balance Sheet
|
| EUR mill 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 Note
! ASSETS
l Non-current assets
Intangible assers 481 46 6 16
| Tangible assets 1,2721 1168 9 17
, Investments in assoclates 61 57 18
i Recervables 215 138 19
| Deferred tax recevables 498 10 4 20
1,397 6 1,245.4
\ Short-term recewables '
| Inventories 351 361 21 |
| Trade recewvables and other receivables 2318 2873 22 |
f Other finanaial assets 3738 5186 23 I
| Cash and cash equivalents 183 5 24
? 659 0 863.5 i
\ Non-current assets held for sale 19 4 347 5 i
f Assets, total 2,076 0 2,143 6
{ SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES j
Equity attnbutable to shareholders of parent company |
] Shareholders’ equity 754 754 !
Other equity 696 3 909 9 1
E f 771.7 985 3 !
! Minority interest 11 17 }
Equity, total 772.8 9870 25
i
Long-term liabilities
+ Deferred tax hability 120 6 144 5 20
| Interest beanng liabihties 2611 269 6 29 |
Penston obligations 61 158 27
3878 4299
Short-term liabilities
Current income tax habilives 15 82 14
Provisions 615 536 28
Interest bearing habiliues 48 5 545 29
Trade payables and other lrabiiies 803 9 610 4 30
' 915 4 726 7
. Liabihtes, total 1,303.2 1,156 6
i Shareholders’ equity and habihtes, total 2,076.0 2,143.6

The Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 27-78 are an essennial part of the financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Financial Report

EUR mill

1 Jan-31 Dec 2008

1 Jan-31 Dec 2007

Cash flow from operating activity

Profit/-loss for the financial year -41 8 1021
Operauons for which a paymentis not included " 1172 100 0
Interest and other financial expenses 267 199
Interest income -18 9 -9
Other financial income 2 32 =51
Dmdend income 00 -0 2
Taxes -14 6 368
Changes in working capital
Change in trade and other receivables -27 24
Change in inventories 10 24
Change in accounts payables and other liabilities 398 86 4
Interest paid -131 -146
" Other financial expenses paid -13 =23 |
Received interest income 154 96 |
Received financial income 32 Q5
Taxes patd 125 -24 2
Net cash flow from operating activities 120.2 3018 |
_ Cash flow from investing actwity
Sell of subsidhanes, net of cash sold 00 06
Acquisitions of subsidiaries -2 6 -0 6
Investments in intangible assets <127 -154
Investments in tangible assets -215 9 -346 2
Net change of financial interest bearing assets
at fair value through profir or loss ¢ 1831 -205 6
Sales of tangible fixed assets 62 0 652 |
Received dwdends 00 02 |
Change 1n non-current receivables -78 17 |
Net cash flow from investing activities 131 -5001
1
Cash flow from financing activities !
Loan withdrawals 49 956
Loan repayments -500 150 !
Share i1ssue 00 2449
Purchase of own shares -4 7 00
Dmdends pad -31 8 -89
Net cash flow from financing actvity 817 2166 |
1
i
Change in cash flows 51.6 18.3 !
1
Change in iquid funds |
Liquid funds, at the beginning 2918 2735
Change in cash flows 516 183 !
Liquid funds, in the end ¥ 343.4 2918 |
]

The cash flow statement analyses changes in the Group's cash and cash equivalents during the finanaial yeat The cash flow

statement has been dwided according mito the IAS 7 standard i operatmg invesung and finanamng cash flows




Consolidated Statements 25
Notes to consohdated cash flow statement
"' Qperations for which a payment is not included
EUR mill 2008 2007
Depreciation 110 2 112 6
Employee benefirs -103 68
Other adjustments 173 -194
Total n7z2 1000

2

Fair value changes of shares recomsed at Frnancial assets ar fair value through profit or loss are ehminated from cash flow from

operating activities Shares recomised at Financial assets ac fair value through profic or loss are wemised 1n Notes 23 and 32

3)

liabilinies, and cash and cash equivalencs of the companies are presented 1n the Notes to the income statermnenc i item 5

4

cluding changes in fair value

The Group has sold shares of FlyNordic and ground handling operations in Norway and Sweden year 2007 Informanon abour the assets,

Net change in of financial interest bearmyg assers ae fr value through ar fag valueprofic or loss matunng afrer more than 3 months in-

9 Financial assets include cash and bank equivalents and investments, which have been told in the separate accounts of the bal-

ance sheer The balancing of the cash flow final assets below

EUR mill 2008 2007 |
Balance sheet item (short-term} :
Investments 373 8 5186 ,
Cash and bank equivalents 183 215
Short-term cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 3921 5401 |
Maturing after more than 3 months -39 6 2227
Shares available for sale -91 -25 6

Total 343 4 291.8

Cash and cash equwvalents encompass cash and bank deposits as well as other highly hquid finanaal assers whose term to ma-
turity 15 a masumum of three months Such items are e g ceruficate of deposits and commercial papers Balance sheet items are

itermsed in Notes 21 and 22

The Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 27-78 are an essenual part of the finznaial statements
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Shareholders’ Equity

Financial Report

Equity attnbutable to shareholders of parent company

Share Unre
Share premium Bonus  Fairvalue stncted Etained Minonty
EUR mull capral Newissue  account ssue  reserve equity  eamings Total  interescs Toal
Shareholders’ equity 1 Jan 2007 75.4 00 204 1477 -211 a0 3775 599.9 16 601.5
Translauon difference -01 -01 -01
Dividend payment -89 B9 04 93
New ssue 244 9 00 24469 2449
Cash Aow hedges
Fair value change of hedging instruments 332 332 332
Fair value change of hedging
instruments net of tax (Nete20) 86 86 86
Recogntsed in income statement M= 25 15 15 ns
Net of rax from Recognised
In Income statement (Vo= 20) 30 30 30
Recogmsed in balance sheet 133 133 133
Net of tax from Recognised
in balance sheet ("o 20 35 -35 35 !
QOpuon nght to shares 67 67 67 .
Share premium account changes 17 17 17
Profit for the period 016 1016 05 1021 |
Shareholders equity 31 Dec 2007 75.4 0.0 20.4 147.7 268 2449 4701 9853 1.7 987.0
i
|
Equity artnbutable o shareholders of parent company i
Share Unre i
Share premum Bonus  Farvalye striced Etained Menoncy
EUR mill capital Newissue  account ssue  reserwe equity  earmings Toral  mterests Total )
Shareholders’ equity 1 Jan 2008 75.4 0.0 204 1477 268 2449 4701 985.3 17 987.0 }
Translation difference 00 00 00 |
Dividend payment 319 -»19 05 324 |
Share i1ssue 00 00 00 00 |
Change of minonty 00 03 03
Purchase of own shares -47 -47 47 !
Cash flow hedges )
Fawr value change of hedging instruments -2154 2154 2154 |
Fair value change of ‘
hedging instruments, net of tax (M2 561 561 561 !
Recognised in income statement (M 29 517 517 517
Net of rax from Recognised |
N income statement (Nowe 20 134 -134 134
Recognised in balance sheet 34 -34 34 |
Net of tax from Recogrised '
in batance sheet (Mo ne 09 09
Change of fair value :
in available-for-sale financial assets -18 5 -18 5 185
Net of tax of Change of far value !
1n available-for-sale financial assers 48 48 48
Disposal own shares / Share-based payment expense 23 23 23
Profic for the period 420 -420 02 418
Shareholders equity 31 Dec 2008 754 00 204 1477 1105 2472 3915 7717 11 7728

The Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 27-78 are an essenual part of the finanaal statements




Consohidazed Statements

BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT
THE COMPANY

The Finnair Group engages in worldwide air cransport oper-
anons and supporung services The Group’s operations are
divrded o the Scheduled Passenger Traffic, Lersure Traf-
fic Aviauon Setvices and Trave] Services business areas The
Group’s parent company 1s Finnatt Plc, which 1s dormiciled 1in
Helsink: ar che registered address Tietotie 11 A, Vanraa, Fin-
land The parent company s listed on the Helsinki Stock Ex-
changes The Board of Direcrors of Finnair Ple has approved
these financial statemencs for publication ac ws meenng on 4
February 2009 Under Finland's Companies Act, shareholders
have the option to accept or reject the financial statements in
a meetng of shareholders, which will be held after the publi-
cacion of the Anancial statements The AGM can also chanyge
the financtal staternents

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The accounung prinaiples of the consohidared financial scarte-
ments are presented below The accounting prnciples have
been followed tn the periods presenred in the consol:dated
financial statements unless otherwise staced

Basts of preparation
Finnair Pic’s consolhidated financial statements for 2008 have
been prepared according te the International Financial Re-
portng Standards (IFRS) and 1n their preparatton the IAS and
IFRS standards as well as the SIC and IFRIC interpretations in
effect on 31 December 2008 have been followed By Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards 1s meant the standards
accepted for application in che EU and interpreranions issued
about them 1n accordance with the procedure lard down 1n
Finrush law and provisions issued by virtue thereof in the EU
Regulanion {EC) No 1606/2002 The notes to the consolidar-
ed finanaal statements also comply with Finmish accounting
and corporare laws

The 2008 consolidated nancial statements have been pre-
pared based on onginal acquisition coscs, except for financial
assets recognisable through profit and loss ac fair value, finan-
ci1al assets which are available-for-sale, and derivative contracts,
which have been valued at fair value Financial statement data
1s presented in m:lions of euros, rounded to the nearest one
hundred thousand euros

The preparaton of financial statements in accordance with
IFRS standards requires Group management to make certatn
estimates and to exeraise discrenion 1n applying the account-
g principles Information abour the discretton exercised by
management 1n applying the accounting prinaples followed
by the Group and thar which has mosr impact on the figures
presented in the financial statemnents has been presented in che
irem “ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES THAT REQUIRE MAN-
AGEMENT DISCRETION AND MAIN UNCERTAINTY FAC-
TORS RELATING TO ESTIMATES”

Notes to the Financial Statements

Princsples of consolidation

SUBSIDIARIES
Mnnair Plc's consohdated financial statements include the
parent company Finnair Ple and all wes subsidiaries As sub-
sidiaries are deemed to be those companies tn which the par-
ent company directly or indirectly ownis more than 50% of che
votes or in which 1t otherwise exercises the night to determine
the company’'s Ainancaial and business pohicies in order co ben-
efit from 1ts activines

The book value of shares in undertakings included in consol-
tdarion has been ehminated using the acquisition cost method
Subsidiaries that have been acquired are consolidared from
the date on which the Group has acquired control, and sub-
sidiartes that have been disposed of are ne longer consolidar-
ed from cthe date that control ceases All of the Group’s inter-
nal transactions, recewvables, liabilictes and unrealised gamns
as well as internal distribunion of profir are ehminated in the
consolidated financial statements Unreahsed losses are not
eliminated tn the event that a loss results from impairment
The financial statements of subsidiaries have been amended
to correspend with the accounting prinaples in use within
the Group

ASSQOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS
Associated undertakings are undertakings in which the Group
generally has 20-50% of the votes or 1n which the Group has sig-
mficant influence buc in which it dows nor exeraise control
Heldings in associated undertakings have been included in
the consolidated financial scacements by che equity mechod
The Group's share of earnings after the ime of acquisitionas
recognised 1n the income statement If the Group’s share of
the loss of an associated undertaking exceeds the book value of
the investment, the investment 1s entered 1n the balance sheet
at zero value unless the Group has incurred obhigations on be-
half of the associared undertaking Unrealised gains berween
the Group and associated undertakings have been ehminated
to the extent of the Group's holding The Group’s share of an
assoctated undertaking includes goodwall arising from res ac-
quisinon Assodtated undertzbings’ inanctal statements have
been converted to correspond with the accounnng prinaiples
in use 1n the Group

MINORITY INTEREST AND TRANSACTIONS
WITH MINOQRITY
Minority interest 1s presented in the balance sheet separately
from liabthnies and che parent company’s shareholders’ equity
as 1ts own 1rem as part of shareholders’ equity In the income
statemenc 1s presented che distrbunion of profic for the finan-
cal year ro the parent company’s shareholders and minoricy
interest Minority interest of accrued losses are recognised in
the consohdared finanaal statements up to a maximum of
the amount of the investment

The Group applies the same accounung principles to trans-
acrions made with minorinies as with shareholders In acqui-
sitions of nunonty 1nterests, the difference berween acqui-
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sitton cost and the acquired equity 1s recogmsed directly in
shareholders’ equity

Translations of foreign currency items
Items included 1n cach subsidiary’s financial scatements are
valued in the foreign currency that 1s the main currency of
operanng environment of each substdiary (“operauonal cur-
rency”) The consohdated financial statements have been pre-
sented 1n euros, which s the parent company’s operarional
and presentanon currency

Monetary iems denomenated in foreign currency have been
rranslated into the eperanng currency using the mid-market
exchange rates on the closing date Advance payments made
and received are entered at the exchange rate of the operaung
currency on the date of payment Non-monetary items have
been translated into the operanng currency using the exchange
rate onthe dare of the transaction Translation differences on
operations are tncluded in the income statement’s operating
prohit, and translavon differences on foreign currency loans
are included m financial 1tems

The income statements of foreign subsidraries have been
translated o euros using the exchange rares on dare of oc-
casion Balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries have been trans-
{ated into euros using the exchange rates on the clostng dare
Translation differences of shareholders’ equity irems arising
from eliminanions of the acquisition cost of foreign subsidi-
aries are recognised 1n shareholders’ equity When a foreign
subsidiary 1s sold, cthese translation differences are recogmsed
i the income statement as part of the overall profit or loss
arising from the sale Translaton differences thar have arisen
since the IFRS rransirion darte are presented as a separate item
in shareholder’s equipment when preparing the consohidated
financial starements

Goodwill arising from foreign acquisinions 1s treated as a
foreign exchange asset of the foreign unit and 15 translated into
eutos using the exchange rate on the closing date

Dertvate contracts and hedge accounting
According to14s finanaal pohey, the Finnatr Group uses foreign
exchange, interest rate and commodity dertvatives to reduce
the exchange rate, interest rate and commodity risks which
arise from tts balance sheet items, foreign exchange purchase
contracts, anucipated purchases and sales as well as future
jet fuel purchases

The dertvauves are recogmised at the nime they are made in
the balance sheet at original acquisition cost and are subse-
quently valued at farr value in each financial starement and
interim report Gains and losses arising from changes in the
fair value are presented tn the finanaal statements according
o the oniginal classificanion of the dervanve Gans and loss-
es on denvanives qualifying for hedge accounting are recog-
rused 1n accordance with the underlying asset being hedged
Derivative contracts are designared arincepuion as hedges for
furure cash flows and binding purchase contracts {cash flow
hedges or fair value hedges) or as detivanves not meeting the
hedge accounung criterna or to which hedge accounting 1s

Financial Repert

not applied (economic hedges) Hedging of the fair value of
the net investment of foreign units or embedded derivanves
have not been used

At the inception of hedge accounuing, the Finnair Group
documents the relanonship between the hedged irem and the
hedging instrument as well as the Group’s risk management
objectives and the strategy for the inception of hedging The
Group documents and assesses, at the inception of hedging
and atleast 1n connection with each financial statements, the
effectiveness of hedge relanonships by examining the capaary
of the hedging instrument to offser changes n the fair value
of the hedged item or changes in cash flows The values of de-
rivatives in a hedging relationship are presenced in the balance
sheeritem shos t-term financial asset and habshities

The Finnatr Group tmplements 1n accordance wath IAS 39
hedge accounnny principles the hedging of future cash flows
{cash flow hedging) in cerms of the price and foreign curren-
cy risk of jer fuels as well as foreign currency hedging of lease
payments and aircraft purchases

Fair value hedging 1s implemented tn Finnair 1n respect of
firm arders for new Awrbus arrerafts These binding purchase
agreements are treated under IAS 39 as firm commutments
whose fair value changes of hedged part arising from foreign
currency movements s recogrused :n the balance sheer as an
asset item and any corresponding gains or losses recogmsed
through profit and loss Simudarly the fair value of instruments
hedging these purchases are presented in the balance sheer as
a liability or receivable and the change in fair value 1s recog-
msed chrough profitand loss

The change 1n the fair value of effective portion of deriva-
tive instruments that fulfil the terms of cash flow hedging are
entered directly 1n a fair value reserve in equity to the extent
that the requirements for the applicanon of hedge account-
myg have been (ulfilled The gains and losses recogmsed i eg-
ity are transferred to the income statement in the period
which the hedged item 1s entered 1n the income statement
When an istrument acquired for the hedging of cash flow
matures or 1s sold or when the criceria for hedge accountng
are no longe fuifilled, the gamn o1 loss accrued from hedging
mstruments remain m equity until the forecast transacnion
takes place However,1f the forecast hedged transaction 1s not
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accrued i equity 1s
released immediately to the income statement

The effectiveness of hedging 1s tested on a quarterly basis
The effecuve portion of hedging 1s recogrused in che fair value
reserve of shareholders’ equity, from which itis rransferred to
mcome statement when the hedged item 1s realised or, tn terms
of investrnents, as an acquisition cost adjustment

To hedge the interest rate and foreign exchange nisks of for-
eign currency loans the Finnair Group uses foreign exchange
and interest-rate swap contracts The translanon difference
ansmg from foreign exchange and interest-rate swap contracts
rhat fulfil the conditons of hedge accounnng 1s recognised
concurrently against the translanon difference arising from
the loan, while other changes in fair value are recogrsed
terms of the effective portion in the fair value reserve of share-
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holders’ equity Interest income and expenses are recogrused
in finanaial income and expenses

The Finnair Group concludes jer fuel swaps (forward con-
tracts) and opnions in order to even our future price flucrua-
tions 1n jet fuel purchases Changes in the fair value of jet fuel
hedging derivatives are recognised directly in the fair value re-
serve in respect of demvanves defined as cash-flow hedges char
fulfil cthe requuements of 1AS 39 hedge accounnng Accrued
gains and losses on derivatives recognised in shareholders’
equity are recognised in the income statement as 1ncome or
expenses (or the financial pertod 1n which the hedged 1tem s
recogmsed 1n the income statemenc If a forecasted cash flow
1s no longer expected to occur, the accrued gains and losses
reported in the shareholder’s equity are presented directly as
other income and expenses for the financal period Changes
1 the fair value of derivative contracts, in so far as the IAS
39 hedge accounting crizeria are not fulfilled, are presented
1n ocher operating incorne and expenses during their term
o marurity

The change in the fair value of derivatives not qualifying for
hedge accounting and which are arranged to hedge operanional
cash flow are recogmised 1 the income statemenc 1tem ocher
operating expenses Chantges i the fair value of interest rare
dervatives not qualifying for hedge accounung are recognised
1n the income statement s financial income and expenses

Principle of revenue recognition
Revenuc from services 1s recognised as revenue in the finan-
aal period 1n which the services are provided for the customer
Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised when significant
risks and rewards of owning the goods are transferred to the
buyer In such cases the Group has no longer any supervision
of concrol over the products

Schedutled Passenger Traffic and Leisure Traffic sales aie
recogmsed as revenue when che fhight 1s flown m accordance
with the flight waffic programme Avianion Services’ sales
are recogmsed as revenue when che service 1s completely per-
formed Travel Services’ sales are recogrused as revenue when
the service has been conveyed Discounts granted and indi-
rect taxes, among other things, are deducred from sales as
adjustment items

The recognition as revenue of unused fighe ticketsis based
on the expiry dartes of the nckers

Interest income

Interest income 1s recogrused on a ume-proportion basis us-
ing the effective interest merthod When a recetvable 15 1m-
paired, the group reduces the carrying amounr ro its recover-
able amount, being the estimated fucure cash flow discounred
at the oniginal effective interest of the instrumen, and con-
unues unwinding the discount as interest income Interest
imncome on tmpatred loans s recogmsed using the original
effective interest rate

Duwidend income
Dindend income 1s recognised when the company has acquired
a legal right ro receive the dividends

Operating profit

TheAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements standard does
not define ¢he concept ‘operanng profic The Group has de-
fined 1t as follows operaung profitis the net sum chatis formed
from turnover plus other operating income, less purchase costs
adjusted by change 1 inventories of work 1n progress as well
as costs arsing from producnion for own use, less costs, de-
preciation and possible impairment losses anising from em-
ployee benefits as well as other operauing expenses Al income
statement 1rems other than those mennoned above are pre-
sented below the operaning profit Translanion differences and
changes in faur values of derivatives are included in operating
profit 1f chey arise from stems related to business operations,
otherwise they are recogmised 1n inancial items

Income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax Tax 1s recogmsed n the mncome statement, except to the
extent thar it refates to icems recogmsed directly in equity In
this case, the tax 1s also recognised 1n equity

A deferred tax liabtlity or asset 1s calculated for all cempo-
rary differences between accounting and taxauon using the
tax rates prescribed at the closing date

The largest temporary differences arise from sales of tangi-
bie assets, depreciation, revaluations of derivatve contracts,
dcfined-benefir pension schemes, unused tax losses, and val-
uations at fair value made 1n connection with acquisitions
Deferred tax 1s not recognused for subsicharies’ undistributed
earrungs where 1t 13 probable that the difference wall nor re-
verse in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrused to the extent that s will prob-
ably be avilable to taxable profic of future financoal years, against
which the deductible temporary difference can be uthsed.

The Group’s main business takes place in Finland Taxes
based on taxable income for the hinanaal year have been cal-
culated with a tax rate of 26 per cent Taxes based on the tax-
able income of foreign subsidiaries for the Ainancial year have
been calculated ar tax rates of 0-26 per cent

Public grants

Pubhc grants, for example government ard for ssmulazor tran-
ing, has been recognised in orher operating income Public
grancs that the Group may recene, for example, for fixed as-
set acquisttions are recognused as a reduction 1n onginal ac-
quisition cost Grants are recogtused in the form of smaller
depreciations over the useful life of the asset

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are recogmsed in the balance shect when
the finanaal benefit1s longer than oneyear, macquisition cost
including the direct costs arising from the acquisinon Tangi-
ble fixed assets are valued at original acquisinion cosc less ac-
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cumulated deprecianon and write-downs

Awrcraft and their engines as well as flight sunularors are
depreciated on a strasght-line basis over therr expected useful
lrves The acquisition cost of aircrafi is allocared to the air-
craft fuselage, engines and heavy maintenance and these are
depreciated as separate assets Residual value deprecianions
or straight-line basis over their expected useful lives are made
for buildings and residual value deprecianons for other fixed
assets Land areas are nor depreciated

Other equipment includes office equipment, furmshings,
cars and rransportarion vehicles used ar airports

Depreciatton 1s calculared using the following principles,
depending on the type of asset

* Buildings, 50 years from ume of acquisinon to a

residual value of 10% or 3-7% of expenditure residue
Aurcraft and thewr engimes on a snaight-line basis as

follows
- Airbus A320 famuly aircraft, over 20 years to

a residual value of 10%
- Embracr fleer arrcrafr, over 20 years 1o

a residual value of 10%
- New A340 famuly aircraft, over 15 years to

a residual value of 10%
- New A330 famly aircraft, over 18 years to a restdual

value 10 %
- Used jet aircraft more than sux years old,

over 10 years to a residual value of 10%
- New turboprop aircraft, over 12 years to

a residual value of 10%
- Turboprop aircraft acquired as used,

over 10 years to a residual value of 10%
- Aurcraft to be withdrawn from use, fully on
a straight-line basis according to their useful Iife
outlined 1n the fleet modermisation plan
Heavy maintenance of aireraft, on a saaighe-hine basis
during the mamtenance pertod
Embraer compoenents, over 15 years
to a restdual value of 10%
Arrbus components, over 15 years
to a residual value of 10%
Fhight simulators are depreciated as per
the corresponding rype of atrcraft
Depreciation of other tangible fised assets
23% of the undepreciated residual value

The residual values and esumated useful lives of assets are
adjusted at each closing date and 1f thev differ ssgmificantly
from previous estimates, the depreciation periods and restdual
values are changed accordingly

Ordinary repasr and mamtenance expenditure 1s recognised
as an expense in che finanaal periodin whichicanses Expendi-
ture of modermsation and improvement projects that are sig-
ntficantin size (mainly aircraft modifications) are capirahised
i the balance sheet 1f1t1s probable thar an addinonal finan-
cial reward will anise 1o the Group in future Modermsation
and improvement projects are depreciared on a straight-hine
basis over their expected useful ives The carryingamountof
the replaced part is derecognsed
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Depreciacion of a tangible fixed asset1s discontnued when
the rangible fixed asset1s classified as berng held for sale in ac-
cordance with IFRS 5 standard Non-Current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations

Gains anising from the disposal and wichdrawal from use
of tangible fixed assets are included 1n the income statement
m the 1tem other operating income, and losses 1n the 1rem
other operating expenses

Intangible assets

Intangible fived assets are recogmsed in the balance sheet,
when the inanaal benefic s longer than one year, at acquis:-
ton cost, including the direct costs anising from the acqua-
sinon Depreciation and tmpatrment of intangible assets are
based on the following expected economic Iifetimes

Goodwll imparrment testing
Computer programs 3-8 years
Other intangible assets,

depending on their nature 3-10 years

GOODWILL
Goodwill corresponds to the portion of acqusition costs that
exceeds the Group's share of the fatr value of the net assets at
the cxme of acquisition of the subsidiary, associated under-
taking or joint vencure

Goodwil 1s tested annually for possible impairment For
thus purpose goodwill has been allocared to cash generating
umits Annual impairment testing 1s performed on the basis
of discounted cash flows This method 1s based on expecred
cash flows that have buen updated by revenue growth race
and the cost of capital If the present value of the expected fu-
rure nperational cash flow of some business operation 1s low-
er than the corresponding balance sheet value thar includes
goodwill, the imparrment 1s recognised as an expense in the
meome starement

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE
Research and development on aircraft, systems and opera-
tions is conducted primarily by the manufacturers Research
and product development expenditure relating 1o marketing
and customer service 1s recognised as an expense at the time
at which itisincurred because the capitalization criterion will
not fill Expenses are included in the consolidated 1micome stace-
ment n a cost 1tem according to the narure of the expense
Development expendirure 1s recognised in the balance sheet
as an intangible asser when 1t 15 probable thar the develop-
ment project will succeed both commercially and technically
and the project expenses can be reliably assessed The Group
has no capialisable development expenditure

COMPUTER SOFTWARE

Computer software maintenance costs and expenditure on the
research stage of software projects are recognised as expenses
at the tume they are incurred Software projects’ mnor devel-
opment costs, moreover, are not capitalised, they are recog-
rused as an expense




User rights and hicences acquired for IT software are pre-
sentted tn the category intangible nghrs and 1n other respects
in other intangible assers Acquired user righes and licences are
entered in the balance sheetat acquisition cost, plus the costs
of making the hicence and software ready for use Capiralised
expenses are depreciated over a useful life of 3-8 years

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other intangible assets, such as e g patents, trademarks and
licences, are valued at acquisition cost less recogmsed depre-
ciation and impatrment Intangible assets are deprectated on
a srratght-line basis over 3-10 years

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISPOSAL
GROUPS
Non-current assets or asset groups and their relared habili-
ties (disposal groups) that have a high probability of being
sold wirthin a year of classification are classified as assets held
for sale

Immediacely before classificanon assets held for sale or as-
sets and liabilities of disposal groups are valued according to
the IFRS standards applicable to them From the moment
of classification assets held for sale {or disposal groups) are
valued at the lower of the carrying amounr or thetr fair value
less cost of sale Depreciation of these assets 1s discontinued
aL the moment of classificanon

Lease agreements

THE GROUP IS THE LESSEE
Tangible fixed asset lease agreements where a substannal part
of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
Group are classtficd as finance leases The assetitem acquired
with a finance lease 1s entered at the start of the agreement
as an asser 1n the balance sheet ar the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the mtmmum
lease payments A corresponding sum s recognssed as a fi-
nancal asset The lease payments pavable are allocated be-
tween finance expenses and debt reducoon The correspond-
nyg rental obhiganions net of finance charges, are included in
other long-term interest-bearing habihties Financing inter-
est 15 recogrused in the income statement during the lease so
as to achieve a constanc interest rate on the finance balance
outstanding 1 each financial period Assetitems leased under
a finance lease are depreciated over the shorrer of the asset’s
useful life and the term of the lease

Tangible fiaed asser-related lease agreements where a sub-
stannal part of the risks and rewards of ownership are rerained
by thelessor are classified as other leases Payments made un-
der other leases are charged 10 the income statement over the
term of the lease

The operating lease habihines under other leases of Finnair
Group arcraft have been treated as rental expenses mn the income
statement Lease payments due m furure years under agreements
are presented in the notes to the Ainanaal statements

Impairment
On every closing date the Group reviews asset wems for any
indication of imparrment losses If there are such indicanions,
the amount recoverable from the said asset irem 15 assessed
The recoverable amountis also assessed for che following asser
1tems trrespective of whether there are indications of impair-
ment goodwill and intangible assets which have anindefinite
useful hfe The need for impairment 1s examned on the cash
generanng umt level

The recoverable amounr 1s the higher of the asser 1tem’s
fair value, less the cost anising from disposal, and 1cs value
in us¢ By value i use 1s meant the expected furure net cash
flows obtainable from the sawd asset item or cash generatng
unit, discounted to their present value The value of the re-
coverable amount of financial assecs 15 erther the fair value
or the present valu. of expected future cash fows discount-
ed at the oniginal effective inrerest rate An impairment loss
15 recogmsed when the carrying amount of an asser icem 1s
greater than cthe recoverable amount The impairment loss s
recogrused in the income statement The impairment loss ts
reversed 1f a change in conditions has occurred and the recov-
erable amount of the asset has changed since the dare when
the impairment loss was recogmsed The impairment loss 1s
not reversed, however, by more than thar which the carrying
amount of the asser would be without the recogninon of the
impairment loss Impairment losses recognised for goodwill
are not cancelled under any circumstances, nerther are impair-
ment losses on equuity investments classified as available for
sale financial assets cancelled through profit and loss From
recetvables included according to IAS 39 1n the allocaved ac-
quIsSILiOn Price, nterest income is recovered after impairment
using the interest rate that bas been used as the discount rate
when calculanng the impairment

Inventories
Inventories are asset items that are intended for sale 1n the nor-
mal course of business, are handled in the production process
for sale or are raw materials or supplies intended for consump-
ron in the producnion process

Inventones are valued at the lower of their acquisition cost
and probable net realisable value Acquisition cost 1s deter-
muned using the average cost method. The acquisition cost
of inventortes includes all acquisinon-relared costs, produc-
tion costs and other costs that have ansen from the rransfer
of the inventory 1tern to the location and space where the 1tem
1s situated at che nime of inspection The production costs
of inventories also include a systemaucally allocared propor-
uon of vanable and fixed producuon overheads Net reahsa-
ble value 1s the esnmarted selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the costs required to complete the preduct
and selling expenses

Trade recewwables
In trade recesvables are recognised assets received on an ac-
crual basis for the products and services of the company’s
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operations Trade recewvables are recognised imually at fair
value and subsequently measured ar amortused cost using the
effective interest method

When the Group has objective evidence that uncertainty 1s
attached to the collection of trade recevables, then they are
valued at theu lower probable fair value Public inancial piob-
lems that indicare that a customer 1s going into bankruptey,
significant finanaal restructuning or substannal delays in pay-
ments are examples of objective evidence that mughe cause crade
recetvables to be valued at probable fair value Impairment of
trade receivables 1s recognised in other operating expenses

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currency are val-
ued at the exchange rate on the closing date

Expences of habilities
Expences of halittes are recogrmised 1n income statement ac
the period when they are occurred

LOANS
Iminiallyloans are valued at therr fair value Loans thatare due
for payment within 12 months are presented in short-term h-
abilitres Foreign currency loans are valued ar the mid-marker
exchange rate on the closing dare and rranslation differences
are recogntsed in financial items

The Group’s fixed-interest USD-denominated aireraft fi-
nancing loans have been hedged with long-term cross cur-
rency mnterest rate swaps Fixed-interest derwvative contracts
and thetr corresponding loans form a hedging relationship
The dervative contracts 1in question are valued ar fair value
Change of fair value 1s recognised in the shareholder’s equity
fair value reserve Correspondingly, loansn the hedging rela-
tionship are valued ar the allocated acquusition cost

Other USD-denomunated loans and their corresponding
variable interest derivative contracts are valued ac far value,
and the change in fair value 1s recogmised in the income state-
ment’s finanaial wtems Euro-denonunated loans and bonds
are valued ar allocared acquisition cost

Financial assets and financial habilities
In the Group, financial assets have been classified according
to the IAS 39 standard “Frnancial Instruments Recognition
and Valuation” into the following caregories financial assets
ac fair value through profic or loss (assets held for trading)
held-to-maturity investments, loans and orher recervables, as
well as available-for-sale financial assets The classification s
made on the basis of the purpose of the acquisinon of the
ﬁnancla[ assers 1n connection \\'I[h rhﬁ Orlgmal vaulSlthl'l
All purchases and sales of financaial assets are recogmised on
the trade dare

The Ainancial asset categorv recogmised at fair value through
proficor loss includes assets held for trading purposes and as-
sets measured at fair value through profiror toss onimual rec-
ogmuon Nnancial assets ar fair value through profirand loss
have mainly been acquired to obtain a gain from short-term
changes in market prices All those derivatives that do not ful-
fil the condittans for the apphcation of hedge accounung are
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classifted as Financial assets at fan value chrough profit and
loss and are valued in each financial starement at fair value
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes
tn fair value are recogmused in the income statement {eitherin
othet operating income and expenses orin financial iems) mn
the period in which they anse Financial assers at farr value
thiough profit and loss as well as thosc maturing within 12
months are included n currenc assets

I Teld-to-marur ity mvestments are financial assets not belong-
g to derivatnve contracts which macure on a specified dace
and which a company has the firm inrenc and abiliy o hold
to martunty They are valued ar allocared acquisition cosr and
they arencluded in long-term assets On the closing date the
Group had no assets belonging to the said group

Investments which do not have a marurity date and whose
date of sales has not been deaided are classified as avalable-
for-sale financial assets Available-for-sale financial assets are
presented in the balance shectin non-current finanaial assers
A changein the fair value of avaidable-for-sale financial assets
1s recogmsed 1n the shareholders” equity fair value reserve,
from which 1t 1s transferred to the income statement in con-
nection with a sale

Finnair Group assesses on each closing date whether there
1s any objecuve evidence that the value of a financial asset 1tem
or group of 1tems has been tmpaired If there 1s objective evi-
dence tharan impairment loss has arisen for loans and orher
receivables entered at allocated acquisiion costin the balance
sheet or for held-to-maturity investments, the size of the loss 15
determined as the difference the book value of the asser item
and the present value of expecred future cash flows of the sard
financial assec item discounted at the ongiat effecove interest
rate Theloss g 1ecognised through proficand loss

Finanaial habilines are recogrused at fair value on the ba-
s15 of the original consideranion recerved Transactions costs
haye been included 1n the orginal carrying amoune of the fi-
nancal habilities Larer, all Anancial habihoies are valued at
allocated acquisition cost using the effective yreld method
or at fair value through proficor loss Finanaal habihtes are
included in long- and short-term habilities and they can be
interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing

Unquoted shares are valued 1n the Finnair Group at their
acquisition price 1n the absence of a reliable fair value

Loan recewvables and other receivables are recognised atam-
ortised cost using the effectve interest method. Loans and
other recevables include trade receivables, deferred charges,
other long term receivables and security deposits for aircraft
operational lease agreements

Trade payables are recognised mmnally at fair value and sub-
sequently measured at amorused cost using the effectve in-
terest method

Derecogmuon of financial habihnoes cakes place when Group
has filled the contractual obhganoens

Derecogmuon of financial assets takes place when the Group has
losracontractual nght ro recenve the cash flows or when st has trans-
ferred substannally the risks and rewards outside the Group

Fair values of financtal habilhines a1 e based to discounted cash
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flows Interest raic anises from risk free portron and company
risk premium Fair value of Finance lease contracts 15 evalu-
ated by discounting cash flows with interest, which comphies
with interest from other similar lease concracts Other than
derivative recewvables are in balance sheet at thetr onginal val-
ue, because discounting them 1s irrelevant considering short
marurity Accounts payable and other loans are recognised at
thewr origmal value, because discounnng them is rrrelevant
considering short maruricy

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and short-
term bank deposits whose rerm to maturity 1s a maximum
of three months Foretgn exchange-denominared 1ems have
been convetted into euros using the mid-market exchange
rates on the closing date

Derivate instruments
Denvative inscruments are valued in the balance sheet at fair
value, which s determuined as the value at which the instru-
ment could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing and
independent parties, with no compulsion 1n che sales situ-
atson to sell or buy The fair values of dertvatives are deter-
mtned as follows

The fatr values of all derivatives are calculated using the ex-
change rares, interest rates, volanlities and commodity price
quotations on the closing date The fair values of currency
forward contracts are calculated ar the present value of fu-
ture cash flows The fair values of currency oprions are calcu-
lared using generally accepted option valuation models The
fair values of interest rate swap conrracts are calculared ac
the presenct value of future cash flows The farr values of in-
terest rare and currency swap contracts are calculated at the
present value of furure cash flows The fair values of interest
rate options are calculated using generally accepted option
valuation models The fair values of commodity contracts are
caleulated at the presenc value of future cash fiows The farr
values of opnions are calculared using generallv accepred op-
non valuanion models

Shareholders’ equity
The nominal value of shares has been recognised i the share
capital before an amendment o the Articles of Association
registered on 22 March 2007

At the end of the financial vear, the nonnal value of paid
but as yet uncegistered shares 1s recogrised in the share 1ssue
account Share 1ssue gains that arose n 1997-2006 have been
recogmsed 1n the share premium account, less transaction
expenses, reduced by tax effect, relaung to increases in share
capital Addinonally, costs of the company’s share-based pay-
ments are recogrised n the share premium account as per
the IFRS 2 standard Possible gains from the sale of rreas-
ury shares, reduced by tax effect, have been: recogmised mn the
share premium account before the new Companies Act came
wnto effect on 1 Seprember 2006 Gains from the sale of treas-
ury shares that rake place after the change 1n legislation are

recognised, reduced by rax effect, 1n the invested unrestricred
equury fund

The share 1ssue gain from the 2007 share 1ssue, less trans-
action expenses, has been recognised in the tnvesred unre-
stricted equary fund

Gains from share 1ssues arising before 1997 have been rec-
ognised 1n the general reserve

The fair value reserve includes changes in the fair value of
dervauve 1astruments used 1n cash-flow hedging liss de-
ferred taxes

Retamed earmngs include profit from previous finanaial
years, less dividends distributed and acquisiions of own shares
In connection with the sale of own shares (treasury stock)
the onginal acquisition cost is returned to retained earmings
Under the IAS 8 standard, changes 1n accounting principles
and errois are also tecogmsed n the results of previous fi-
nancial years

Dindend
The drvidend hability to the company’s shareholders 1s rec-
ogntsed as 2 habihity in theconsohdated financial statements
when a meeting of shareholders has dectded on the dividend
diseribution

Treasury stock (own shares)

When the company or its subsidharies have acquired their own
shares, the company’s shareholders’ equury 1s deducted by an
amount consisting of the consideration paid less transaction
costs after taxes unless the own shares are cancelled No gan
or loss 1s entered 1n the income statement for the sale, 1ssue
or cancellation of own shares, the considerarion received 1s
presented as a change of shareholders’ equity

Employee benefits

PENSION LIABILITIES
Pension schemes are classified as defined-benefrand defined-
contriburion schemes Payments made inro defined-concribu-
tion penston schemes are recogrused 1n the iIncome statement
in the period ro which the paymenrapphes In defined-benefir
pension schemes, obligations are calculated using the projecred
unit credst methed Pension expenses are recognised as an ex-
pense over the employees’ period of service based on calcula-
nionts made by authorised actuaries Actuanal gains and losses
are recognised in the income staternent over the employees’
average remanng term of service to the extent thar they ex-
ceed the greater of the following 10% of pension obliganons
or 10% of the fair value of assers When calculating the present
value of pension obligations the interest rate on government
securities 1s used as che discount rate The terms to maruniry
of government securities approximate to the terms to maru-
rity of the related pension habilittes

The Group’s foreign sales offices and subsidiaries have van-
ous pension schemes that comply wath the local rules and
pracuces of the countnes in queston All of the most sigmfi-
cant pension schemes are defined-contnbution schemes The
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statutory pension cover of the employees of the Group’s Finn-
1sh compantes has been handled by a Finnush pension nsur-
ance company The pension cover is a defined-contribunion
scheme The pension schemes of the parent company’s Presi-
dent & CEQ and members of the Board of Management as
well as those of the managing directors of subsidianes are in-
dividual schemes, and the retremenc ages under these schemes
vary from 60 to 65 years All of these pension schemes are also
defined-contribucion schemes

Other {voluntary) pension cover has been arranged 1in Finnair
Plc’s Pension Fund, in which the pension schemes are enurely
defined-benefitschemes These schernes specifi pension ben-
efits disabthiy compensanon, post-reurement health-care and
life insurance benefits as well as benefits paid m connection
with the termunanon of employment

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
All of the Group’s post-employment benefits are defined-con-
tnbution benefits

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
During the financial year the Group has had a share bonus
scheme to which che IFRS 2 standard applies

In the share bonus scheme 2007-2009, key individuals are
allocated shares and those who belong to the scheme have the
posstbiliry to recewve as the bonus both company shares and
cash amountung to 1 5 tumes the share bonus The bonus is
awarded for a three-year performance period and according to
how targets set for the performance pertod have been achieved
The Board of Direcrors decides annually the targets to be ser
The targets are deter mined on the basis of the Group's financial
and/or operanional development Achieving the rargets set for
the performance pertod determines how large a proporoen of
the maximum bonus will be paid The fair value of the granted
shares on the dare they are granted 1s recognised in personnel
expenses and as an increase in shareholders’ equuty during the
finanaial period according to how the degree of fulfilment of
the targets 1s assessed The cash bonus is recognised on the basis
of the fair value of the shares at each point 1n time in personnel
expenses and as a hability The expense impact on the pertod in
question ts allocated in the tnterim reports Own shares for the
share bonus scheme have been acquired in the market, so the
granung of these shares does not dilute share ownership

Provisions

Provistons are recogrused w hen the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as che result of a pastevent, the ful-
filment of the payment obligatton is probable and a reliable
esnmate of the amount of the obligation can be made 1fir
1s possible to receive compensanion for parr of the obhigation
from a third party, the compensation 1s recogmised as an as-
set item when 1115 1n pracuce certain that the compensanon
will be received Provisions are valued at the ner present val-
ue of the expenses required to cover the obligation The dis-
count factor used when calculaung present value 1s selected
so that 1t describes the marker view at the time of exarmina-

Financial Reporc

ton of the time value of the money and the risk relaning to
the obligatnion

Restructuring provisions are recogiused when the Group
has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun to
implement the plan or has announced it will do so A restrue-
turing plan must include at least the following information
the operations affected, the main operating points affected,
the workplace locations, working rasks and estimated number
of the people who will be paid compensarion for the ending
of their employment, the likely costs and the date of imple-
mentartion of the plan

The Group 15 obhiged to surrender leased aircraft ar a cer-
rain mamtenance standard To fulfil these mamtenance obh-
ganions the Group recognises heavy mantenarnce provisions
The basis for the provision 1s fhight hours flown during the
maintenance period

Segment reporting
Segment formation 1s presented according to the Group’s
bustness and geographical segment diviston The Group's pri-
mary form of segment reporting 1s according to business seg-
ments Business segments are based on the Group’s internal
urgamisavonal strucrure and financial reporung of manage-
ment The business segments are Scheduled Passenger Traffic,
Leisure Traffic, Avanion Services and Travel Services

The Scheduled Passenger Traffic segment s responsible for
sales, service concepis, fight operatrons and funcnons related
to the procurement and finanamg of arrctaft Scheduled Pas-
senger Traffic leascs to the Leisure Traffic dovision the flight
crews it requires In 2008 the umits belonging the Scheduled
Passenger Traffic segment were Finnair Scheduled Passenger
Traffic, the feeder arrhine Aero As, Finnair Cargo Oy and Finnair
Cargo Terminal Qperations Oy as well as Finnair Asrcraft Fr-
nance Oy, which manages the Group’s flect

The Lewsure Traffic segment consists of Finnair Leisure
Flights and the package tour companies Oy Aurinkomatkar-
Suntours Lid Ab, Matkayhtyma Oy, Calypso and Ou Hori-
zon Travel

The Aviation Services segment comprises arrcraft mainte-
nance services, ground handling and che Group's catering op-
erations as well as real-estare managemenr and facilicy serv-
ices for Finnair’s operattonal prenuses In 2008 the following
compantes belonged to the Aviation Services business seg-
ment Finnair Carering Oy, Finncatering Oy, Finnarr Facth-
nes Management Oy and Northport Oy

The Travel Services segment consists of the Group’s domestic
and foreign travel agency operanons as well as the operations
of the reservations systems suppher Amadeus Finland Oy The
mest significant companies 1n 2008 a1 Finland Travel Bureau
Ltd, A/S Estravel and Matkatoimusto Oy Area.

Pricing between segments takes place at the going marker price

The assets and Labilities of segments are business irems
which the segment uses in 11s business operations or which on
sensible grounds are arrribuzable to the segments Unartribur-
able itemsinclude tax and financial items as well asitems com-
mon to the whole company Investments consist of increases
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in rangible fived asseis and intangible assets which are used
in more than one financaal year

Although the Group’s four business segments are managed
from Minland they operate in five geographical areas Minland,
Europe, Asia, North America and Orhers

The rurnover of the geographical segments 1s presenred ac-
cording to sales destination, and assets according to the lo-
cation of the asset

Accounting principles requiring management
discretion and the main uncertammity factors
relating to estimates

The preparanon of financial statements requires the use of
esumates and assumpuons relaning to the future, and the ac-
tual outcomes may differ from the esumares and assumpttons
made Inaddicion, discretion has to be exercised in applying the
accounung principles of the financial statements Esumartes
are based on management’s best view on the closing dare Pos-
sible changes in estimates and assumprions are entered 1nto the
accounts in the financial period during which the estmates
and assumpuions are adjusted and in all subsequent financial
periods The main 1tems requiring management discretion are
as follows impairment tesung and deferred taxes

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash generating urnuts have been
determined 1n calculanions based on value 1n use The prepa-
rauon of these calculations requires the use of estimates Es-
nmates are based on budgers and forecasts, which inherently
contain some degree of uncertainty The main uncertainty
factors 1n calculations are the USD/EUR exchange rate, unic
revenue and estimated sales volumes Furtherinformation on
umpalrment testing 1s pt’esenred n Note 16

Deferred taxes
Ualising deferred taxes, arising parncularly from losses, re-
quires a management assessment of the future trend of busi-
nessoperations Further informauen on deferred taxes is pre-
sented 1n Note 20

Application of new and amended IFRS
standards and IFRIC interpretations

The IASB has published the following standards and mrer-
pretanions whose application will be mandatory 1n 2009 or
later The group has not early adopted these standards, butr
will adopt them tn later periods

THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
WILL BE ADOPTED BY THE GRQUP IN 2009

IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ The interpreratton
clartfies chat where goods or services are sold cogether with
a customer loyalty incenuive, the arrangement 1s a mulciple-
element arrangement and the consideration recewvable from
the customer 1s allocared berween the components of the

arrangement using fair values The group operates loyalty
programmes as defined by the interpretanion in the scheduled
traffic segment The adopnion of the inrerprecation will resulc
in reclassificavion of abous 30 million euros to deferred credrrs
on 1 January 2009 when 1t will change the turnover, deferred
raxes and retained earnings of the previous year

I1AS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ The
revised standard 1s asmed ar improving users’ ability to analyse
and compare the informacon given i financaal statements by
separating changes in equuty of an ennty anising from transactions
with owners from other changes in equity Non-owner changed
tn equity will be presented in the statement of comprehensive
income Itislikely that che group willin the future presencboth the
income statement and statement of comprehensive mcome

Amendment to [AS 23, ‘Borrowing Costs’ The amended
standard requires an encry to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to a qualifying asser as part of the cost of that
asset The option of immediarely expensing those borrowing
costs will be removed The group will commence capiralisa-
tion of borrowing cost telated to such undertakings as well
as projects to be accounted for under the stage of completion
method embarked in 2009 Such Borrowing Costs are expected
to be most in the Scheduled Traffic segment

Amendments to IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments Presentanon’
and IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ - Puttable
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liqudation

The amendments require some putrable financial instruments
and some financial instruments that impose on the enoty an
obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the
net assets of the entity only on hquidanion to be classified as
equity The amendment s not expecred ro have an impact on
the group’s inanaial statements

Amendment 10 [FRS 2, ‘Share-based payment clanfies that
only service conditions and performance conditions are vesting
conditions All other features need to be inciuded 1n the granc
date fair value and do notimpact the number of awards expected
to vest or the valuation subsequent to grant date The amend-
ment also specifies that all cancellauons, whecher by the entity
or by other parties, should receive the same accounung treat-
ment The amendment is not expecred to have an impact on
the group's financial statements

IFRS 8, 'Operating Segments’ The new standard replacesIAS
14 The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under
which segment informatton 1s presented on che same basis
as that used for internal reporting purposes The segments
reported by the group will also 1n the furure be the same as
the business segmencs under IAS 14, but the manner in which
the segments are reported, will change shghtly to be consistent
with the internal reporung
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« IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 - Group and treasury share transactions’
The interpretation provides guidance on whether share-based
transactions invelving treasury shares or involving group entt-
ties should be accounted for as equity settled or cash-settled
share-based payment rransactions in the stand-alone accounts
of the parent and group companies The interpretation will not
have a matertal impact on the group’s financial statements

IFRIC 14, ‘TAS 19 — The Lumit on a Defined Benefit Asser,
Minimum Funding Requirements and thetr Interaction’ The
mterpretation s apphied o pust-emplovment defined benefit
plans and other long-term defined benefit plans under 1AS
19, 1f the plan tncludes mimimum funding requirements The
interpretanon also clanifies che criteria fot 1ecogmunion of an
asset on furure refunds or reducnons in future contnbutions
The management assesses that the interpretation will have an
effect on the accounting for some of the defined benefit plans
of the group, but the impact on the on the group s finanaal
statements will most likely not be marerial

IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estare’ The
mrerpreracion clanfies wherher an agreement for the construc-
tion of real estate 15 within the scope of IAS 11, ‘Construcrion
Contracts’, or [AS 18, ‘Revenue’, and when revenue from such
construction projects can be recognised on a percenrage of
completton basis This interpretation does not have an impace
on the group s Anancial statements *

IFRIC 16, "Hedges of a Net Investment 1n a Foreign Opera-
ton’ IFRIC 16 clarifics the accounung treavment 1n respect
of a hedge of a net investment 10 a foreign operation This
includes the fact that net investment hedging relares ro differ-
ences in functional currency not presentation currency
In addinon hedging instruments may be held anywhere in the
group The requirements of 1AS 21, ‘The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates’, do apply to the hedged item. Management
assesses that the mrerpretanon will increase the group’s poss:-
bilittes to apply hedge accounning, but the impact on the on the
group’s inanoal statements will most hkely not be matenal *

1ASB PUBLISHED CHANGES TO 34 STANDARDS IN MAY
2008 AS PART OF THE ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRSS
PROJECT THE FOLLOWING PRESENTATION INCLUDES
THOSE CHANGES, THAT THE GROUP WILL ADOPT IN 2009
AND WHERE THE MANAGEMENT ASSESSES THAT THE
CHANGE MAY HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE GROUP’S
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

= TAS 1 {Amendment), ‘Presuntanion of finanaal statements’
The amendment clarifies that some rather than all financial
assets classified as held for erading 1n accordance wich 1AS
39 are current assets Management assesses that the amend-
ment will not have a matenal impacet on the financial state-
ments of the group
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« 1AS 16 (Amendment), ‘Property, plant and equipment’ (and
consequential amendment 1o JAS 7, ‘Sratement of cash Aows’)
Enniueswhose ordinary acnvities comprise renting and subse-
quently selling assets present proceeds from the sale of those
assers as revenue and should transfer the carrying amount of
the asser to tnvenrories when the asset becomes held for sale
A consequential amendment to IAS 7 states thar cash flows
arising from purchase, renral and sale of those assers are clas-
sified as cash flows from operating acuvites Management
15 assessing the impact of this amendment on the financial
statements of the group

1AS 19 (Amendment), ‘Employee benefits’ The amendmunt
clarifies among others things that a plan amendment thac
resultsina changein the excent to which benefit promises are
affecred by future salary increases 15 a curtatlment, while an
amendment that changes benefits attniburable to past serwice
gIves rise 1o a negative past service cost if it results in a reduction
in the presentyalue of the defined benefitobliganon Manage-
ment assesses that the amendmenc will not have a matenal
impact on the financial statements of the group

IAS 20 (Amendment), ‘Accounting for government grants and
disclosure of government assistance’ The benefit of a below
market rate government loan 1s measured as the difference between
the carrying amountn accordance with IAS 39 and the proceeds
received with the benefic accounted for in accotdance with IAS 20
Management assesses that the amendmentwill not have a mare-
t1al impact on the financial starements of cthe gioup

1AS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ The defiminon of
borrowing costs has been amended so that interest expense
1s calcudated using che effecnive interest method defined in 1AS
39 Management assesses that the amendment will not havea
matenial impact on the financaial statements of the group

IAS 27 (Amendment), ‘Consolidated and separate finan-
cial statements’ Where an invesrment 1n a subsidiary that 1s
accounted for under IAS 39, ‘Financial instcruments recog-
niton and measutement’ 1s classified as held for sale under
IFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held-for-sale and disconanued
operations’, IAS 39 would continue to be applied. Manage-
ment assesses that the amendment will not have a matenal
impact on the financial statements of the group

IAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investiments 1n associares’ (and conse-
quenual amendments to IAS 32, ‘Financiai Instruments Pres-
entation’ and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments Disclosures’)

Where an investment 1n associate 1s accounted for in accord-
ance with IAS 39, only certain rather than all disclosure require-
ments in IAS 28 need to be made 1n addition to disclosures
required by IAS 32 and IFRS 7 The group will not reduce the
amoune of nformaunon prescnted in the notes to the financial
statements of the group in the way allowed by the amendment,
buc wall continue the current presentation




» IAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments 1n associates’ (and conse-
quental amendments ro IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments Pres-
entatiory’, and IFRS 7, ‘Finanaal instruments Disclosures’)
Annvestment 1n an associate 1s treated as a single asset for the
purposes of impairment testing Any tmpatrment loss 1s not
allocated to specific assets included wichin the mvestment, for
example, goodwill Reversals of impairment are recorded asan
adjustment to the investment balance 1o the exrent thar the
recoverable amount of the associate increases Management
assesses thar the amendment will not have a matenal impact
on the finanaal statements of the group

IAS 31 (Amendment), ‘Interests in joint ventures’ (and conse-
quential amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7) Where an invest-
ment 1n Joint venture 1s accounted for in accordance wirh 1AS
39, only certain rather than all disclosure requirements n
IAS 31 need ro be made in addinion to disclosures required by
IAS 32 and IFRS 7 The group will not reduce the amount of
informanion presented 1n the notes to the hnancial statements
of the group in the way allowed by the amendment, bur will
contnue the current presentation

IAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impatrment of assers” Where farr value
less costs to sell 15 calculared on the basis of discounted cash
fows disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use calcula-
tion should be made The change ro the standard will increase
the amount of information presented on impairment testing
in the notes to the financial scatements of the gioup

IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ A prepayment may
only be recognised 1n the event thar payment has been made
i advance of obtaiung right of access to goods or receipt of
services This means that an expense will be recognised for mail
order catalogues when the group has access to the catalogues
and not when the catalogues are distributed to customers
Management assesses thar the amendment will nor have a
material impact on the finanaial statements of the group

+ 1AS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets” The amendment
deletes the wording that states thar there 1s ‘rarely, if ever’
suppott for use of a method that results in 2 lower rate of amor-
tisation than the scraight-line method Management assesses
that the amendment will not have a marerial impact on the
financial statements of the group

IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Fiancial instruments Recogninion and
measurement’ The amendment clartfies among other things
the classificanon of derivative instruments where there s a
change 1n the hedge accounung, the definiton of financial
asset or financial habdicy ac fasr value chrough profic or loss
and requures use of a revised effective inrerest rate to remeasure
the carrying amount of a debt instrument on cessation of
farr value hedge accounting Management assesses thar the
amendment will not have a material impact on the finanaal
staternents of the group
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+ 1AS 40 (Amendment), ‘Investment property’ (and consequential
amendments to IAS 16) Property that s under construcnon
or development for future use as investment property is within
the scope of IAS 40 Where the fair value model is applied, such
property s, therefore, measured at fair value However, where
fair value of investment property under construction 1s not
reliably measurable, the property1s measured at costunal the
earlier of the date construcrion 1s complered and the dare at
which fair value becomes rehably measurable The amendment
wiall increase the number properties classified as investmenc
propertes in the group financial starements

THE FOLLOWING NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE IN 2009 ARE NOT RELEVANT
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP

+ IFRS 1 (Amendment) ‘Furst ume adopnion of [FRS’, and IAS
27 ‘Consohdared and separate financial statements’} The
amended standard allows first-time adopters to use a deemed
cost of erther farr value or the carrying amount under previous
accounting practice to measure the imuial cost of investments
i subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates 1n the
separate financial statements The amendment also removes
the defintnion of the cost method from TAS 27 and replaces
it with a requirement to present dividends as income in the
separate financial statements of the investor The amendment
does not have an impact on the group’s financial statements,
and che group companies are not applying IFRS in ther stand
alone financial scatements

THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
PUBLISHED BY THE IASB WiLL BE ADOPTED BY THE GROUP
IN 2016

1FRS 3 (Revised), ‘Businesscombinations’ The revised standard
continues toapply the acquisiton method to business combina-
rions, with some significant changes Forexample, all pay ments
to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the
acqusition date, with some contingent payments subsequently
remeasured at fair value chrough income Goodwill may be
calculated based on the parent’s share of net assets or 1t may
include goodwll related to the munorizy inrerest All transaction
costs will be expensed Managementis assessing the impact of
this revision on the financial scatemnents of the group *

« 1AS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidared and separare financial state-
ments’ The revised standard requires the effects of all trans-
acnons with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equuty
1f there 1s no change 1n control They will no longer result in
goodwill or gains and losses The standard also specifies the
accountng when controlislost Any remaiming interestn the
entity 1s remeasured to fair value and a gain or loss 1s recogrused
1n profic or loss Management 1s assessing the impact of this
revision on the financial statements of the group
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+ IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments Recogmition
and measurement - Eligible Hedged Items’ The amendment
prohibics designaning inflation as a hedgeable componencof
a fixed rate debt 1t also prohibuts including tume value in the
one-sided hedged risk when designaung options as hedges
This amendment does not have an impact on the group’s Anan-
cial statements *

« IFRS 5 (Amendment), ‘Non-currenc assets held-for-sale and
discontinued operanons’ (and consequennal amendment to
IFRS 1, ‘First-nime adopuion’} The amendment s part of the
IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008
The amendment clanifies that all of a subsrdiary s assets and
hrabilines are classified as held for sale 1f a parnal disposal sale
plan results in loss of control Relevant disclosure should be
made for this subsidiary 1f the definition of a discontinued
operation 1s met A consequential amendment to IFRS 1 states
that these amendments are applied prospectively from the date
of transition to IFRSs Management s assessing the tmpact of
this reviston on the financial scatements of the group *

IFRIC 17, ‘iistributions of non-cash assets to owners’ The
interpretation clartfies how an entine should measure distn-
butions of assets other than cash made as a dividend to 1ts
owners Management 1s assessing the impact of this interpre-
tation on the financral statements of the group *

IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers The interpre-
tanion clanifies the requiremencs of 1FRS standards for agtoee-
ments 1n which an enory recewves from a customer an item
of property, plant and equipment or cash to be invested in
such an item that the entity must then use erther to connect
the customer to a nerwork or to provide the customer with
ongoing access ro a supply of goods or services Management
15 assessing the impact of this mterpretanon on the financial
staternents of the group *

»
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THE FOLLOWING NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE IN 2010 ARE NOT
RELEVANT TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE
GROQUP

IFRIC 12,"Service Concession Arrangements’ The interpre-
tation applies to contractual arrangements whereby a privare
sector operator paracipaces 1o the development, finanaing,
operation and maintenance of infrastrueture for pubhe secror
services *

THE FOLLOWING NEW STANDARDS, CHANGES TO
STANDARDS AND THE APPLICATION OF
INTERPRETATIONS WHICH ARE PERCEIVED TO BE
ESSENTIAL FOR THE GROUP HAVE BEEN INTRODUCED
FROM THE BEGINNING OF 2008

[FRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions
The interpretation clarifies the rearment of transacoions
relating to an ennty’s own equity tnstruments ot to Group
companies in the parent company and in Group companies’
finanaial statements by providing gudance on their classifi-
cation into share-based transactions payable as shareholders’
equuty or payable as cash The interpreration has no 1impact
on the consohdated financial starements

1AS 39 (Amendment) and IFRS 7 (Amendment} Reclassi-
fication of Mnancial Assets * The amendment faciliraces
the reclassification of finanaial assets from financial assets
held for trading purposes or inancial assets avadable-for-sal
under certain conditons and only 1n special situations In
such cases addicronal disclosures are required 1n the finan-
c1al statements The amendment has been effective as of 1
July 2008 The interpretation has no impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements

* The standard/interpretation 1s sull subject to endorsement by the European Union

A copy of the consolidated finanaal statements can be obrained ax the mnternet address www finnair com/group or from the head
office of the Group’s parent company at the address Tietoue 11 A, Vantaa Finland The full financial statements contaiming the

finanaal statements of both the Group and the parent company can be obtamed from the head office of the Group s parent com-

pany at the address Tierone 11 A, Vantaa, Finland

These financial statements do not conrain all of the parent company’s financial statement informanon under

the Finnish Accounting Act
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Annual informauon

Segment informarion is presented according to the Group’s business and geographical segment division The Group’s primary
form of segment reporting s according to business segments Business segments are based on the Group's internal orgamsanonal

steucture and finaneaial reporting of management The business segments are Scheduled Passenger Traffic, Letsure Traffic, Avianon
Services and Travel Services Pricing berween segments takes place at fair value The assers and Labilities of segments are such bust-
ness items which the segment uses in 1ts business operations or which on sensible grounds are artnibutable to the segments Unat-
tributable items melude tax and financial items as well as 1tems common o the whole company Investments consist of mcreases

i tangble and intangible assets which are used 1n more than one finanaial year Groups geographical areas are Innland, Europe,

liabilities, deprecianion and investmencs according to their location

Asia, North America and Others The turnover of the geographical segments is presented according to sales destination, and assets,

‘ Primary reporting format — business segment data 1 Jan-31 Dec 2008

)
Scheduled i
Passenger Leisure Aviation Travel Group  Unallocated
X EUR mili Traftic Trafhic Services Services  ehminations zems Group i
i External turnover 1,634 9 4471 106 8 738 2,2626 |
| internal urnover 100 8 75 3390 41 -451 4 00
E Turnover 1,7357 454 6 445 8 779 -451 4 a0 22626 |
i Operating profit -27 6 267 109 13 -63 9 -521
! Share of results of associated undertakings 03 03
| Financiat ncome 221 221 |
Financial expenses -267 -267 |
| Income tax 14 6 146
Minority interest -0 2 02
Profit for the financral year -4240 |
' !
Segment assets 1,302 0 1919 3282 880 -3537 5135 20699 |
Holdings in associated undertakings 61 61 |
Assets, rtotal 1,302 0 1919 3282 880 -3537 5196 2,0760 |
!
,! Segment habilities 860 2 122 8 134 341 -261 S 4342 13032
; Otheritemns :
i invesiments 196 1 43 342 07 oo 13 2328
! Depreciation 774 04 305 15 go 04 1102 |
f \
|
! Primary reporting format — business segment data 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
) Scheduled i
Passenger Lersure Awviazion Travel Group Unallocated I
EUR mull Traffic Trafhe Services Services  eliminations tems Group
External turnover 1,578 3 403 6 1210 776 2,180 5
Internal turnover 10670 60 3129 47 -430 6 00
Turnover 1,685 3 409 6 4339 823 -430 6 00 2,180 5
Operanng profit 792 242 169 29 183 1415
Share of results of associated undertakings 01 01 |
Financial ncome 172 172 |
Financial expenses -19 9 -199
Mncome tax -36 8 -36 8
' Minority interest 05 -0§
' Profit for the finanaal year 06

S
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Scheduled
Passenger Lesure Aviation Travel Group  Unallocated
EUR mull Traffic Traffic Senvces Services  elinunations items Group
Segment assers 1,314 9 148 8 2837 832 -244 8 5521 2,379
Heoldings in associated undertakings 57 57
Assets, total 1,314 9 148 8 2837 832 -244 8 5578 2,436
Segment habilinies 652 4 707 828 373 -1513 4647 1,156 6
Other items
tnvestments 284 6 02 375 15 00 25 3263
Depreciation 04 260 16 00 29 1126
Employees (average) by segment
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 jan-31 Dec .
2008 2007
Scheduled Passenger Traffic 4,254 4,151 '
Leisure Traffic 464 372 .
Aviauon Services 3,650 3,674
Travel Services 1,078 1,129
Other operauons 148 154 '
Total 9,595 9,480
Employees at end of year 9,617 9,657 '
Secondary reporting format - geographical segments '
Turnover outside the Group by sales segment '
1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec l
EUR mill 2008 2007
Finland 4343 4197
Europe 965 8 9928 |
Asia 710 8 626 3
North Amenca 676 63 2
Others 841 785 '
Total 2,262.6 21805 '
1
Segment assets according to country of location !
31 Dec 31 Dec :
EUR mill 2008 2007
Finland 1,783 0 1,701 8
Europe 777 835
Asia 40 8 408 |
North America 15 15
Orthers 71 30 ¢
Group eliminatons -3537 244 8
Unallocated items 5196 5578
Total 2,076.0 2,143 6
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Segment habihties according to country of locaton

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Finland 1,063 8 7799
Europe 325 329
Asia 267 247
Narth America 17 19 ¢
Others 58 38 '
Group eliminauons -2615 1513
Unallocated items 434 2 464 7 |
_Total 1,303.2 1,156.6 |
|
Capital expenditure by country of location !
T Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
' Finland 232 5 326 2
Europe 03 61
[ Asia g0 0o |
North America 00 00 |
* Others 00 00 |
Unallocated items 00 0o |
Total 232.8 326.3 |
t
4
QUARTAL INFORMATION |
Consolidated income statement
[o)] Q2 Q3 Q4 Q Q2 Q3 Q4
EUR muill 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007
Turnover 576 5 546.1 559.7 580.3 5285 538.1 5452 568.7 |
. Producuon for own use 01 05 05 05 08 05 11 06 |
" Other operaung income 59 83 43 86 59 107 246 16 |
' Operating income 582.5 5549 564.5 589.4  535.2 549.3 5709 S$80.9 |
' Operating expenses
Employee benefit expense 140 5 128 2 129 3 143 0 1351 1272 1291 1501
Fuel 1349 143 5 158 2 1313 103 2 104 3 116 5 159 |
Lease payments for arcraft 204 207 207 208 217 191 19 8 206
. Other rental payments 180 172 133 208 172 153 160 153
" Fleet materials and overhauls 197 192 195 377 222 192 170 18 3
Traffic charges 43 6 471 48 6 49 2 437 44 4 46 0 42 9
Ground handling and
catering expenses 352 365 381 368 3635 427 391 360
Expenses for tour operauions 44 6 255 274 41 4 358 230 250 368
' Sales and marketing expenses 271 249 240 279 194 271 191 26 4
., Deprecianion and impairment 277 281 320 22 4 273 277 320 256
" Other expenses 587 43 3 78 2 118 2 5394 62 2 514 62 2
" Total 5704 534.2 589 3 649.5 521.§ 512.,2 5110 550.1

-



42

Financial Report

Q Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
EUR mill 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007
Operating profit 1241 207 -24 8 -60.1 13.7 371 59.9 308
Financial income 54 72 54 41 36 26 20 90
Financial expenses -99 -8 8 -2 9 -51 -39 -54 -6 0 46 |
Share of result of i
associated companies g0 00 00 03 00 01 00 00 :
Profit before taxes 7.6 191 -22 3 -60 8 13.4 344 55.9 352
Income taxes -21 -52 50 16 9 -4 -8 4 -161 -8 2
Profit far the financial year 5.5 139 -173 -43.9 9.3 26.0 39.8 270
Share attnibutable to parent '
company’s shareholders 55 139 -17 3 -44 1 93 258 396 269 1
Mmonty interests 00 00 00 02 00 02 02 01
{
Earnings per share calculated from profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company ;
Basic earnings per !
share, EUR/share 005 012 -015 -0 35 on 029 044 020
Diluzed earnings per
share, EUR/share 005 012 -015 -0 35 on 029 044 020
Comparison year figures have been converted to cotrespond with the presentauion practice of the year ended
Consolited balance sheet !
31 Mar 30 Jun 30 5ep 31 Dec 31 Mar 30)un 305ep 31 Dec 31 Dec 1
EUR mull 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007 2006
ASSETS !
Non-current assets |
intangible assets 49 0 48 9 477 481 48 6 48 5 470 46 6 475 |
Tangible assets 12347 12320 1,2427 1,2721 10511 11656 1,632 1,689 10123 !
Holdings in associated }
companies 58 58 58 61 56 56 57 57 56 F
Recewvables 12 9 199 215 215 153 150 14 3 138 154 |
Deferred tax assets 210 235 123 49 8 233 177 181 104 271
1,323 4 11,3301 1,3300 1,3976 1,1442 1,2524 12483 12454 1,079 |
Current assets :
lnventories 401 38 3 376 351 403 40 4 398 361 385
' Trade recewables and |
other recewvables 3676 4778 3585 2318 286 3 264 0 3076 2873 2118 |
Other financial assets 4436 4185 3577 3738 192 6 2257 2318 5186 2686 |
Cash and cash equivalents 175 18 6 16 3 18 3 28 9 212 26 6 215 257 |
8688 9532 7701 659 0 5481 5513 6058 8635 544 6 |
Non-current assets held for sale 328 16 2 353 19 4 76 262 112 347 76 |
Assets, total 2,225.0 2,299.5 2,1354 2,076.0 1,6999 1,8299 1,865.3 2,143.6 1,6601 |
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Consolited balance sheet

31 Mar 30)un 305ep 3 Dec 31 Mar 30)un 305ep 31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mil 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007 2006
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY '
AND LIABILITIES
Equity atnibutable 1o
shareholders of parent company :
Share capital 754 754 754 754 754 754 754 754 754 ,
Other equity 890 3 978 O 8876 6963 5384 5690 6051 9099 5245
9657 1,0534 9630 7717 6138 6444 6805 9853 5999
Minority interest 11 08 08 11 12 14 16 17 16 |
Shareholders’ equity, total 9668 1,0542 963.8 772.8 6150 645.8 682.1 987 0 6015 '
]
Non-current habiliies t
Deferred tax habilities 1501 176 3 1491 120 6 116 2 M75 1187 1445 157 !
Financial habihnes 2589 2269 24238 2611 2800 3177 3136 2696 2869 |
Pension obligauons 140 122 22 61 84 68 18 158 70 }
4230 4154 3941 3878 4046 4420 4441 4299 4096 |
Current iabilities J
Current income tax habihy 75 133 00 15 46 120 231 82 30 “
Prowvisions 538 543 533 615 571 591 56 5 536 557 |
Financial habilites 552 532 519 48 5 500 783 70 3 545 566 |
Trade payables and '
other habilines 718 7 709 1 6723 8039 5686 5660 5792 6104 5337
Liabilinies related to long-term
asset items held for sale 00 00 00 00 00 267 100 00 00
8352 8299 7775 9154 680 3 7421 7391 7267 6490 '
Liabilities, total 1,258.2 1,2453 11,1716 1,303.2 1,0849 1,1841 1,1832 1,156 6 1,058.6 |
!
Shareholders’ equity '
and habilities, total 2,2250 2,299.5 2,1354 2,076.0 16999 1,829.9 18653 21436 1,6601 ’
|
Segmentinformation |
Turnover by quarter |
o4 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q Q2 Q3 Q4
EUR mull 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007
Scheduled Passenger Traffic 423 2 438 9 447 4 426 2 3912 434 0 432 6 4275 !
Leisure Traffic 139 3 84 8 937 136 8 116 6 831 901 119 8
Aviation Services 109 9 1115 108 6 115 8 110 8 958 109 9 113 4
" Travel Services 211 206 18 3 179 207 22 4 190 202
Group eliminations -1170  -1097 -1083 -1164 -1108 -1012 -1064 -1122
Total 576.5 5461 559.7 580.3 5285 538.1 545.2 568.7 |
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Operating profit excluding the disposal of the capital assets fair value
changes of derivatives and arragement expenses by quater

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
EUR mill 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007
Scheduled Passenger Traffic 04 19 -4 0 276 03 277 288 200
Leisure Traffic 111 25 60 121 56 11 78 g7
Aviation Services 25 44 19 50 33 13 27 30
Travel Services 04 14 13 -10 13 12 13 09
Unallocated items 25 00 -24 -10 -41 -4 -14 -74
Total 111 5.2 28 -12.5 5.8 27.2 392 24.4

ACQUIRED BUSINESSES

The Finnair Group’s Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Led Ab signed an agreement on 23 October 2007 to acqure 80% of the share
stock of Russian Calypso company The acquisition price was 2 5 million euros and 1t was paid in cash The goodwill of 2 5 mullion
euros thar arose 1s based on the managemenr’s view that through the acquisition Aurinkomarkar will obrain a solid foothold i the

growing package tour market in Russia The transaction s also serengthened by synergy benefits on both sides of the Guif of Fintand

The company’s year 2008 loss, 2 0 nullton euros, s included in the consohdated income sratement for 2008 The company’s turno-
ver 2008 5 3 mullon euros, 1s included 1n full in the Group’s turnover During the fiscal year 2008 the addinional purchase price of

0 4 million curca has been paid as agreed for A/S Horizon Travel, which was acquired in the previous financial period

The purchase price of ¢ 4 million euros has been entered as a goodwill

Values of iabilines and acquired assets at the acquisition date’

Cash flow effect 26

]

Book values !

Recognised before !

EUR mull fair values consohidation
Trade and other receivables 01 o1 |
Cash and cash equivalents 03 03 |
Total 0.4 0.4 |
!

Other finanaial habilioes -03 03 |
Ner assets 01 01 ,
Minority interest {20%) 00 )
Bought net assets 01 '
i

AcquisItion ¢ost 29 .
Coodwil| (Met= 18 29 |
I

Acguisition price paid in cash 29 '
Cash and cash equivalents of acquired subsidiary -03 ;
i

;
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ASSET ITEMS SOLD AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Group had 1n the beginning of fiscal year oprions to acquire addinonal Norwegian Air Shuttle ASA’ s shares and increase 1ts
holding in Norwegian Air Shurttle ASA to around 10 per cent The opnions have not been used up to the end of fiscal year 2008,
when the use nght has ended In addition Norwegian Air Shuttle ASA wall pay the Group a sum corresponding to 50 per cent of
the profit from Fly Nordic’s charrer light business in the period begmning on 30 June 2007 and ending on 31 October 2008 Under
the agreement this sum s payable on 31 December 2008 Anything for encering for this agreemencis not recogmsed in the financial
statements of 31 Decembcr 2008 because the caleulanons of Norwegian Arr Shutde ASA are unfinished

Net assets and habilines of sold operations ;

EUR mull 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 00 17
Intangible assets 00 19
Tangible fixed assets 00 27 I
Trade recevables and other receivables 00 314 |
Loans 00 387 !
Total 00 1.0 |
Capiral gain 00 197
Consideranon, total 00 187 |
|
Paid cash and cash equivalents 00 23 |
Cash and cash equivalents of disposed subsidiary 00 -17
Net cash flow of disposal 0.0 06

Non-current assets held for sale

In the Scheduled Passenger Traffic segment the following have been classificd as avinlable for sale one MD-11 ancraft because the
sum corresponding to their carrying amount will accrue from the sale of the asset 1tem 1nstead of operational use The company
management has decided on their sale, with the intention of implementing it during 2009 The aircraft to be sold 1s for sale in their
present condition on the industry’s general and customary rerms and condinions Depreciarion of the aircraft and engines in ques-
uon was discontinued at the tme of classificanon Company has agreed to sell both of 1ts MD-11 asrcraft

In the Scheduled Passenger Traffic segment the following were classified as availablc for sale 1n 2007 one MD-11 aircraft, six M[D-80
arcraft and chree ATR-72 aireraft, because the sum corresponding ro their carrying amount acerued from the sale of the asset item
instead of operational use, and depreciation of the aircraft and engines in quesonon was disconunued at the ame of classification
The company management decided on their sale, which was implemented in spring 2008 according to plan

Impatrmencs torabing 0 0 nullion euros have been recogmised for the fleer in 2008 (prevtous year 3 0 rmllion euros) as the asset was
valued ar selling prices less costs of sale Impatrments are presented tn the income statement group ‘Depreciacion’

The book value of the non-current assets held for sale
EUR rmult 37 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007

Total 19 4 347

!
|
Arrcraft 19 4 347 |
|
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1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Companent production 09 12
Heavy mamntenance 07 18
Total 16 3.0
OTHER QPERATING INCOME

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Capiral gains on sales of tangible fixed assets 61 107
Capital gan from shares 01 00
Sell of subsidiaries 00 227
Rental income 40 44
Others 16 9 150 |
Total 271 52.8

Other operaning income includes frequent-flyer income of 70 millkion euros (6 8) and during the financial year, grants amoununyg
to 17 mulhon curos (1 6) The 1est consists of several items, none of w hich are indwidually significant

MATERIAL AND SERVICES

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec 1
EUR mull 2008 2007
Matenals and services 1
Materials and supplies for aircraft maintenance 397 325
Ground handling and caterning charges 146 6 154 3
Fuels for flight operations 5679 439 9 l
Expenses for tour operations 138 9 120 6
Aurcraft maintenance and servicing 564 44 2
Data administrauon services 49 5 523
Qther items Y 558 531 ¢
Total 1,054 8 896 9

Other operating expenses do not tnclude research and development expenses

" Consists of several irtems none of which are sndidually sigmficant
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Employee benefit expense
Wages and salanes 4277 417 8
Pension expenses 80 5 g§0¢
Other social expenses 328 437
Total 541.0 541.5

Personnel expenses includ recognition a non-recurning personnel restructung provision of 2 4 million euros as agreed 1n the Group’s
staturory employer-employee negotianions during 2008

Salanes and bonuses of Chief Executive Officer
and Members of the Board of Directors

l
1
Salary and :
EUR bonuses |
Chief Executive Officer |
Jukka Hienonen 1,061 534 !
Deputy Chief Executive Officer |
Henrik Arle 636 020 !
Members of the Board of Directors :
Christoffer Taxell 67,187 :
Kan Jordan 41,344 i
Satu Huber 33,634 !
Markku Hyvarinen 37,608 |
Veli Sundback 36,600 !
Pekka Timonen 26,127 :
Sigurdur Helgason 40,542
Kalewi Alestalo 10,400
Ursulaz Ranin 39,01

Furcher information on the share-based bonuses of the President and CEO and Members of the Board of Directors can be found
in Note 26

Personnel incennive scheme
The Group operates anincentive scheme based on abalanced scorecard, defined separately for each business unac which covers mosc
of the Finnair Group’s employees The total amount of bonuses in 2008 was 11 2 million euros (12 9)

Transfer to Personnel Fund

The Finnair Group has a profit bonus scheme, which allows employees to participate 1n a proficbonus pavable on the basis of the
Group's result and recurn on capreal employed A profit bonus s pard into a Personnel Fund, which 15 obhiged to invest part of the
bonus in Finnair Plc’s shares Ocher staff costs include € 0 mullion euros of profic bonus (9 5)
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1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Soaal expenses
Pension expenses - defined contribuuon schemes 747 738
Pension expenses ~ defined-benefit schemes, voluntary 53 57
Other defined-benefit expenses 05 05
Other social expenses 328 437
Total 113.3 1237
Management pension benefits
The pension schemes of the parent company’s President & CLO and members of the Board of Management as well as those of the
managing directors of subsidiaries are individual schentes, and the renirement age under these agreements varies from 60 to 65 years
Al of the management pension schemes are defined-conmbution schemes
10. DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets '
Buildings 53 49
Aurcraft 841 899 |
Other equipment 10 5 89 |
99 9 1037 |
Depreciation of intangible assets !
Orther intangible assets 103 89 |
103 89
Total 110.2 126 |
i
11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec |
EUR mull 2008 2007 |
Other operating expenses :
Lease payments for aircraft 826 812
Rental of cargo capacity 84 131 !
Other rental of flight capacity 295 143 )
Gffice and other rents 314 364
Traffic charges 188 5 154 3
Sales and marketing expenses 1039 920
IT expenses and booking fees 330 357
Qrther items” 1601 116 8
Total 637.4 543 8

Y Consists of several items, none of which are individually sigmificane




The auditor’s fees are included in the other items as follows
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1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Auditor’s fees
PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd
Auditor’s fees 02 02
Tax advising 01 00
Other fees 00 00
Tortal 03 02
i
Other 0o 00
|
FINANCIAL INCOME
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec !
EUR mill 2008 2007
Interest income
Interest ncome from financial assets classified as held far trading 189 104
Orther interest iIncome 00 0S5 ¢
18.9 109 |
Dwvidend income 00 02 '
Orher financial income 03 00 |
Exchange gains 29 61
Total 221 172
FINANCIAL EXPENSES
1 Jan-37 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR ull 2008 2007 |
Interest expenses ]
Interest expenses on financial labilities recognised at fair value }
through profit and loss 14 19 1{
Interest expenses for financial habilities valued i
at amorused acquisition cost 124 142 {
Interest on finance leases 29 12
16.7 17.3 |
Exchange losses 00 18
i Other financial expenses 100 08
Total 26.7 19.9

¢

U

Effecuiveness testing of the Group’s hedge accountuing found that buth cash flow and fair value hedging are Jffecuive Thus, asin the
comparson year 2007, no ineffekuveness s meluded in financial wems for 2008 Finaneial income includes an idenucal amount of
profits and losses for far value hedging instruments and for hedging 1tems resulong from the hedged rnisk
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Taxes for financial year

1)an-31 Dec 1 jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Tax based on taxable income of financial year 15 82
Tax based on taxable income of previous year -11 00
Deferred taxes -150 28 6
Total -14.6 368
The tax expense included in the consolidated income statement differs
in the following way from the theoretical sum obtained by using the tax rate
(26%) of the Group’s home country, Finland ‘

1Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR milt 2008 2007
Profit before taxes -56 4 1389 |
Taxes calculated using the Finnish tax rate 14 7 -361
Different tax rates of foreign subsidianes 00 g0 '
Share of result in associates 01 0Q |
Tax-free ncome -01 -0 8
Nondeductible expenses -0 4 -0 3
Deferred taxes from loss 03 04 |
Income taxes, total 14.6 -36 8

|

Effective tax rate 258% 26 5%

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The undilured earmimgs per share Agure 15 calculated by dnnding the profit for the finanaial year attnbutable to the parent com-

pany's shareholders by the werghted average number of shares outstanding durng the finanacial vear When calculaoing the earn-
ings per share adjusted by dilution, the weighted average of the number of shares takes into account the dilunng effect resulung
from changing into shares all potenually diluting shares The fair value of the share ts based on the weighred average price of the

shares 1n trading

1 jan-31 Dec 1jan-31 Dec .
2008 2007
Result for the financial year EUR mull -42 0 1016
Weighted average number of shares 1,000s 127,970 98,032
Undiluted and diluted earnings per share EUR -033 104
Result for the financial year EUR mull -42 0 1016
Weighted average number of shares 1,000s 127,970 98,032
Dividend

The dividend paid in 2008 was 31 9 mullien euros (0 25 euros per share)and i 2007 8 9 mallion euros (0 10 euros per share) The

Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meening thac no dividend shall be paid from fiscal year 2008
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! 16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Financial statement 31 Dec 2007

Connecuions

EUR mull fees Systems Goodwill Total !
Acquisition cost :
| Acguisition cost T Jan 2007 17 98 2 23 102 2
i Addions 04 157 161
' Subsidiary acquisions 03 03
‘ Disposals -12 2 18 140
‘ Transfers between items 38 00 38
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 21 1055 08 1084
t Accumulated deprecation and impairment '
j Accumulated depreciatron and impawrment 1 jan 2007 00 -547 -54 7 ;
! Depreciation -91 1Y 91 |
Accumulated planned depreciauon of disposals 20 20!
Accumulated depreciauion and ‘,
impairment 31 Dec 2007 00 -618 00 618
! i
}
I Book value 31 Dec 2007 2.1 437 08 46.6 |
‘) |
| Book value 1 Jan 2007 17 435 23 475 |
|
} Financial statement 31 Dec 2008 [
i Connections
EUR mull fees Systems Goodwill Toral
Acquisilion ¢ost
Acquisinion cost 1 Jan 2008 21 105 5 038 108 4
Addions 01 126 127 |
' Subsidiary acquisions 29 29 |
: Disposals -02 -41 00 -43
! Transfers between items 00 00 00 |
: Acquisiion cost 31 Dec 2008 20 1140 7 197 |
! F
Accumulated depreciation and impawrment }
| Accumulated deprecianon and imparrment 1 Jan 2008 00 -618 00 -61 8
, Depreciation -10 3 00 -10 3
j Accumulated planned depreciation of disposals 05 05 |
Accumutated depreciation and f
impairment 31 Dec 2008 00 716 00 716 |
)
Book value 31 Dec 2008 2.0 42 4 3.7 484 ,
i
Book value 1 Jan 2008 21 437 08 46 6

!
L
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To FlyNordic, which was an independent cash flow creating unit, was aflocated goodwill of 1,8 mullton euros and o other Scheduled
Passenger Traffic 0,5 million euros Year 2007 in contest of selling FlyNordic goodwill of 1,8 msllion euros was removed from the
balance sheet When the Group acquired more of the company Ou Horizon Travel, goodwill amounting to 0 4 rilhon euros was rec-
ogmsed for the acquisiion The rotal goodwall of Ou Horizon Travel is 0 7 mullion euros After tmpairment testing 1t was found that
no impairment losses need to be recognised. In impairment testing, the recoverable amount has been determined based on value
i use Cash flow forecasts are based on managemenc-approved budgers and forecasts, which cover a five-year period The discount
rate used 15 20 0% (Group WACC 9 5%) The main assumption 1 budgets and forecasts 1s 2% growth 1n revenue and expenses

In the view of management a growth forecast percentage should be used as the most sensitive variable in value derermination The
growth forecast used 1s 2% and 1s below the industry average for the operations in question On the basis of a sensinvity analysis
based on the growth forecast, 1f the growth rate were to be 0% below the management forecast, event 50 no requiremenc for an im-
pairment recogmtion would arise in the Group

If the discount rate used were to grow by 10%, the requirement for an tmpairment recogmuion would arise by 0 2 mullion euros

Based on sensittvity analyses made by the company’s management, management considers that no grounds are percepuible that
would require an impairment of goodwill

17 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Finanaal statement 31 Dec 2007

Other
EUR mill Land Buildings Aircraft  equipment Advances Total
Acquisiaon cost !
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 i7 1877 1,6297 241 8 729 21338 i
Addimions 00 00 3058 46 360 346 4 |
Disposals (Y -36 -86 6 45 02 -94 9
Transfers between items a0 00 00
Transfer to a held-for-sale asset item -3533 -3533
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 17 184 1 1,495 6 2419 108 7 2,032 0 I
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 0.0 -107.3 -812 6 2016 00 -1,121.5 |
Accumulated depreciation i
and impairment 1 jan 2007 -4 9 -89 9 -89 -103 7
Depreciation 318 6 3186 |
Accumulated planned !
depreciation of disposals 10 391 34 43 5 [
Accumulated deprecianon and
impairment 31 Dec 2007 00 -111 2 -544 8 -2071 00 -863 1

Book value 1 Jan 2007 17 804 8171 40 2 729 1,002 3

|
|
Book value 31 Dec 2007 1.7 729 950 8 34.8 108.7 1,1689 |
}
!
i
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Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

i Other
EUR mill Land Buildings Aurcraft equipment Advances Tortal
: Acquisition cost
Acquisiion cost 1 Jan 2008 17 1841 1,495 6 2419 108 7 2,0320
Additions 00 Ne 1991 26 6 29 2602
Disposals 00 -6 8 -156 5 09 75 717
‘ Transfers between iwems 00 00 00
t Transfer to a held-for-sale asset item -93 4 934
| Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 17 208 9 1,444 8 2676 1041 2,0271
' |
|
| Accumulated depreaation and imparrment |
j Accumudated deprecianion ;
' and impairment 1 Jan 2008 00 -111 2 -544 8 -2071 00 -863 1
i Depreciation -53 -84 1 -105 -99 9
| Accumulated deprecianion |
for a held-for-sale asset item 740 740 |
I Accumulated planned i
! depreciation of disposals 68 126 8 04 1340 |
' Accumulated depreciation
: and imparment 31 Dec 2008 00 -109 7 -4281 -217 2 00 -7550 %
Book value 31 Dec 2008 17 99 2 1,016.7 504 1041 1,2721
|
Book value 1 Jan 2008 17 729 950 8 348 108 7 1,689 |
|
]

As surety for liabilities 1n 2008 1s the carrying amount of arrcraft pledged, namely 243 8 nullion euros (324 4)
Ocher equipmencincludes office equupment, furnishings, cars and rransportation vehicles used at airports

Changing the deprecianion pertod and residual value in depreciation of bunldings in fiscal year 2007 has a posinve umpact of
0 8 mullion euros on the result before taxes The impact on the result is expected ro be of similar magmcude 1n 2009

Finance lease arrangements
1 Tangible fixed assets mclude assets acquired under finance leases

Financial statement 31 Dec 2007

Machinery
EUR rmull Buldings and vehicles Total
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 82 87 169
Accumulated depreciation -4 2 -70 -112
Book value 40 1.7 57
¢+ EUR mull 2008 2009-2012 2013-
Lease payments 49 67 05
Discounting 07 12 02

Nert present value 47?2 55 03
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Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

Machinery

EUR mill Buildings and vehicles Total
Acquisinon cost 1 Jan 2008 82 87 169
Addiions 158 215 373
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 240 302 542
Accumulated depreciation and

impawment 1 Jan 2008 -4 2 -70 -11 2
Depreciation -15 -4 4 59
Accumulated depreciation and

impairment 31 Dec 2008 =57 =114 -171
Book value 183 188 371
EUR muil 2009 2010-2013 2014~
Lease payments 74 254 32
Discounung 27 a9 104
Net present value 47 155 208 !

Buildings in finance leasing arrangements are dupreaiated to plan 6-21 years and other equpment is depreciated according to plan
over 5 years In the finanaial vear and m the comparison perind no vanable runes from finance leases have been recognised

HOLDINGS IN ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS

The Group’s share of the resulr, asset items and habilities of associated companies, none of which are publicly hsted, 1s presented below

EUR mul! 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 |
At beginnung of the finangal year 57 56 l
Shares of results 03 01 |
Additions 01 00 |
Disposals 00 00 |
At end of the financial year 6.1 57

Information on the Group’s associated undertakmgs

Financial statement 31 Dec 2007

Domicile Assets  Liabiliues Turnover Profit/Loss Holding (%)
Suomen Jakelutier Oy Finland 08 01 03 01 4750 -
Towelomar Oy Finland 03 01 02 00 48 30
Amadeus Fstoma Estonia 07 g1 08 02 33 25
Kunteisto Oy Lentajanne 1 Finland 355 274 13 00 2833 |
Knnteisto Oy Lentajantie 3 Finland i1 3 g4 06 00 3912

Total 48 6 371 3.2 03 %
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Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

Domicile Assets  Liabihoes Turnover Profit/Loss Holding (%)
Suomen Jakelutiet Oy Finland 08 01 03 01 47 50
Towelomat Oy Finland 03 01 03 00 48 30
Amadeus Estoma Estoria 07 01 08 01 33 25
Finrush Aircraft Maintenance Qy  Finland 62 26 36 04 50 00
Kunteisto Oy Lentajanue 1 Finland 322 24 3 14 00 28 33
Knnteisto Qy Lentajantie 3 Finland i0 9 20 06 00 3912
Total 511 362 70 06

1

The carrying ameunt of assocrared companies on 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 does nor include goodwill

Aurmkomatkat-Suntours’ assoctared company Towvelomat Oy operates in Finnair Group as a provider of support services in two
sectors mn ransporong forwarding services of certain Group companies and as a field representanve at airports Amadeus Finland’s
holding 1n Amadeus Estonia ensures the provision of consistent products and services to Finnish companies operating in Estonia
as well as 1n Finland and helps increase cooperation berween Estonia travel agencies and Finnush travel service providers Amadeus
Finland's associated company Suomen Jakelutser Oy produces the Finmsh Hotel Reservations system as well as travel agency net-
work services for hotel sales Finnair Plc and Finncomm Airlines have established a company, Finmish Atrcraft Maintenance Oy,
which will spectalize to regional class arrcraft maintenance services

RECEIVABLES, LONG-TERM
EUR mill 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007
Loan recevables 02 02 ,
Other recevables 213 136 !
Total 215 13.8
Financial statement 31 Dec 2007 |
EUR mill Loan recevables Other recevables Total |
At beginning of financial year 03 151 154 i
Additions 00 00 00 |
Disposals -01 -15 -1 6
At end of financial year 02 136 138

i
Financial statement 31 Dec 2008 !
EUR mull Loan recevables Other recewvables Total {
At beginming of financial year 02 136 138 1
Addons Q0 77 77
Disposals 00 00 00
Atend of financial year 02 21.3 215

!

Balance sheet values correspond best to the sum which 15 the maximum amount of credirt nisk, excluding the fair value of guaran-
tees, in the event that other contractual parties are not able to fulfil their obliganions relating to inancial instruments

There are no sigmificant concentrations of credit nisk relaomg ro recewvables

The fair values of recervables are presented in Note 32
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Changes in deferred taxes dunng 2007.

Recogrused Recogmised
1Jan in the income  1n shareholders’ 31 Dec
EUR mill 2007 starement equity 2007
Deferred tax assets
Employee benefits 55 -14 00 41
Confirmed losses 45 -4 5 00 00
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 19 -14 00 05
Finance leasing 15 04 00 11
Revenue recognition 02 01 00 03
Capitalisation of overhead expenses 04 00 00 04 |,
Heavy maintenance allocavons 54 -28 00 26
Share 1ss5ue 00 11 00 11
Other temporary differences 77 00 -74 03
Total 271 -93 -7.4 104
Deferred tax assets that can be used
after more than 12 months 18 2 83 .
Deferred tax habilities
Accumulated deprecianion difference 249 16 4 00 413 |
Gamns from sale of tangible fixed assets 890 35 00 92 5
Capitalisation of overhead expenses 01 o0 00 01
Recogmtion at fair value 00 00 00 00
Cther temporary differences 17 06 00 11 ¢
" Valuanion of derivates at fair value 00 00 95 95
Total M5 7 19.3 9.5 144.5
Deferred tax habihties payable
after more than 12 months 83 1338

No deferred tax habilioy 1s recogmscd for undistribured profics of Frnmish subsidiaties and associated companies because in most
cases these profits will be translerred to the company without tax consequences
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Changes in deferred taxes dunng 2008

Recognised Recogmsed
1 Jan i the iIncome  1n shareholders’ 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 statement equity 2008
Deferred tax assets

Employee benefits 41 -25 00 16 '

Confirmed losses 00 37 00 37
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 05 -05 00 00

Finance leasing 11 10 00 21

Revenue recognition 03 -01 00 02

Capitalisauon of overhead expenses 04 -03 00 01

' Heavy mantenance allocanons 26 00 00 26
Share 1ssue 11 -11 00 00 |

Other temporary differences 03 04 00 07
Valuauon of derwvates at fair value 00 00 388 388 .
Total 104 06 38.8 49.8

. Deferred tax assets that can be used

after more than 12 months 83 73 !
Deferred tax habihties !
Accumulated depreciation difference 413 -181 00 232
Gains from sale of tangible fixed assets 925 38 00 963

Capirahisation of overhead expenses 01 -01 00 00
Recognition at fair value 00 00 00 0o
Other temporary differences 11 00 00 LA
Valuavon of denvates at farr value 95 00 95 00
Total 144.5 -14.4 -9.5 120.6 |
|
Deferred tax habilities payable ‘|
after more than 12 months 133 8 195 |
1

No deferred tax hability s recogmised for undistribured profits of Finnish subsidiaries and assocrated companis because in most
eases these profits will be transferred o the company withourt tax consequences

If the foreign subsidiaries would pay ocur all retarning earmings as dividend to the parent company it wall cause 0 7 mullion euros

tax effect (0 3)

The utibzarton of the deferred tax asset1s based on the budgered future tasable profics during the nexc three years
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21. INVENTORIES
31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Matenals and supplies 336 338
Work in progress 15 23
Total 351 361

22.

In the Ainancial period 0 2 mithon euros have been recogmzed based on the difference between a carrying value and nee realisable
value This has been booked in matenials and supples for aircraft marntenance, Note 8

The carrying amount of inventories recognised at fair value is 5 6 nullion euros (6 3) Inventories have not been pledged for Group
liabilicies

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007 |
Trade recevables 896 126 6
Receivables from associated undertakings 17 02 .
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 42 7 414 |
Receivables based on derivative contracts 579 756
Other receivables 399 43 5
Total 2318 287.3 '
Age distnbution of trade recevables )
31 Dec 31 Dec
2008 2007 |
Not overdue 839 1Moz o
Overdue less than 60 days 55 10 5
Overdue more than 60 days 02 54 |
Total 896 126.6

Debt losses from trade receivables
The Group has recognised during the financial year credit losses from trade 1eceivables of 1 @ mulhion euros (0 9)

The receivables not overdue and overdue do not consist any big credir risk, because of good distriburion of customer basis
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23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS, SHORT-TERM

24

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR muli 2008 2007
Deposits, commercial papers and ceruficates
of deposit, and government bonds 364 7 4930
Listed shares 62 226
Unlisted shares 29 30
Total 3738 518.6
Ratings of counterparties

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Better than A 219 4 4304
A 49 00 |
BBB 49 60 |
Unrated 144 6 1022 |
Total 373.8 518.6 !

|

Listed foreign shares are valued to closing quotation and mud-market exchange rares on the closing dare
In Note 31 1s information abour invesung of groups’ short term asset and about group risk management policy
IFRS classification and farr values of financial assets are presented m Norte 32
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Cash and bank deposits 18.3 21.5

}

Ttems included 1n cash and bank deposits are available on demand. Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have been valued ar

mud-market exchange rates on the closing darte
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25 EQUITY-RELATED INFORMATION

Financial Reporr

Number Share premium Unrestricred
of registered Share capital, account, equity, ]

shares EUR EUR EUR

1 Jan 2007 88,756,358  75,442,904.30 20,407,351.01

Share i1ssue 39,379,757 244,880,581 34
31 Dec 2007 128,136,115 75,442,904 30 20,407,351 01 244,880,581 34

Share-based bonus schemes expenses 2,267,230 49

31 Dec 2008 128,136,115  75,442,904.30 20,407,351.01 247,147,811 83
5
Number Pnice, Average price, |

of own shares EUR EUR

1 Jan 2008 151,903 1,525,660 07 10 04
Acquisiion of own shares 598,097 4,735,765 56 792 ¢
Disposal of own shares -364,912 -3,196,809 21 876 |
Shares returned to company 2,341 Q00 000 '
31 Dec 2008 387,429 3,064,616.42 7.91 |
1
!

All 1ssued shares are fully paid

Obligation to redeem clause

The Articles of Associanon have no obligation to redeem clause

RESERVES INCLUDED IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Sharessue

At che end of the financial year, the nominal value of paid bur as yer unicyistered shates 1s 1ccogmsed 1n the share issue account

Share premium account

Share 1ssue gains arising during 1997-2006 have been recognised 1n the share premium account, less transaction expenses

General reserve

Gains from share 1ssues arising before Comparues Act of 1997 have been recogrused in the general reserve

Translaton difference

The translation differences include translation differences arising from the translation of foreign units’ financial statements

Unrestricted equity

Share 1ssue November 29-December 17, 2007 gains less transaction expenses have been recognised in the unrestricred equity and

expenses of share bonus scheme

Faur value reserve

Fair value reserve includes the fair value of derivanve instruments used in cash flow hedging and changes in fair values of avaitable

for sale Ainancial assets, less deferred tax
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Farr value reserve

EUR mill 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007
Jet fuel price hedging -1531 553
Jet fuel currency hedging 140 <200
Hedging of lease payments 22 39
Hedging of firm aircraft purchase orders 09 26
Loans hedging 03 08
Available for sale financial assets -118 67
Deferred rax asset {hability) 388 -94
Total 1105 268

Maturity dates of far values recogmsed in the hedging reserve

EUR mill 2008 2010 201 2012 2013 Later Total
Jet fuel price hedging -870 -572 -89 -1531
Jet fuel currency hedging 70 63 07 140
Hedging of lease payments 25 -03 22 |
Hedging of firm aircraft purchase orders -09 09 |
Loans hedging 02 01 03
Avallable for sale finanaial assets 04 -12 2 -118
Deferred tax asset (hability) 202 133 22 00 00 32 388
Total -57 5 -378 -61 00 00 90 -1105 !

Derivatives in income statement

During 2008, -51 7 rullion euros {11 5) has been recognised from the fair value reserve as a decrease in expenses in the income state-
ment Of this,-55 4 (8 1) million euros 15 an adjustment of fuel expenses and 3 7 (3 4) nullion euros an adjustment of aircraft lease
expenses Inaddivon, 3 4 (13 3) mithon euros has been recognised {rom the hedging reserve as an increase in fleet acquisition ex-
penditure in the balance sheet for financial year 2008

Tn accordance with 11s financial pehicy, Finnair hedges 1ts fuel purchases more than 1t can recognise tn the fair value reserve accord-
ing to the tnterpreration of the IAS 39 standard For this hedging ourside IAS 39 hedge accounting, -11 0 (1 3) mullion euros was
realised and recognised in other operatng expenses in the income statement durtng 2008 Fuel hedging accounted for -10 3 (-0 8)
mullion euros and foreign exchange hedging for -0 7 (2 1) nullion euros

Sensitivaty analysis of fair value reserve

If the price of Jet Fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent higher, the balance of the reserve would have been 24 million euros higher Cor-
respondingly, a 10 per cent weaker Jet Fuel CIF NWE price would have reduced the reserve by 24 mallion euros In terms of the US dol-
lar, a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balance of the fair value reserve by 43 1 nulliont euros and a 10 per cenr stronger
dollar would have had a posinive impact of 43 1 million eurcs The effect of change in interests to fair value reserve in own equty ts
not essential The enclosed sensinsity figures do nor take inko account any change i deferred tax habihiny (1ax assets)

Own shares

The acquisition cost of own shares held by the Group1s included in own shares For further informanon on the share bonus scheme
see Note 26 The rotal acquisition cost of own shares held by the Group 1s 3 1 million euros (1 5)
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Finnair PIc’s distnbutable equity
EUR mill 31 Dec 2008
Retain earnings at the end of financial year 2187
Unrestricted equity 250 4
Result tor the financiai year -104
Distributable equity total 458 7 '

Concerning the dividend decision also the fair value reserve of -111 7 million euros has to be taken into account

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has share-based incentive scheme for personnel

FINNAIR PLC'S SHARE-BASED
INCENTIVE SCHEME 2007-200%
The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc approved a new share
bonus scheme 2007-2009 on 22 March, 2007 In the share bo-
nus scheme, key individuals have the possibility of recerving
shares as bonus for a three-year performance period accord-
ing to how targets set for the performance period have been
actueved In addinion, the proportion payable as cashis 1 5
umes the value of the shares

The Board of Ditectors decides annually che targers to be
set for each performance peniod The targerts are determined
on the basis of the Finnair Group’s financial development
Achteving the rargets set for the performance pertod deter-
mines how large a proportion of the maximum bonus will be
pad Ina three-year period, the total of the three years’ share
bonuses, however, can be at most a sum corresponding to
three years’ gross earnmings

For the 2007 performance period, share bonus eriterias were
Finnair Group earnings per share {EPS) 0,70 euros - 1 20 euros
and the return on capiral employed (ROCE) 8-14% Berween
these valus the bonus was determtned linearily The actual out-
come of the share-based incentive scheme was 94,4% 1in 2007
and toral of 364 912 shares were allocated and 9,0 million eu-
ros of share based payable habilities are booked in the finan-
cial statement 31 December 2007 For the 2008 performance
pertod, share bonuses will be paid 1f Finnair Group earnings
per share (EPS} exceeds 0,50 euros and the rerurn on capiral
employed (ROCE) 1s more than 8% The bonuses 1s payable tn
full :f EPS 15 ar least 1,10 euros and ROCE at least 14% Between
these values the benus 1s determined linearily The Board of
IDhirecrors allocared 395 977 shares to key individuals 1n 2008
While the criteria were not fulfitled no sharebased payments
were booked for 2008

Share-based bonuses paid for 2007

Number of shares

Chuef Executive Officer 27,308 |
Deputy Chief Execunive Officer 15,604
Qther members of Group Management team (9) 86,472 |
Members of the Board of Directors 0
Paid in total 364,912

Share-based allocations for 2008

Number of shares

Chief Executive Officer 29,085

Deputy Chief Executive Officer 16,620 |
Other members of Group Management team (9) 99,720 ,
Members of the Board of Directors 0 )
Total shares allocated 395,977 |

For 2008 no share bonuses will be patd, as the criterias were not fulfilled
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27 PENSION LIABILITIES

Pension schemes are classified as defined-benefitand defined-
contnbuaon schemes Paymenes made into defined-contribu-
tion pension schemes are recognsed in the income sratement
11 the penod to which the paymentapplies In defined-benefic
pension schemes, obligations are calculated using the project-
ed unit credst method Penston expenses are recognised asan
expense over the employees’ period of service based on cal-
culations made by authorised actuanes Actuarial gains and
losses, 1n terms of the portion exceeding a certain limur, are
recognised over the employees’ average term of service When
calculating the present value of pension obliganons the in-
terest rate on government securities 1s used as the discount
rate The terms to maturnity of government securinies approx-
1mate substaneially ro the terms to maturity of the related
penston habilities

The Group’s foreign sales offices and subsidiaries have van-
ous penston schemes that comply with the local rules and
practices of the countries in question All of the mosrt sig-

Defined-benefit pension schemes

mificant pension schemes are defined-contribunon schemes

The statutory pension cover of the employees of the Group’s
Finmsh companies has been arranged 1n a Finrush pension
insurance companv The pension cover 15 a defined-contribu-
tion scheme The pension schemes of the parent company’s
President & CEQ and members of the Board of Management
as well as those of the managing directors of subsidiaries are
individual schemes, and the reurement age under these agree-
ments varies from 60 to 65 years These pension schemes are
also defined-contribution schemes Other (voluntary) pension
cover of the Group’s domesuc companies has been arranged
as a rule in Finnair Plc’s Pension Fund, in which the pension
schemes are defined-benefit schemes These schemes deter-
mine pension cover benefits, disability compensation, post-
employment health-care and life insurance benefits as well as
employmentseverance benefits All of the Group’s post-retire-
ment benefits are defined-contribunon benefits

ttems recognised in the income statement

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
2008 2007
Current service costs for financial year 92 105
Interest costs 18 3 16 8
Expected return on plan assets gain 213 214
Past service cost-vested benefits -09 -02
Total, included in personnel expenses 53 57 !
The actual return of plan assets was -44 7 mullion euros in year 2008 (15 8)
ttems recowd in the balance sheet !
1}Jan-31 Dec 1)Jan-31 Dec |
2008 2007 |
Presert value of funded obligatans 3242 3529
Fair value of scheme assets -3397 -389 5
155 366 |
Present value of unfunded obligations 00 00 !
Unrecognised net actuarial gains / losses (-) 216 524 |
Unrecognised costs based on past service 00 00 ‘
Net hability 61 158 |
Presented provisions 00 00
Net hability presented tn balance sheet 6.1 158

The balance sheet pension kability for 2008 of 6 1 rmullion euros (15 8) does not includ any Labihnes outside the Pension Fund

Pension scheme assets include Finnair Ple shares with a Fair value of 0 7 million euros (1 1) and a builldings used by the Group with

a fair value of 36 9 mullion euros (34 8)
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Changes s plan assests

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007 '
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 389 5 3926
Expected return on plan assets 213 214
Actunal gain (loss) on plan assets -66 0 55
Contributions 150 02
Benefits pad -201 -18 8
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 3397 3895
Plan assets are comprised as follows :
31 Dec 31 Dec '
2008 2007
Listed shares, % 154¢ 250
Debtinstruments, % 530 490
Property, % 200 140 '
Other, % 120 120 1
100.0 100 O
i
Net habihity reconaliation statement
31 Dec 31 Dec !
EUR mull 2008 2007 |
At beginning of financial year 158 100 _:
Total expenses, presented above 53 57
Paid contributions -150 01
At end of financial year 6.1 15.8
Defined-benefit schemes principal actuanal assumptions
31 Dec 31 Dec
2008 2007
Discount rate, % 525 520
Expected rate of return on assets, % 60 56
Annual rate of future salary increases, % 35 45
Future pension increases, % 21 21
Esumated remaiming years of service 14 14
31 Dec 31 Dec
2008 2007 .
Present value of defined benefir obligarion 3242 3529
Fair value of plan assers -3397 -389 5
Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) -155 -366
Experience adjustments on plan assets -66 0 55,
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities -16 4 127
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28 PROVISIONS

Restructunng, Maintenance
EUR rmull provision provisions Total
Provisions at 1 January 2007 00 457 457
Increase 00 10 6 10 6
Decrease 00 -27 -27
Provisions at 31 Dec 2007 0.0 536 53.6

Restructuring Maintenance ;
EUR mill provision provisions Toral |
Provisions at 1 January 2008 00 536 536
Increase 24 S5 79 '
Decrease [X] 00 oo !
Provisions at 31 Dec 2008 24 591 615 '

In finaneial year 2008, che Group has recognised personnel resn wcturing provision 2 4 million euros (0 0)

The Group s obliged to surrender leased aircraft ar a certain mamntenance standard To fulfil these maintenance obligations the Group
has recognised heavy maintenance provisitons The basis for a provistion 1s thght hours flown during the maintenance pertod
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INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Interest-beanng habilities
Long-term
Bank loans -140 6 -158 2
Bonds -770 -100 0
Pension loans 00 co
Finance lease habilities -36 3 -5 8
Total -253.9 -264 0
Non-interest-bearing habilinies
Long-term
Pension liabihties 72 56 '
Total -261.1 -269 6
Interest-bearing habilines ,
Current |
Cheque account fachnes 06 -01 |
Bank loans -26 2 311
Finance lease liabilities -47 42,
Other loans -170 -191 !
Total -48.5 -54 5
]
Maturity dates of interest-bearing financial habilities 31 Dec 2007
EUR mill 2008 2009 2010 20m 2002 Later Total
Bank loans, fixed interest -16 6 -16 5 -74 -14 6 -306 -6 8 926
Bank loans, vanable interest -14°5 -i41 -14 5 -112 -6 2 -36 3 967
Bonds, vanable interest -100 0 -1000
Finance lease habiliues -4 2 20 -16 -11 08 03 -100
QOther loans -19 2 -19 2
Interest-beanng habilines total -54.5 -326 -23 5 -26.9 -137 6 -43 4 -318.5
Payments from currency derivauves -438 3 -2251 -225 -4 5 -247 -168 7 -883 7
Income from currency derivatives 4071 2161 219 44 239 162 8 8361
Commodity derivatives 447 170 18 635
Trade payables and orher labilities -619 2 -619 2
Interest payments -158 -14 3 127 -7 -70 -4 4 -65 9
Total -676 1 -388 -350 -387 -1453 -53.7 -987.7
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Maturity dates of interest-bearing financial habilities 31 Dec 2008

EUR mill 2009 2010 201 2012 2013 Lazer Total
Bank loans fixed interest -214 -120 25 00 00 00 -359
Bank loans, vanable interest -98 -111 -26 2 -397 -270 -173 -1309 |
Bonds, vanable interest 00 00 00 -770 00 00 770
Finance lease habilities -47 36 -38 -4 0 -41 -208 410
Other loans -17 6 00 00 00 00 00 -17 6
Interest-bearing habilities total -534 -26 8 -32 5 -120.7 -311 -381 -302.4
Payments from currency derwvatives -5302 -2827 -20 5 =247 -13 6 -1551  -1,026 8
Income from currency derivatves 5373 294 3 209 253 141 1581  1,0500 |
Commodity derivatives -142 4 -54 9 -85 00 00 00 -2058 |
Trade payables and orher habilities -1,014 7 00 00 00 00 00 -1,0147 |
nterest payments -10 6 -85 -75 -4 4 -17 -15 -34 2
Total -1,213.9 -786 -48 0 -124.5 =323 -36.6 -1,533.9

Bank loans include long-term curiency and inzerest rate swaps rhac hedge USD-denomnated aircraft financing loans
re-fising period 1n variable interest loans s 3 or 6 months

Interest rate

The currency mix of interest-bearing long-term Labihties
{including cross currency interest rate swaps) is as follows-

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
EUR 242 2 2664
usD 60 2 521 '
302 4 318.5
Weighted average effective interest rates on
interest-bearing long-term habilities
2008 2007
4 7% 5 4%
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Finance lease habilities
31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2008 2007
Minimum lease payments
Upto 1 year 74 49
1-5 years 254 67
More than 5 years 312 05
Total 640 121
Furure firancial expenses 29 16 |
Finance lease habilities - Present value of mimmum lease payment !
Up to 1 year 47 42
1-5 years 155 35
More than 5 years 208 03
Total 41.0 10.0
[}
Total of financial lease llabilities 41.0 100 |
|
TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHERS LIABILITIES
31 Dec 31 Dec |
EUR mll 2008 2007 |
Advances recewed 48 9 460 |
Trade payables 821 918 |
Other accrued habilities 426 2 3801 |
Liabilities based on derivauve contracts 2267 448 |
Other accrued habilities 200 477
Total 803.9 6104 |
|
Significant items in other accrued habilities )
31 Dec 31 Dec |
EUR mill 2008 2007 !
Unflown air transport revenues 1725 1550 !
Holiday pay reserve 899 856
Other 163 8 139 5
Total 426.2 380.1

Other accrued labihities consists of several items none of which are indwidually ssgmficant




MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

Risk management in Finnasy

1 PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The nature of the Finnair Group’s business operations expos-
| es the company to foreign exchange, interest rate, credit and
! liquidiry, and fuel price nsks The Group'’s policy 1s to limut
| the uncertamcy caused by such risks on cash flow, finanaal
; performance and equity
! The management of inanceal risks 1s based un the risk man-
i agemnent pohcv, which specifies the mummum and mavimum
levels permitred for each type of risk Financial risk manage-
l ment 1s directed and supervised by the Financial Risk Steering
I Group Pracacal implementanon of financial pohev and nisk
management have been centralised in the parent company’s
[ finance department
| In 1ts management of foreign exchange, interesc rare and jer
i fuel positions the company uses different dervative instru-
ments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options Dertva-
I tives are designated at inceprion as hedges for future cash flows
| {cash flow hedges) hedges for firm orders (hedges of the fair
value of firm commmments) or as finanaial derivatives not
i quahfying for hedge accounting {economic hedges) In terms
| of the hedging of future cash flows {cash flow hedging), the
: Finnair Group implements, in accordance with 1AS 39 hedge
| accounong principles, hedging of fixed rate foreign exchange
[ loans, foreign exchange hedging of lease payments and aircraft
purchases, and hedging of jet fuel price and foreign exchange
risks In addition, hedging of iy m commitment is used for
‘ aircraft investments

Fuel price risk means the cash flow and finanial performance
uncertamnty arising from fuel price fluctuations
| Finnarr hedges against jet fuel price fluctuanons using gasoil
and jet fuel forward contracts and options As the underlying
' asset of jet fuel derivauves, Lhe Jer Twel CIF Cargoes NWE in-
I dex 1s used, because around 65% of Finnair's fuel purchase
|

t
!
l FUEL PRICE RISK IN FLIGHT OPERATIONS
I
|

contracts are based on the benchmark price index for Norch
and West Europe jet fuel delivertes

Finnair apphes the principle of ume-diversification in s
fuel hedging The hedging honizon according to che finan-
cial policy 1s three years Under the finanaal policy, hedging
must be increased in each quarter of the year so that the hedge
rato for Finnair’s Scheduled Passenger Traffic for the first
six months 1s more than 60% and so that thereafter a lower
hedge rano apphes for each period By allocating the hedg-
ing, the fuel cost per petiod 15 not as low as the spot-based
price when prices fall, but when spot prices rise the fuel cost
rises more slowly

In accounting fuel hedges are recognised in Finnasr in two
different ways In terms of the fuel consumption of Finnaur,
the first approximarely 40 percencage points per perioid are
treated in accounting as cash flow hedging in accordance wich
1AS 39 hedge accounning principles Changes in the fair value

of derwvatnes defined as cash-flow hedging in accordance with
IAS 39 are posted directly to the fair value reserve included
n equuty The change in farr value recogmised 1n the equity
hedging reserve 1s posted to income statement at the perioid
nime as the hedged transacnon Changes m the fair value of
hedges outside hedge accounting - which do not fulfii [AS 39
hedge accounting criteria - are recogmised in other operating
expenses over the nme of the derivative

At the end of inanaal year, Scheduled Passenger Traffic had
hedged 75% of its fuel purchases for the first six months of
2009 and 54% for the second half of the year Leisure Traffic
has hedged 60% of 1ts fuel purchases for the remaiming win-
rer season and 40% of 1ts purchases for the coming summer
season At the end of the financial year Leisure Traffic has no
price clauses with tour operators simular to those agreed in
previous years

In the finanaal vear 2008, fuel used in fight operations ac-
counted for 24,6% compared to the Group’s turnover Ar the
end of the financial vear, the forecast for 2009 1s over 22% On
the closing dare, a ten per cent nise 1n the market price of jer
fuel - excluding hedging activity calculated using Scheduled
Passenger Traffic’s forecasted fhghes for 2009 ~ ncreascs an-
nual fuel costs by an esnmated 33 mllion euros On the closing
date - raking hedging into account - a ten per cent rise 1n fuel
lowers operating profit by around 14 mithon euros Sicuaaon
as ar 31 December represents well mean of calendar year

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
Foreign exchange risk means che cash flow and financial per-
formance uncertaincy arising from eaxchange rate fluctuanons
The Finnair Group’s foreign exchange nisk arises mainly from
fuel and aircraft purchases, aircraft leasing payments and for-
€1gN CUTTEncy Incomes

The financial policy divides che foreign exchange positon
1o two parts, a profit and loss posinon and an investment
posinion The profic and loss position consmsts of dollar-de-
nominated fuel purchases and leasing payments, sales reve-
nue in a number of different currencies, and also foreign ex-
change-denominated money marker investments and loans
The investment position includes dollar-denomunared aircraft
tnvestments

Finnair applies the principle of nme-diversification mn its
foreign exchange hedging The hedging horizon according to
the finantcial pohicy1s two years The hedge rzno of the foreign
exchange position 1s determined as the reduction of the over-
all risk of the postron using che value-at-nsk method. Under
the financial policy, hedges must be added to the proficand
loss posimion in each half of the year so thae the hedge ratio
for the first six months 1s more than 60% and so that there-
after the hedge ratio declines for each period In addition,
Finnair hedges foreign exhange risk exceeding two years as
far as hedging the currency risk of fuel 1s concerned (1AS 39
cash flow hedging}

The nvestment pos:ton includes all foreign exchange-de-
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nominated atrcraft investments for w hich a binding procure-
ment contract has been signed According to the Ananaal
policy, at least half of the investments recognised (n the bal-
ance sheet imuse be hedged after the sigming of a firm order
New hedges in tnvestment position will be made as [AS 39 fair
value hedge of a irm commumment

Around 68% of Group turnover ts denominated 1n euros
The most imporrant other foreign sales currencies are the
Swedish crown, the Japanese yen, the Chunese yuan, the US
dollar and che Briush pound

Approximarely one third of the Group’s operating costs are
denomnared 1n foresgn currencies The most important pur-
chasing currency 1s the US dollar, which accounts for approxi-
mately 27% of all operating costs Sigmficant dollar-denomunart-
ed expense 1tems are aircraft leasing payments and fuel costs
The largest investments, the acqusitton of aircraft and therr
spare parts, also take place mainly in US dollars

Ar the end of financial year, Scheduled Passcnger Traffic
had hedged 80% of its profit and loss items for che firse six
months of 2009 and 62% for the second half of the year On
the closing dare a 10% strengthening of the dollar against the
euro - without hedging - has a neganive smpacron theannual
result of around 47 mullion euros On the closing date - tak-
g hedging into account - a 10% screngthening of the dollar
weakens the result by around 12 million euros In the above
sensitivity estinates, the dollar risk includes also the Chinese
yuan and the Hong Kong dollar, whose hustorical correlarion
with the dollar1s high Situation as at 31 December represents
well mean of calendar year

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate nsk means the cash flow and finanaial perform-
arce uncertainty arisiny from mteiest race fluctuanions

In Finnair Group the interest rate risk ts measured using
theinterest rate re-fising pertod I necessary interest rate de-
ivatnes are used to adjust the interest rate re-Aving period
According to the financial policy, the mandate for the invest-
ment portfolio sinterest rate re-fixtng pertod 1s 0-12 months
and forinterest-bearing habilities 0-24 months On the closing
date the investment portfoho’s interest rate re-fixing penod
was 2 months and for interest-bearing liabilines S months On
the closing date a one percentage point rise in interest rates
increases the annual interest income of the investment port-
folio about 3 million euros and the interest expenses of the
loan portifolio by less than 2 mullion euros Sttuanon as ar 31
December represents well mean of calendar year

CREDIT RISK

The Group 1s exposed to counrerparty risk when investing its
cash reserves and in using derivarive instruments The credit
risk 1s managed by making contracts, within the framework of
risk management pohicy of counterparty nisk limits, only wath
financially sound domesnic and foreign banks, inancial insuou-
tions and brokers Liquid assets are also invested inbonds and
commercial paper issued by conservatively selected company-
specific wachin hnnts Thiswav nisk rowards single counterpar-
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ties are not significant Change in fan value of groups loans rise
from changes in BX and tnrerest, not from credit nsk Groups’
maxtmum exposure to credit nisk s other financial assets pre-
sented at Note 23, cash and cash equivalent presented in Nore
24, and trade receivables presented in Note 22

LIQUIDITY RISK
The goal of the Finnair Group is to mamtain good hiquidiry
Liquidity 1s ensured by cash reserves, bank account limuts,
hiquid money marker invesrments and commutted credit fa-
cilities With respect to aircraft acquisitions, the company’s
pohicyis o secure financing, for example through comnutied
loans, at a munmum of 6 menths before delivery Counterpar-
ties of groups’ long terim loans are sohd Anancial institutions
with good reputarion

The Group’s hiquid assets were 392 mullion: euros ar the end
of financial vear 2008 Frnnatr Plc has a domestc commercial
paper programme of 100 mullion euros, which wasn’t used on
the closing date In addition, Finnair has a 200 million eurc
commutred credit facility, commutted unused 50 mulfron euros
arrcraft financing hirmcand a 60 million doliar credi faciliry
The 200 mailion euros credic facthey includes a finance covenant
based on adjusted gearing The covenantlevel of adjusted gear-
mg s 175%, while at the closmg date the figure was 63 2% The
maximum level set by the Board of Directors 1s 140%

CAPITALMANAGEMENT
The aim of the Group’s capital management 1s, with the aid
of an opumum capital strucrure, to support business opera-
trons by ensuring normal operaung condiuons and to increase
shareholder value with the best possible return being the goal
An opumum capiral structure also ensures lower capital costs
The capital structure 1s mfluenced e g via dividend distrnibu-
tion and share 1ssues The Group can vary and adjust the lev-
el of dividends paid to shareholders or the amount of capi-
tal rerurned to them or the number of new shares 1ssued, or
can decide on sales of asset items 1n order to reduce debt It
1s the aim the Finnair’s dividend policy to pay on average at
least one third of the earnings per share as dividend during
an economic cycle

The development of the Group’s capiral structure ts moni-
tored continuously using adjusted gearing When calculaning
adjusted gearing, interest-bearing net debr 1s divided by the
amount of shareholders’ equity Ner debr includes inreresr-
bearing debt less interest-bearing recervables and cash and
cash equivalents The Group’s adjusted gearing at the end of
2008 was 63 2% (35 1)




32 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial Avalable Valued H
Hedge Financial assets at far forsale at allocazed :
accountng assers held value through financial Loans and acquisition Far |
EUR mull items. for trading profit orloss assets recenables cost value |
31 Dec 2007
Financial assets !
Recewables 13 8 138 !
Other financial assets 493 0 4930 |
Trade recevables and other recevables m7 2117
Listed shares 226 226
Unlisted shares 30 30 I
Derwatives 579 177 756 |
Cash and cash equivalents 215§ 215 |
Total 841.2 |
|
Financaial habihites !
Interest beaning liabiliies 159 2689 2856 |
Finance lease habilities 100 100 |
Derwvatives 570 s 685 |
Trade payables and other habiliues 640 6 6406 |
Fasr value total 1,004.7 |
Book value total 1,003 9 |
|
31 Dec 2008 '
Financial assets |
Recevables 215 215 |
Other financial assets 3709 3709 |
Trade receivables and other receivables 173 9 1739 |
Derwatives 213 36 6 579 |
Unlisted shares 29 29 |
Cash and cash equivalents 183 183
Yhteensa 645 4
Financial halnhtes i
Interest bearing liabilines 123 2355 2472 |
Finance lease habilities 410 410 |
Derivatives 165 0 753 2403 |
Trade payables and other habilittes 6520 6520 |
Fair value total 1,180 5 |
Book value total 1,181 |
!

Calculared tax hiabilitzes are not presented 1n this note Group has 120 € million euros {144 5) of calculared tax habilities 1n 1ts bal-
ance sheet Interest rate denvanves (currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in derivatives In other notes chey are included
in bank loans The item other Anancial assets mainly includes USD-denominated secunity deposits for leased arrcraft Trade paya-
bles and other habilities include trade payables, deferred expenses, pension obligations as well as other interest-bearing and non-
interest-bearing lhabilities

The valuauon principles of financial assets and habilines are outhned in the accounung principles
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33 SUBSIDIARIES
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EUR mull

Group ownership %

Finnar Cargo Oy, Helsinki 100 00
Finnair Cargo Terrminal Operations Oy, Helsinki 100 00
Amadeus Finland Qy, Helsinki 95 00
Markatoimisto Oy Area, Helsinki 100 00
A/S Estravel Ltd, Estonia 7202
Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab, Helsink 100 ¢0
OO0 Aurinkomartkar, Russia 100 00
Calypso, Russia 8000 '
Matkayhtyma Oy, Helsink 100 00
Horizon Travel, Estorma 95 00
FTS Financial Services Qy, Helsinla 100 00
Finnair Carering Qy, Helsinki 100 00 |
Finnaw Facilites Management Oy, Helsink 100 00 !
Finnair Asrcraft Finance Oy, Helsinks 100 00
Finncatering Oy, Vantaa 100 00 '
Northport Oy, Helsinki 100 00
Finland Travel Bureau Ltd , Helsink 100 00

34.

OTHER LEASE AGREEMENTS

The Group 1s the lessee

Mimimum rental payments for irrevocable lease agreements are as follows-

Aurcrafts Buildings Machinery and vehicles

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec

EUR mill 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
less than a year 761 753 17 129 75 65

' 1-2 years 54 8 68 5 108 11 59 55
2-3 years 490 49 9 104 10 9 19 9 226
3-4 years 40 5 452 94 95 01 01
4-5 years 24 4 370 87 g7 00 00
more than 5 years 411 48 9 828 899 00 00
Total 285.9 324.8 133.8 143 0 33.4 347

The Group has leased prermses as well as arrcraft and orher fixed assers with irrevocable lease agreements These agreements have differ-

ent levels of renewal and other index-linked rerms and condittons The Group has leased 32 aircraft on leases of different lengehs
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35 GUARANTEES, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVES

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2008 2007
Other pledges given on own behalf 273 4 2631
Guarantees on behalf Group undertakings 637 640
Guarantees on behalf of others 43 35
Total 341.3 3306
EUR mill Total
Investment commitments 1,508.9

Above menutoned imestment commitments includes firm aircraft orders and 1s based on prices and exhange rates as ar 31 Decem-
ber 2008 The total amount committed to firm orders fluctuates between the placing of an order and the dehvery of the aircraft
mainly due to changes tn exhange rates, as all of the company’s aircraft orders are denominared in US dollars, as well as due ro the
escalation clauses included 1n airline purhase agreements Therefore, the total amount presented herein should not be relied as be-
\ng a maxnmum or mimimum commuitment by the company The final amount of the comnuument:n relation o each aircrafiis onlv
known ar the ume of the delivery of each aircrafe

Dervatives ;
Norminal amount Fair value Nomnal amount Fair value i
EUR mill 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2007
Currency derivatives :
Hedge accounung items {forward contracts) |
Jet fuel currency hedging 3827 140 2670 -200 !
Hedging of arrcraft acquisiuons |
Fair value hedging 4258 26 4 3735 -143
Cash flow hedging 589 04 895 26 |
Hedging of lease payments 48 4 22 563 -39 |
Total 915.8 430 786 3 -40 8 |
i
ltems outside hedge accounting

Operatonal cash flow hedging forward contracts) 74 4 32 27 00 |
Operational cash flow hedging (opuions) i
Call options 12 8 02 543 01 !
Put opurons 18 8 01 64 5 -06 |
Balance sheet hedging (forward contracts) 469 23 472 06 |
Total 1529 10 168.7 -1
|

Total 1,068.8 44 0 955.0 -41.9

In accordance with IAS 39, a change 1n the fair value of currency derivanives in hedge accounnng 15 recogrused 1n the hedging re-
serve of shareholders’ equucy, [rom where 16 15 offser 1n che resulr agamst the hedged item Excepnions 1o this are firm commitment
hedges of aireraft purchases qualifying for hedge accounting, whose recogrition pracrice 1s outhned 1n the accounting principles
A change in the fair value of operational cash-flow hedging 1s recogmised m the income statement’s other operaring expenses and
a change i fair value of balance sheet hedges is recogrised in finanaial iems
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Norminal Fair value, Nomemnal Fair value,
amount, tonnes EUR rmull amount, tonnes EUR muill
31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2007
Commodity denvatives
Hedge accounting items
jer fuel forward contracis 591,300 <1531 562,750 553
Commodity dervauves at fair value
through profit and loss
Jet fuel forward contracts 71,700 276 11,100 06
Gasoll forward contracts 17,000 -55 21,800 27
Jet differennial forward contracts 340,500 69 395,000 11
Opuons
Call opuions, jet fuel 28,000 01 64,500 20
Put options, jet fuel 28,000 -89 76,000 -07
Call opuions, gasoil 47,000 00 48,500 31
Put opuons, gasoil 63,500 -17 6 86,500 -05
Total -205 6 63.6

The effectrve pornion of a change in the farr value of commodity dertvanives in hedge accounting 1s recogmsed in the hedging reserve
of shareholders’ equty, from where 1t 1s offsec against the hedged trem when expired A change tn the fair value and gains and losses
of commodity derivatives outside hedge accounting 1s recognised 1n the income statement item other operating expenses The jet
differential 15 the price difference berween jet fuel and gasoil

Denvatives '
Nominal amount Fairvatue Nomu:nal amount Fair value

EUR mill 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2007 !

Interest rate denivatives

Cross currency interest rate swaps

Hedge accounting items 167 -73 269 136

Cross currency interest rate swaps at

fair value through profitand loss 17 -6 3 154 <101

Total 28.4 -13 6 42.3 -23.7

Interest rate swaps '

Hedge accounting items 00 00 00 00

Interest rate swaps at far value

through profit and loss 200 01 200 10

Total 200 0.1 20.0 10

The Group's fixed-1nterest USD-denomimared areraft financing loans have been hedged with long-term cross currency interest rate
swaps The recogmtion practice of these items 15 outlined in the accountung principles

Denvatives

Nominal amount Farrvalue Nominal amount Fair value
EUR mull 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2007
Share dervatives
CGpuons

Call opuons, shares 00 00 161 84




36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

37

The following transactions have taken place with related parties

EUR mull 2008 2007
Sales of goods and services
Associated undertakings 00 Q0
Management - -
|
Purchases of goods and services _‘
Associated undertakings 22 06
Management - -
Receivables and habilines i
Recewables from associated undertakings 15 00 '
Liabilities to associated undertakings 00 Q0 1

38.

Sales of goods and services executed with relarted parties correspond in nature ro ransactions carried out wath independent parues
The consolidated inancial statements do not eoncain any open recen able or habihiy balances wich management

No credit losses from related parry rransactions have been recogmsed 1n the final veat or the companison year

Guarantees and other commitments made on behalf of related parues are presented 1n Note 35

The employee benefits of management are presented m Note 9 No loans have been granted to management personnel
DISPUTES AND LITIGATION

Only cases of which the tnterest 15 500,000 euros or more and that are not msured, are reported. Accordingly, the previously report-
ed claim of approximately 1 mullion euros against Finnair Ple and Finnair Cargo Oy for lost cargo wall not be reported in the furure
as the potential habiliry 1s insured

On 31 December 2008 the foliow ing disputes were pending

Transpert Oy has presented te Finnair approximarely 600,000 euros damage compensation claim following the rermimation of a
subcontracting agreement Finnan has disputed the claim The case 1s pending n rhe Helsink: Districe Court

North Ground Handling Oy has presented to Northport Oy appr 940,000 euros damage compensation claim for a dispure regard-
ing a groundhandling agreement Northport has disputed the claim The case 1s pending in an arbitaruion court

No provisions have been made for disputes or iugation
EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE

Group has concluded the statutory employer-employee negonanons under the act on Co-Determinanon within Undertakings (YT
negotiations), that began 1n June 2008 The goal of the negonranions was to achieve 25 million euros of savings 1n personnel ex-
penses, corresponding o around five per cent of toral personnel costs

The collective agreement for pilots ended at the end of November 2008 and the negotarions are ongoing The Finnish Aurline Pilots’
Associanion (SLL) represenung Finnair's pilots has decided to ininiate a labour dispute to atzainits collective agreement on terms of
employment negotiation aims The acnion of the dispute started 24th of January in form of overtime ban Inaddition, the pilots have
gnen noufcation of thar intenten ro carry out stiikes that will hale Finnair flights a darly basis starung from 25¢ch of February
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39 PARENT COMPANY'S FINANCIAL FIGURES

The figures presented below are not IFRS figures
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FINNAIR PLC INCOME STATEMENT

1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec
EUR million 2008 2007
Turnover 1,869 0 1,788 8
Producuon for own use 16 12
Other operatng income 171 13 8
OPERATING INCOME 1,887 7 1,803 7
OPERATING EXPENSES
Matenials and services 954 5 7858
Personnel expenses 393 3 3793
Depreciation 258 243
Other operaung expenses 7102 5920
-2,083 8 -1,781 3
)
OPERATING PROFIT /- LOSS -196 1 224 |
FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 305 49 ,
¢
|
PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS -165 6 175
i
Extraordinary items 1516 -100
PRCFIT/LOSS BEFORE
APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -14 0 75
Direct taxes 37 65
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR -103 10




FINNAIR PLC BALANCE SHEET

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mullion 2008 2007
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assers 352 349 !
Tangible assets 96 5 99 4 :
Investments
Holdings in Group undertakings 406 3 406 2
Holdings in associated compantes 28 25 \
Qther investments 09 5418 09 5439 |
l
CURRENT ASSETS |
Inventories 300 317 [
Long-term recevables 1152 130 3 !
Short-term recevables 741 4 613 8 4!
Marketable secunties 3709 514 4 !
Cash and bank equivalents 90 1,266 5 10 8 1,3009 |
1,808.3 1,8448 '
LIABILITIES ,
|
1
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY !
Share capital 754 754 |
Share premium account 247 247 !
General reserve 1477 1477 |
Fair value reserve 117 3né '
Unrestricted equity 250 4 2481
Retained earnings 2187 2619 !
Profit/loss for the financial year -103 594 9 10 7904 |
ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS
LIABILITIES
Deferred tax habibity 81 190 :
Long-term habilities 1816 2202 .
Short-term habihiues 1,023 7 1,213 4 815 2 10544 |
1,808.3 1,8448 |

L o e e —
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FINNAIR PLC CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mulhon 2008 2007
Business operations
Operaung profit/-loss -196 1 224
Opetarions for which a payment s not included (depreciations) 258 243
Changes in working capital (net)
lnventones, increase (-}, decrease (+) 16 29
Short-term recewables, increase (-), decrease (+) 204 -165 0
Non interest bearing shorr-term liabilives, increase (+), decrease (-) -134 2 96 3
Financial income and expenses (net) 305 -4 9
Taxes 37 -6 6
Cash flow from operations -248 3 -30 6
Investments
investments in flight equipment -13 8 -278 !
Other investments -147 -16 2
Change in advance payments 00 00
Capital expenditure, toral -28 5 -44 0
Capital expenditure 48 453
Cash flow from investments -23.7 1.3
1
Cash flow before financing -272.0 -29.3 |
Financing !
Long-term debts, increase (+), decrease (-) -38 4 -432 !
Long-term recevables, increase (-), decrease (+) 152 308
Short-term debts, increase (+), decrease (-) 2019 482
Group contribution -10 0 -
Shareholders’ equity, increase (+), decrease {-) -101 2481
Dwident payment -318 -8 8
Cash flow from financing 126.8 2751
Change in liquid funds
increase (+), decrease (-) in statement -145 2 2458
Liquid funds in the beginning 5252 2794 |
Liquid funds, decrease (-), increase (+) i balance sheet -145 2 2458 !
Liqund funds in the end 379.9 525.2




' Board of Directors’ Proposal on the Dividend

Franatr Ple s diseribucable equity according to the finanaal statements on 31 December 2008 amounts to 458,707,539 14 euros

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting thar no dividend shall be pard and the loss for the fiscal year
to be transfer against recained earmings

1 Sigrung of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Financial Statements
Helsinki, 4 February 2009

The Board of Directors of Finnair Ple

Chnistoffer Taxell Kar1 Jordan Sigurdur Helgason
Satu Huber Markku Hyvarinen Ursula Ranin
Vel: Sundback Pekka Timonen
Jukka Hienonen

President & CEO of Finnair Plc
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Auditor’s Report

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Oy

We have audited che accounning records, the financial statements, the repore of the Board of Directors and the admimistranon of Finnatr
Oy; for the year ended on 31 December, 2008 The financial statements comprise the consohidated balance sheet income statement, cash
flow statesment, statement of changes in equity and notes to the consohdated financial statements, as well as the parent company’s bal-
ance sheer, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financaial statemencs

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Iirectors and the Managing Duector are responsible for the preparation of the financaal statements and che report of
the Boaid of Dhrectors and for che fair presentanon of the consohdated finanaial statements i accordance wich International Finanaial
Reporung Srandards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU as well as for che fair presentanon of che parent company’s financial scaremenes and
the report of the Board of Directors i accordance with laws and regulanons govermng the preparanion of the financial statements and
the report of the Board of Directors in Finland The Board of Directors 1s responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of
the companv’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Direcror shall see to 1t thac the accounts of the company are in compliance with
the law and that s financial affairs have been atranged 1n a rehiable manner

Auditor’s Responstbility

Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance with good auditing pracnice in Finland, and o express an opinion on the parent
company’s inancial statements, on the consohdarted financial statemencs and on che reporr of the Board of Directors based on our audie
Good audiang practice requires that we comply with echical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors are {ree from matenal musstatement and whether the muembers
of the Board of Directors of the parent company and the Managing Director have complied with the Limited Liability Companies Act

An audhitinvolves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the finanaial statements and the report
of the Board of Directors The procedures selected depend on the auditer’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material mus-
stacement of the finanaal statements, w hether due ro fraud or error In maksng those risk assessments the audicor conwiders internal eontrol
relevant to the ennity s preparation and fan presenrarion of the financial statements in order to desiygn audic procedures thac are appropriatein
the arcumstances An andit also includes evaluanng the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esi-
mares made by management, as well as evaluaning the overall presen-ration of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors

The audst was performed in accordance with good anditing practice 1n Finland We believe that the audir evidence we have obramed 1s
sufficient and appropiiacc to provide a basis for our audie oprmion

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
In ow opimion, the consohdated financial sratements ginve a true and farr view of the financial positon, finanaial performance, and cash
flows of the group in accordance with Internaconal Financral Reporung Standards (IFRS) as adopied by the EU

Opnion on the Company’s Financial Statements and

the Report of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the con-
solidated and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and reg-
ulations governing the preparanion of the financial statements and the reporr of the Board of Direcrors tn Finland
The informauon 1n the report of the Board of Directors 1s consistent with the mnformanon in the finanaal statements

The Members of the Board of Drrectors and the Managing Direcror of the parent company can be discharged from habihiry for the pe-
riod audited by us

Helsink, 13 February 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants
Eero Suomela Jyri Heikkinen
Authotised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant
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Corporate Governance

Finnatr follows Finmsh Corporate Govern-
ance Codeissued 1n 2008 by the Finmish Secu-
nities Marker Associanion with the exception
that Finnair’s Board of Directors does not
have a nominanon commuttee as Finnair’s An-
nual General Meeting has appointed a share-
holders’ nomination commuttee Inaddinon,
the duties of the Board Audic Committee do
not include preparing the draft resolunion
concerning the election of the company’s
auditors

Current Group Structure

The Finnair Group consists of the parent
company Finnair Plcand 17 subsidharies The
most significant subgroups are Finland Trav-
el Bureau Ltd and Finnair Catering Oy Other
notable subsidiaries are Matkaroirmsto Qy
Area, Oy Aurmnkomatkat-Suntours Lrd Ab,
Finnair Awrcraft Finance Oy, Finnair Cargo
Oyand Northport Ltd The Finnair Group’s
basiness units and subsidiaries are orgarused
into four bustness areas Scheduled Traffic
Leisure Traffic, Aviauon Services and Trav-
el Services

Annual General Meeting and
exercising of voting rights
Ulnmare authority in Finnatr Plc s exercised
by the company’s shareholders ac the Annual
General Meeting The Annual General Meer-
ing 15 convened by the company’s Board of
Directors In accordance with the Comparues
Act, the Annual General Meeting decides on,
among other things, the following matters
* the number election and
remuneration of the Board of
Direcrors
« the number e¢leceion and
remuneration of the auditors
« the approval of the Ainanaal
statements
» the distnbunon of diidends
¢ thec amendment of the Articles of
Association

The Arnicles of Assoctanion of Finnair Plc do
not contain any redempunion clauses nor any
restrictions on voting nights The company
has one series of shares

Board of Directors

Compaosition and term of office

The Board of Directors of Finnar Ple con-
ststs of a chairman and at least four and ar

most seven members The Annual General
Meening elects the Chairman and the Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors for one year at
aume The Board of Directors electsa Depu-
ty Chairman from ameng 1ts members

On 27 March 2008 the Annual General
Meeting of Finnair Plc elected Chriscoffer
Taxell as Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors, and as Members of the Board Sigur-
dur Helgason, Markku Hyvarinen, Satu Hu-
ber, Kan Jordan (Deputy Chairman),Ursula
Ramin and Vel: Sundback Pekka Timonen
was elected as new member All Members of
the Board are from outside the company and
independent of the company Pekka Timo-
nen is in the service of the Finnish Govern-
ment, Finnair Pic’s largest shareholder The
Board of Directors term of office eaprres at
the end of the Annual General Meeting to
be held on 26 March 2009

Duties and meetings
The Board of Directors 1s responsible for
the company s operations and fnances, 1t
convenes the Annual General Meering and
it prepares the matters to be dealt with ar
the Annual General Meeting The Board
of Directors 15 also responsible for imple-
menang the decisions of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeung

The Board of Directors appoints and dis-
mmusses the President & CEO and decides on
his/her salary The Board of Directors also
appoints and dismisses the depury to the
President & CEQO The Board of Directors
selects the members of the Group’s semor
management and decides on their terms of
employment, taking into account the person-
nel strategy guidelines and remuneration sys-
tem 1n accordance with the company’s cor-
porate governance The Board of Directors 1s
responstible for ensuring that the company’s
accounts, budget momitering system, internal
auditing and risk management are arranged
in accordance with the company’s corporate
governance

The Board of Directors is also respon-
sible for ensuning that the openness and
farrness referred to tn the company’s cor-
porate governance are implemented 1n the
information given in the compam’s finan-
cial statements

The company 15 represented by the Chair-
man of the Board and the company's Presi-
dent & CEO as well as the deputy CEQ each
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separately, by two Members of the Board of
Darectors wogether, and by those indimduals
to whom the Board of Directors has conferred
the right o represent the company, together
with a Member of the Board or another ind:-
vidual entitled to represenc the company The
company’s powers of procuration are decided
by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors meets on average
8-10 umes per year In 2008 Board of Directors
had ten meetings The average attendance of
the Members of the Board of Directors at the
meetings of the Board was 96 25 per cent

The President 8& CEO of Finnair Ple Juk-
ka Hienonen, or a semor member of Finnar
Group management normnated by him acts as
the presiding offiecr at meenngs of the Board
of Drrectors The Finnair Group’s Vice Presi-
denrand General Counsel Sami Sarelius acts
ag secretary 1o the Board of Drrectors The
Board of Directors evaluates 1ts working prac-
uces regularly

The charter of the Board of Directors
can be viewed on the Finnair Group’s web-
site www finnair com/group

Committees
The Board of Directors has established a
Compensation and Nomunarion Commut-
tee and an Audit Commuittee The Compen-
sation and Nomunation Committee consists
of Chairman of the Board Christoffer Taxell
as well as Members of the Board Kari Jordan,
Ursula Ranin and Pekka Timonen President
& CEO Jukka Hienonen acts as the pres:id-
ing officer The commitree met three nmes
i 2008

Audit Commuttee consists of Markku Hy-
varinen (Chairman) and members Sigurdur
Helgason, Satu Huber and Veli Sundback
President & CEO Jukka Hienonen acts as
the presiding officer The committee mer
twice in 2008

The Finnair Group’s Vice President and
General Counsel Sarm: Sarelius acts as sec-
retary to the Board's commurrees

The charters of the commuttees can
be viewed on the Finnair Group's websice
www finnair com/group
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Remuneration and other benefits
The monthly remuneration and attendance
allowances decided by the Annual General
Meeting for Members of the Board of Dhrec-
rors in 2008 were
» Chairman’s annual
remuneration 61,200 euros
» Depury Chairman’s annual
remuneration 32,400 euros
« Member of the Board’s annual
remuneracon 30,000 euros
» Mcenng compensanon to a memba
residing mn Finland 600 euros and to
a member resicing abroad 1200 euros
per meeting of the Board of Directors
or I1ts committee

The Members of the Board of Directors are
enritled to a daily allowance and compensa-
tion for travel expenses in accordance with
Finnair Plc’s general travel rules Inaddition,
Members of the Board of Directors have a
Irmited right to use ID uickets tn accordance
with Finnair Plc’s ID ncker rules

In 2008, the members of Finnair Ple's
Beoard of Directors were paid monthly re-
muneranon and artendance allowances to-
talling 335,452,79 euros in 2008

Prestdent & CEQ and
Deputy CEO
Finnair Plc has a President & CEQ, whose
task 1s to manage the company’s operations
according to guidelines and instructions
issued by the Board of Directors In 2008
Finnair Plc’s President & CEO was Jukka
Hienonen and the Deputy CEO was Hen-
nik Arle

Henrik Arle retired 31 December 2008
Lasse Hemnonen, the CFO of Finnair Group,
was appomted Deputy CEO as of 13 Janu-
ary 2009

In 2008, President & CEQ Jukka Hienon-
en was patd a salary of 581,843 04 euros and
fringe benefits of 38 598 51 cures as well as
shares and a payment of 441,092 47 euros
based on the share-based incentive scheme
1n 2007 Deputy CEO Hennk Arle was paid
a salary of 373,101 68 euros and fringe ben-
efits of 10,875 00 euros as well as shares and
a paymentof 252,043 61 euros based on the
share-based incennve scheme 1n 2007

The President & CEO and the Depury
CEO have the night to reure at the 60 years
of age on a full pension of 60 per cent of
pensionable salary The Prestdent & CEO’s
and the Deputy CEO’s service contracts may
be terminared with a peniod of notice of six
months Inadditon to salary for the period
of notice, they are entitled to severance com-
pensation equivalent to 12 months’ salary 1if

their employmentis terminated for reasons
independent of them

Changes 1n the company’s
management in 2008
Deputy CLEO and EVP Scheduled Traffic
Henrik Arle retred 31 December 2008 In
conjuncaon with the retirement some re-
visions were made in management respon-
sibtlittes and the organisation of Finnair
Group

Lasse Heinonen, the CFO of Finnarr
Group, was appointed Deputy CEQ as of
13 January 2009 Heinonen continues as the
CFO of the Group Inaddition to economics
and finance the ground handling company
Northport Ltd, Finnair Catering Oy and
Finnair Technical Services, which all belong
to Aviation Services business area, report
to Lasse Heimnonen Also Finnair Arrcraft
Finance Ltd and Finnair Facilities Manage-
ment Oy reporr to Heinonen

As of 1 January 2009 Finnair’s Presi-
dent & CEQ Jukka Hienonen leads the
Scheduled Passengar Traffic o1ganisanon
together with the business umit’s manage-
ment group SVP Flight Operations Veikko
Sievanen serves as the Accountable Manager
referred 1o 1 the Aurhine Operators Cernh-
cate (AQC) Sievanen will also be a member
of the Group’s Executive Board Operation-
al nsk management, which was previously
under the authority of Hennk Arle, wiil now
be under the President & CEO

SVP for Public Affairs and Corporate
Communications Christer Haglund was ap-
pointed member of Finnair Plc’s Executive
Board as of 1 March 2008

Finnair Plc’s Executive Board
Finnair Plc’s Executive Board meets approxi-
mately 20 cumes a year and 1ts rasks include
the handling of Group-wide development
projects as well as Group-level principles
and procedures In addiuon, the Execu-
tve Board 1s :nformed about, among oth-
er things, the business plans of the Group
and scctor compamees, financial perform-
ance, and macters to be dealt wich by Finnair
Plc’s Board of Directors, in the preparation
of which it participares Finnair Plc’s Ex-
ecunive Board acts as a risk management
steering group

The Executive Board comprises Pres:-
dent & CEO Jukka Hienonen (Chairman)
and members SVP for Public Affairs and
Corporate Communications Christer
Haglund, Chief Financial Officer and Dep-
ury CEO Lasse Heinonen, SVP Human Re-
sources Anss1 Komulainen, SVP Commer-
cial Division Mika Perho, SVP Fhight Opera-
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tions Vetkko Sievanen, SVP Finnair Techmi-
cal Services Kimmo Soinu, and SVP Letsure
Traffic and Travel Services Kasa Vikkula

Finnair Group’s Board of
Management
The Finnair Group’s Board of Management
comprises, 1n addition to members of the
Executive Board, Northport Ltd’s Manag-
ing Director Jukka Hamalainen, Finnair
Catering Oy’s Managing Direcror Kristi-
na Inkilainen and Managing Director of
Finnair cargo compames Antero Lahtinen
as well as personnel representanives, name-
ly Purser Maur Koskennierm, Chairman of
the Finnish Flight Attendants’ Association
SLSY, Purser Tuna Sillankorva, Chairman of
the Finnair Semor White Collar Workers As-
sociatton, Systems Analyst Trmo Ketrunen,
Chairman of the Finrush Flight Workers As-
sociation, and Juham Sinisalo, Represenca-
tive of Finnair Personnel Fund

The Board of Management 1s informed
about, among other things, the business
plans and financaial performance of the
Group and sector compantes The Board of
Management prepares, among other things,
matters to be decided by the Board of Di-
reciors affecung personnel as well as fleet
and other fix asset refated im esements and
projects The Beard of Management decides
within the limits sec out by the Board of Di-
rectors also oninvestments and projects The
Board of Management meets approxtmartely
ten nimes per year

Corporate Governance of
Subsidraries

The Members of the Boards of Directors
of the sigmificant subsidiaries are selected
from individuals belonging to Finnair Group
management and from representatives pro-
posed by personnel groups The key rasks
of the Boards of Direcrors of subsidiaries
are strategy preparanion, approving the op-
erational plan and budget, and deciding on
nvestments and commments within the
limits of instructions 1ssued by the Board of
Dhrectors of Finnair Ple

Share-Based Incentive for

Key Indindaals

Matters relating to the remuneration scheme
ofkey indnaduals are prepared in the Board
of Drirectors’ Compensation and Nomuna-
non Commuttee Decisions are made by che
cempany's Board of Directors Manage-
ment incentive benuses are determined an-
nually based on the company’s earnings per
share, rerurn on capital employed, business-
unit quality and process indicators as well
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as personal performance appraisals The
maximum bonus can be equivalent to four
months’ basic salary

Around 70 key individuals of the Group
belenged to the 2007-2009 share-based 1n-
senttive scheme The rewards of the scheme
are based on return on capital employed and
earnings per share, whose target levels are de-
cided annually by the Board of Directors The
shares are subjecr to sale restrictions

Auditors and Monitoring
Auditars
The company has two audirors elecred by
the Annual General Meeting The auditors’
term of office ends at the conclusion of
the Annual General Meeting following the
meeting of their election Arleast one of the
auditors must be an authorised public ac-
countant or an authorised public account-
ing firm approved by the Central Chamber
of Commerce

Finnair Ple’s Annual General Meering in
2008 elected two audirors for the company
Authornised Public Accountants Pricewarer-
houseCoopers Oy, Principal Auditor APA
Eero Suomela and APA Jyri Heikkinen APA
Tuomas Honkamak: and APA Timo Takalo
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy were elect-
ed depury auditors The auditors of Finnatr
Group subsidiaries are mainly Pricewater-
houseCoopers auditing firms or audicors
employed by them

Auditing fees paid o auditors in Finland
and abroad totalled 188,000 euros 1n 2008
Finnair Plc also paid auditors 120,000 euros
forservices (e g tax advice) unrelated to the
statutory audit of the accounts

Monitoring and reporting system
The principal task of the statutory audit1s to
venify that the Ananaal statements give ac-
curate and suffic.entinformactonabout the
Group's result and finanaal position for the
financial vear The auditors report thar find-
ings to the Board of Directors at least once
per year and submit an auditors’ report to
company’s shareholders in connection with
the annual finrancial statements

Finnair Plc’s Executive Board, which acts
as arisk management steering group, assess-
es and safeguards the sufficiency appropn-
ateness and effectiveness of the Group’s nisk
management, montoring and management
processes Financial Risk Steering Group
assesses and antaipaces Anancial nisks and
steers implementacion of financing policy
of the Group

The Board of Directors of Finnair Ple
has approved principles of internal moni-
toring, which are applied within the Group

Internal Auditing 1s responsible for fulfilhng
the monitoring and auditing obligation laid
down 1n the Compantes Act

Internal auditing work 1s employed to ver-
ify thentegnty of transactions and the accu-
tacy of informarion in internal and external
accounumng, and to confirm thar controls are
exerased effecavely, properry 1s maintained,
and operanons are conducted appropriately
in accordance with the Group’s objecnives
Internal Audining also parnaipatesin the au-
diting of Finnair Plc subsidiaries’ accouncs
in collaborarion with External Audiang The
Internal Auditng priorities are determined
in accordance with the Group's nisk manage-
ment strategy

The fulfilment of financial targets s mon-
ttored by a system of Group-wide reporung
The reporting encompasses realised daraand
up-to-dare forecasts for a rolling 12-month
period The accumulanon of financal added
value 1s monitored monthly i an internal
reporting process The Group’s waffic per-
formance 1s published in a monthly Stock
Exchange Bulletin

Risks arising from operaticns in relation
to property, interruption, accident and lia-
bilizy have been covered by appropriate in-
surances

Governing provisions

Finnair Plc adheres to applicable legisla-
uon, to the regulations, 1ssued under such
legislanon and ro the company’s Articles of
Associanion Furthermore, 10 1ts activities
Finnair Plc complies with Corporate Gover-
nance Code of listed compantes, tssued 1n
2008, as well as insider rules

Company insiders
The Finnair Group’s insiders are divided
tnto permanent 1nsiders and temporary
msiders 1n accordance with the Securities
Marker Act

Permanent insiders ate further dwvided
into those entered 1n a pubhc insider register
and those entered 11 a non-public company-
specific msider register

Temporary insiders are individuals who
recewve tnsider mformation during the per-
formance of some assignment {project)
These individuals are entered mnto a non-
pubhc company-specific msider register,
namely a project-specific register

Finnair Plc’s permanent insiders include
members of the Finnatr Plc’s Board of Direc-
tors, the President & CEO and his Depury,
the direct subordinates of the President &
CEQ, as well as che audirors, including the
audieing firm’s auditor with chief respons:-
bility for the company
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Permanent company-specific insiders 1n-
clude the personnel representanves partic-
ipating 1n the work of Finnair’s Executive
Board, the managing directors of Amadeus
Finland Oy, Matkatoumisto Oy Area, Fin-
land Travel Bureau Ltd, Oy Aurinkomarkar
- Suntours Ltd Ab, FT'S Financial Services
Oy, Finnair Facilines Management Oy and
Finnair Aircraft Finance Led, the secretanies
of Finnair’s CLO and CFO, Finnair’s law-
yersand internal auditors, Fimnair's financial
commumications staff as well as the Econom-
1cs and Finance Depariment’s vice presidents,
assistant vice presidents finance managers
econonics managers, and the finanaal man-
agement and supervision planning manag-
er, the vice presidents of Finnair’s Commer-
cal Division and the Vice President Leisure
Flights, the department managers dealing
with employment affairs and HR services,
and other individuals separately designated
by Finna’s CEO for entry in the register

The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc has
approved Finnair Plc’s insider guidelines,
which conrain guidelines for permanencand
project-work insiders and specify the organi-
sation and procedures of the company’s insid-
er controls The company’s insider guidelines
have been distnibuted vo all insiders

The Legal Affairs Depariment 1s respons-
ble for the content of the insider guidelines
Compliance with the insider guidelines 1s
momtored by the Economics and Finance De-
partment The company operates a restriction
on trading, which applies to insiders’ trading
in the company shares orin securities grant-
ing enntlement to shares for 30 days before
the declaratton of finanaal resules

Finnair PIc’s insider register 1s maintained
by Euroclear Finland Ltd The up-to-date
detals of public insiders’ share and option
holdings can be viewed at Euroclear Finland
premuses in Helsinks, Finland ac the address
Urho Kekkosen katu 5C and on Finnair’s web-
site at the address www finnatr com/group

Corporate Governance update

The Finnair Corporate Governance sec-
tion 15 updated regularly and can be viewed
on the company’s website at the address
www finnair com/group Finnair Plc’s web-
site 1s pubhished 1n Finnish and English, and
partly m Swedish The prinred and electronic
Annual Review 2008 are published in Finn-
15h, Swedish and English, and the Finaneal
Report in Finnush and English Interim re-
ports are published in Finrush, Swedish and
English
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Risk Management in Finnair

Risk management in Finnatr 1s part of che
Group's management acuvity and 1s direct-
ed primanlv at risks that threaten the fulfil-
ment of the Group's short- and long-term
business objectives To exploir business op-
porturties, Finnair 1s prepared to assume
managed and considered nisks, taking the
company’s risk-bearing capacity into ac-
count In fhighr safety macters, Finnat’s
objective 15 to rmmmuse risks

In Finnair, risk management means a sys-
tematic and predictive way of recogmising,
analysing and managing the opporrunities
and chreats associated with operations Con-
unuity plans have been prepared in case of
the realisation of risks, parucularly as far
as strategic and sigmficant financial risks
are concerned

The Board of Directors and the President
& CEOQ are responsible for the Group’s risk
management strategy and principles as well
as for the management of risks thar threar-
en the fulfilment of strategic objectives The
President & CEO 1s responsible for ensuring
that risk management 1s 1in other respects ap-
propriately organised The Seruor Vice Presi-
dents of the business units and the Manag-
ing Directors of subsicdiaries are responsible
for risk management in their own areas of
responsibdiry

Organisation of risk management
Finnair Plc’s Executive Board, which aces as
a risk management steering group, assess-
es and directs nsk management in Finnair
Group The company’s internal auditing
coordinates the reporting of risk manage-
ment as well as adhcrence to a specified op-
erating model

The Operational Risk Management De-
partment, which operates under Finnair Plc’s
Quabity Manager, as speaified in the Arline
Operartor’s Licence, regularly audits and as-
sesses the company’s own and subcontrac-
tors” acuions that impact on fhght safery

Finnair's quality system s [OSA certi-
fied* ThelOSA programme s an evaluation
method, required by IATA, for arrlines” op-
erational management and monironing sys-
rems Auditing based on {O5A cerufication
assesses whether the airhine’s quality control
systems fulfil borh 10SA and internanonal
avation regulacion standards

Management of risks relaung to loss or

damage1s divided into two main areas flighe
safery and corporare security Development
wortk 1n these areas 1s coordinared by the
flight safuty department and the corporate
security unit

Operating environment risks
Demand and the price level of passenger and
cargo traffic have been influenced most by
market-area economuc development, eco-
nomic cycles, competition in the industry
as well as various unexpected events, such
as terrorism, environmental accidents and
epidemics The company has plans of action
to mimumise the operational impacts arising
to air transport from various external dis-
rupuve facrors

The current trend clearly indicates thar
compentiveness 1n the air transport sector
depends on how flextbly rhe compam can
react and adapt to surprising events, changes
in demand and a constantly changing com-
petitive environment

A crincal faceor for operacional flesibiicy
1s the adjustment of fixed costs to fluctua-
vonsindemand The company’s ability o re-
act quickly in adjusting capacity, routesand
costs to correspond to changing demand and
economic and security conditions 1s also an
essennal factor iIn maintaiming the compa-
ny’s proficabulity Intecentyears Finnair has
implemented, and has under way, a number
of projects thar have increased structural
flesibalny

Finnatr manages the residual value risk
related to aircraft capacity and ownership
by acquiring nearly half of the arrcraft be-
longing o 1rs fleet thiough operaning lease
agreements of different durations The leas-
ing of aircraft provides an opportunity for
the flexible dimensioming of capacity in the
short and long term

Market risk
The air transport business 1s sensitive to both
cychical and seasonal changes Compettion
i che secror 1s intense and the market situ-
anion 1s contnually changing, which has re-
duced average ucket prices over an extended
period Atrhines are cutting thetr prices in
order tommciease volumes achieve sufficient
cash flow and mamtain marker share
Funnair constantly makes market situa-
ton analyses and actively monttors its own
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reservation intake as well as compentors’
changes 1n pricing and capacity Finnair s
able to reacr quickly to pricing changes that
take place in the market by unhising its ad-
vanced optimuisacion systems

Finnairis growing in markets where 1r1s
notaswell-known abrand as in 1ts tradinional
domestic marker This presents chalienges
for marketing communications n haghlighe-
ing Finnar’s competitive assets

A change of one percentage point in the
average price level of scheduled passenger
traffic services affects the Group's operaning
profit by mare than 15 sullhion ewos Corre-
spondingly a change of one percenrage point
in the load factor of scheduled passenger
wraffic serwices also affects che Group s oper-
anng profit by more than 15 mmllion euros

Operational risk
Finnair’s operations are based on a rnigor-
ous flight safery culture whichismaintained
through conanuous and long-term flighe
safety work The company has prepared an
operational safety policy, for which the com-
pany’s Vice President, Flight Permits and
Operaring Licences ts responsible for im-
plemenung Every subcontracror working
direcdly or indirectly with the Group’s em-
ployees or flight operations must undertake
to comply with the policy

When operational decisions are made,
fhght safety always has the lnghest priortty
m relation 1o other factors that influence
deaision-making Flight safery 1s an inre-
gral mechamsm of all activities as well as a
required way of operating not only for the
¢ompany’s own personnel, but also for sub-
contractors

The main pnnaple of fhghe safery work
1s nen-punitive reporting of deviations
the way intended by the Aviation Act and
the company’s gumdelines The purpose of
reporungas o find reasons, not to assign
blame, as well as to idennify predicuvely the
risks of the future The company, howev-
er, does nort rolerate wilful acts contrary to
guidelines, methods or prescribed working
pracuces Decision-making not directly re-
lated to operanons must also support the
company’s objective of achieving and main-
taimng a high level of flight safery
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Reliabiliry of fhight operations
Reliabihity 1s an essennal prerequisite for op-
erating successfully in che asrline indusery
The air transport business, however, 1s ex-
posed to various disrupuive factors, such as
delays, exceptional weather conditions and
strikes As well as cheirimpact on operation-
al and service quahov awr craffic delays also
Increase COSts

Finnair invests contnually in the over-
all quality and puncruahty of its operanion-
al acuvities The Network Control Centre
(NCC) brings together all the critical parties
for fhight operations thusenabling the most
effective overall solutions to be implement-
ed Finnair Technical’s service puncruality
and diverse expertise as well as its detailed
speaificavion of techmical funcnions ensure
the rehabihiey of hight opaanons

Furthermore, 1n operational activities the
contribution of partners and interest groups
1s essenuial Finnair monitors the quali-
ty of external suppliers within the frame-
work of standards specified in advance and
chrough reguilanons prescribed for flight
operarions

Finnair 1s one of the most puncrual an-
Iine in Europe

In relation co Asian traffic, the cransfer of
passengers and goods from one fighr o an-
other at Helsinks-Vantaa Awrport s increas-
g, in the short term, the risk of delays, ow-
1ng to the airport’s space restrictions The
completion of a new terminal extension 1n
aurumn 2009 will help the situation con-
siderably

Authorities and the environment
An airline registered in the European Umon
can operate freely within the entire area of the
Union To date Finland, Like other European
countries, has been accustomed to negonat-
ing bilateral operating agreements with coun-
tries outside the European Uruon

In future, reguiation at the European Un-
ton level will bring the negotranon of avia-
tion agreements berween countries inside
and outside the European Union under cthe
European Commussion Exisung bilateral
operating agreements will remain n force
in the new sicuation

As a negouanng party the Umon 1s
stronger than an individual country and
thus can strengthen the position of Euro-
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pean arrhines when negotiaring operanng
rights In some cases this may have an ad-
verse impact on Finnair and may weaken the
company’s competitive position nt relation
to other European atrlines Finnatr will ac-
tvely strive tonflucnce the paroes who ne-
gotiate operanng rights in order to safeguard
1ts 1nterests

European Union has decided o include
atr transport within carbon dioxtde emis-
stons trading from 2012 Aurcraft transport
within the EU will be subject to emusstons
trading as will flights deparnng from and
arrving in the EU This will have a particu-
lar impact on the intercontinental compet:-
nve sttuartont If other non-EU countries do
not become part of the emissions trading
scheme, this will give a compernitive advan-
tage to airhines whose hubs are outside the
EU Companies will be able to offer market
routing changes such that emissions trad-
ing will burden them less than the EU an-
lines or not at all A trade war may also be
possible if non-EU countries do nort accept
the EU enusstons trading rules

Finnair has been investing 1n environ-
mental marters for a long ume Finnatr ac-
tively momnitors the effects of the company’s
Operarions on energy ConsuMprion, emis-
sions, amounts of waste and noise values
Finnair publishes annually a separate En-
vironmental Report, which includes meas-
ures and key figures (or the assessment of
environimental efficiency

The company has a VP, Sustainable De-
velopment whose task 1s to promote the re-
alisanion of Finnan’s environmental goalsin
the Group’s business operations, such that
Finnatr can be among the leading airlines in
environmental acovaties Official and interest
group cooperation is important in order to
be fully aware of future legislanion and 1n-
terest group requirements

Rusk of loss or damage

Risk management in this area includes, for
example, risks to flights people, informa-
tion, property and the environment as well
as liability and loss-of-business risks, and
insurance cover The priority in the man-
agement of risks relating to loss or damage
1s on risk prevention, but the company pre-
pares for any possible emergence of risks wath
plans, effecuve situation-management pre-
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paredness and insurance Aircraft and other
sigmficant fixed assers are comprehensively
insured at fair value The amount of 1nsur-
ance cover for aviation habiliry risks exceeds
the mummum levels required by law

Accident risk
The management of occupational health and
saferys diverse and challenging, because the
Finnair Group’s operations are spread across
many fields of busainess Occupauonal safeny
risks are known to be high tn precisely those
areas - services, food industry, heavy aireraft
mantenance, warehousing and transport -
of which Finnair’s operattons primcipally
CONSIST

The development of occupanional safety
15 long-term work, and Finnair’s goal 55 to
mummise the number of accidents Devel-
oping occupartional safety 1s part of the eve-
ryday acuvity of line organisation and che
responsibility of every employee

Means of improving occuparional safecy
include identtfying and evaluating occupa-
uonal health and safety hazards in the work-
place and preventing acaidents and hazard-
ous situations All reported risk situations
and acadents are investuigared and lessons
learned in order to develop safer working

methods

Telecommunications and
information technology risk
The diverse use of information technology
in support of operanions has increased and
there 1s greater emphasis on importance the
availlability of information Systems vulner-
abihity and the development of new global
threats representa risk factorin a networked
operating environment Finnatr1s connnu-
ally developing 1ts nformation security and
situation-management preparedness for seri-
ous disrupuions to information systems and
relecommunicanons Such preparanions have
a direct impact on informanon technology
and data security costs

Developing information system solutions
and the IT environment requires continu-
ous investment Careful selection of exter-
nal partners in IT solutions also reduces the
technology risk

The coordination of the Group’s infor-
mation system archicecrure as well as s IT
purchases and strategies has been centrahised

in the Group’s information management de-
partment This brings synergy benchirs and
1Mproves cosr~efﬁclcnﬂ

Prmciples of financial risk
management
The nature of the Finnair Group’s business
operations exposes the company to foreign
exchange, interesr rare, credir and hquid-
1ty, and fuel price risks The pohey of the
Group 15 to minimuse the neganve effect of
such risks on cash flow, inanaal perform-
ance and equity

The management of financial nisks 1
based on the risk management policy ap-
proved by the Board of Directors, which spec-
1fies the mimmum and maximum lewdds per-
mitted for each type of risk Financal nisk
management 1s directed and supervised by
the Financial Risk Steering Group Theim-
plemenanion of inanoal nisk management
practice has been centralised 1n the Finnair
Group’s Finance Department

In 1ts management of foreign exchange,
interest rate and jet fuel positions the compa-
ny uses different derivative instruments, such
as forward contracts, swaps and oprions

Financial risks have been described 1n
more detail in Note 31 of the Notes to the
Financial Staternents

*IOSA = IATA Operational Safery Audit
IATA = The Internanional Air Transport
Association
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Stock Exchange Releases

Stock Exchange Releases in 2008

2 JAN 2008
4 JAN 2008
4 JAN 2008
8 JAN 2008
4 FEB 2008
S FEB 2008

7 FEB 2008
21 FEB 2008
22 FEB 2008

25 FEB 2008
28 FEB 2008
29 FEB 2008
7 MAR 2008
10 MAR 2008
10 MAR 2008
27 MAR 2008

27 MAR 2008
31 MAR 2008
9 APR 2008

10 APR 2008
11 APR 2008
25 APR 2008
29 APR 2008

30 APR 2008
8 MAY 2008
9 MAY 2008
26 MAY 2008
27 MAY 2008
3 JUNE 2008
10 JUNE 2008

A sigmificant maintenance coneract for Finnair Techmeal Services from Aeroflor Cargo
Finnair Group’s last ATR turboprop aircraft sold

Finnair Plc decides share buy-back

Finnair craffic grew 16 2 percent last year

Finnair’s long-haul fleet continues to grow

Finnair Group Financial Statement 1 January-31 December 2007,
Strong cash flow and sohid balance sheet facilitare furure investments

Theyear s of f with growth in Asian craffic
Fanarr plans fights to Yekateninburg - more flights to Moscow and St Perersburg

Finnair Leisure Flights leases an Airbus A330-200 arreraft for
Thailand Leisure Flhights 1n winter season 2008/2009

Notice of the Annual Shareholders’ Meening 2008

Jaana Tammusto appointed Managing Director of Finland Travel Bureau
Finnair to acquire three addinonal Embraer aiecraft

Appointments in Finnair Corporate Communtcations

Finnair’s Annual Report 2007 has been published

India engine for Finnair growth

Guidance at Finnair Annual General Meeting Operatonal result
for Arst half of year expected ro remain at last year’s level

Decisions of Finnair Ple’s Annual General Meeting 2008
Announcement pursuant to securities markets act chapeer 2, section 10
Mexicana to join oneworld alhance

India drives Finnarr traffic growth

Finnau sells six Boeing MD 80 aurcraft

Finnair does not accept Alitalia subsidies

Finnair group interim repore 1 January-31 March 2008,
Financial condinion strong, challenging terrain ahead

Finnaur sold and leased back two Embraer jet aircraft

Finnair’s load factors decreased, average prices improved

Disposal of own shares

Expensive o1l and slower growth 1n demand will weaken Finnair’s result
Announcement pursuant ro securines act chapter 2, section 9

Finnaur pilots’ collective labour agreement negonations end without results

Finnair’s Scheduled Traffic grows, buc at clearly lower load factors
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12 JUNE 2008
19 JUNE 2008
1JULY 2008
8 JULY 2008
7 AUG 2008
8 AUG 2008

9 SEPT 2008
12 SEPT 2008
16 SEPT 2008
26 SEPT 2008
6 OCT 2008
%9 OCT 2008
9 OCT 2008
31 OCT 2008
10 NOV 2008
20 NOV 2008
25 NOV 2008
3 DEC 2008
9 DEC 2008
9 DEC 2008
9 DEC 2008
17 DEC 2008

Finaneial Report

Finnair to begin negotiations with personnel brought on by fuel crisis and drop in demand
Temporary agreement for Finnair Pilots

Finnair Increases long-haul connections for winter

Finnair’s load factors down

Finnaur traffic grew 6 3 per cent

Finnarr Group Internim Report 1 January-30 June 2008,
Operanonal result weakened, second-half may be loss-making

Finnair’s passenger load factors up

Finnair to open route to Istanbul

Finnaur’s statutory employer-employee negotiations did not reach an agreement on savings
Finnair daily to Tokyo 1n 2010

Finrush Competicion Authority approved Awecraft Maintenance jont venture

Finnair’s load factors were up, average ticket prices down

Finnair Leisure Flights directly ro Thaitand ensured

Finnair Group Interim Report 1 January-30 September 2008, Weak third-quarter result
Finnair’s Asian traffic continues to grow

Finnair Plc shareholders’ nomination commuttee

Finnair updates cost-cutting programme n Cargo Operations

Finnair assumes special responsibility for 1its Thailand passengers

Finnair's traffic stanisores will be released roday ar 2 p

Finnan 's Scheduled Traffic load factots tose, price levels continued o fall

Finnair’s financial reporting schedule for 2009

Finnair renews Scheduled Traffic organization

All Stock Exchange Releases can be found on the Finnatr Group website www iinnarr com/group
Stock Exchange Releases relaung ro the purchase of own shares can be found at the same address




Analysts

The brokerage firms
analysing Finnair equity

ABN Amro, London
Andrew Lobbenberg

Carnegie Investment Bank AB, Stockholm
Erik Gusrafsson

Danske Markets/Danske Bank, Helsinki
Panu Laicinmaka

eQ Bank Ltd , Helsink
Bengr Dahlstrom

Evli Bank, Helsink:
Tuomeo Kangasaho

Exane/BNP Paribas, London
Geoff van Klaveren

FIM, Helsinks
Jaakko Tyrvainen

Goldman Sachs, London
Julia Winarso

Hande!sbanken, Helsinki
Pekka Mikkonen

Pohjola Bank, Helsink:
Jari Raisanen

SEB Enskilda, Helsinki
Jutta Rahukainen

Standard & Poor’s, London
Virginie Vacca

UBS, London
Tim Marshall
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Information for shareholders

Annual general reeting
The Annual General Meenng of Finnair Plc will be held on 26
Mareh 2009 at 3 pm at the Helsinki Fair Centre, Messuaukio 1,
Congress Wing Encrance, Hall C1 Nortice of attendance at the
Annual General Meeting (AGM) must be given ar the latest
by 4pm on 24 March 2009 Nounce of artendance can be given
through Finnaitr’s webstte at www finnair com/agm, by post to
the address Finnair Plc, Registry of Shareholders, HEL-AAC/S,
FI-01053 Finnair, by fax to +358 9 818 1662, by telephone from
Monday to Friday between 2am-4pm GMT to +358 9 818 7637
or by e-mail to agm@finnair com Letters, faxes or e-mails re-
garding notice of artendance must have arrived before the pe-
ried of nonice of attendance ends

Each shareholder who 1s registered on 16 March 2009 1n the
Company’s register of shareholders mamntained by the Euroclear
Finland Ltd or who on 16 March 20091s temporarily entered in
the register of shareholders has the right to participate in the
AGM Shareholders whose shares have not been transferred to
the book-entry system are not ennitled ro arrend the AGM

AGM 2009 - Important dates

16 March 2009 Record date

24 March 2009  Last day to give notice of artendance
26 March 2009 AGM date

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

According to che financial statemencs on 31 December 2008,
the distriburable equity of Finnair Ple amounts to 458 7 mullion
euros The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting that no dividend shall be distribured for 2008

Financial information

In 2009, intenim reports will be published in Finmsh,
Swedish and English

28 April 2009 at 9 am Q1-2009, 1 Jan-31 March 2009
7 August 2009 at 9 am Q2-2009, 1 Jan-30June 2009
29 October 2009 at 9 am Q3-2009, 1 Jan-30 Sept 2009

Ordening the annual report

The Annual Review 2009 will be published in princin Finmish,
Swedish and English and the Finaneial Report 2009 in Finnish
and 1n Englhish

To order

rel +358 9 818 4904,

fax +358 9 818 4401,
e-mail post@finnair com

Electronic Annual Report and Electroric Financaial Report
The Electronic Annual Report will be published on the inrer-
net 1n Finnish, Swedish and English and Electronic Financial
Report will be published in Finmish and English at the address
www finnair com/group

Change of address
Shareholders are kindly requested to report changes of address
to the custodian of their book-entry account
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Contact Information

Finnair Oy
Helsinki-Vantaa Airport
Tietotie 11 A

FI1-01053 Frnnair

Tel +358 9 81881
www finnair com

www finnair com/group

Semor Vice President
Corporate Communications
Christer Haglund

Tel +358 9 818 4007
christer haglund@finnar fi

Executive Vice President and CFO
Lasse Meinonen

Tel +358 9 8184950

lasse heinonen@finnair fi

Vice President Financial Communi-
cations and Investor Relations
Tanel Hassinen

Tel +358 9 818 4976

tanell hassinen@finnair

R

Financial Repore

T

Investor Relations

Tel +358 9 818 4951

Fax +358 9 818 4092
investor relacions@finnair fi
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